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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, DC 20549

FORM 10-K

ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For fiscal year ended December 31, 2012

OR
[0 TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934
For the transition period from to
Commission file number: 000-31659
NOVATEL WIRELESS, INC.

(exact name of registrant as specified in its chagt)
Delaware 86-0824673
(State or Other Jurisdiction (I.R.S. Employer
of Incorporation or Organization) Identification No.)

9645 Scranton Roac
San Diego, California 92121

(Address of Principal Executive Offices, (zip code)

Registrant’s telephone number, including area codeg(858) 320-8800
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) ¢fie Act: None
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) dfie Act:
Common Stock, par value $.001 per share

Indicate by check mark if the Registrant is a vkalbwn seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405e0%#turities Act. Yes No

Indicate by check mark if the Registrant is notuieed to file reports pursuant to Section 13 ort®acl5(d) of the Act. Yes[] No

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant éF)filed all reports required to be filed by SeetiB or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (orsiach shorter period that the Registrant was redtadile such reports), and (2) has been
subject to such filing requirements for the pastfgs. YesX No O

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant hsnitted electronically and posted on its corpokiebsite, if any, every Interactive
Data File required to be submitted and posted untsio Rule 405 of RegulationSduring the preceding 12 months (or for such shrqrerioc
that the Registrant was required to submit and gpuch files). Yes[XI No O

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquilets pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K i¢ contained herein, and will not be
contained, to the best of Registrant’s knowledgelgfinitive proxy or information statements incorated by reference in Part Il of this Form
10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-KIX]

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrantl&sge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting
company. See the definitions of “large acceleréited” “accelerated filer” and “smaller reportirgpmpany” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange
Act. (Check one):

Large accelerated filef] Accelerated filer I Non-Accelerated filerd Smaller Reporting Company

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrantskell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exgfe Act). Yes [ No

The aggregate market value of the voting commocksteld by non-affiliates of the Registrant, basadhe closing price of the
Registrant’s common stock on June 30, 2012, astexpby The Nasdaqg Global Select Market, was appravely $80,047,404. For the
purposes of this calculation, shares owned by effi@and directors (and their affiliates) have beeatuded. This exclusion is not intended, nor
shall it be deemed, to be an admission that sudops are affiliates of the Registrant. The Regigtdoes not have any nenting stock issue
or outstanding.

The number of shares of the Registrant’'s commarkstatstanding as of February 27, 2013 was 33,71@5,4

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Portions of the Registrant’s definitive proxy statnt for the 2013 Annual Meeting of Stockholderbédiled with the Securities and

Exchange Commission pursuant to Regulation 14Armmerporated by reference into Part Ill of this ick0-K to the extent stated herein.
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Forward-Looking Statements

This report contains forward-looking statementsimithe meaning of Section 27A of the Securities {1933 and Section 21E of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934. You should not@landue reliance on these statements. These fe@king statements include statems
that reflect the views of our senior management waspect to our current expectations, assumptestsnates and projections about Novatel
Wireless and our industry. Statements that incthdenvords “may,” “could,” “should,” “would,” “estirate,” “anticipate,” “believe,” “expect,”
“preliminary,” “intend,” “plan,” “project,” “outlod,” “will” and similar words and phrases identifgrivard-looking statements. Forward-
looking statements address matters that involks asd uncertainties that could cause actual setulliffer materially from those anticipated

in these forward-looking statements as of the dathis report. We believe that these factors idelthe following:

e our ability to compete in the market for wirelesedrlband data access produ
« our ability to develop and timely introduce new guots successfully

« our ability to integrate the operations of Enfora @ny other business, products, technologiesmsopeel that we may acquire in
the future;

» the continuing impact of uncertain global econonuaditions on the demand for our produ

e our ability to introduce and sell new products tbatply with current and evolving industry standaridcluding 3G and 4G
standards, and government regulatic

» our ability to develop and maintain strategic ielaships to expand into new marke

» our dependence on a small number of customersdabstantial portion of our revenu

» demand for broadband wireless access to entemetserks and the Interne

» the marketability of our products is dependent dnreless telecommunication operators delivering padde wireless service

» our ability to properly manage the growth of ousimess to avoid significant strains on our managem@ed operations and
disruptions to our busines

» our reliance on third parties to procure componants manufacture our produc

» our ability to accurately forecast customer demamdl order the manufacture and timely delivery dficent product quantities

» our reliance on sole source suppliers for some corpts used in our produc

» the outcome of pending or future litigation, indlhuglthe current class action securities litigatiom intellectual property litigatiol

» infringement claims with respect to intellectuabperty contained in our produc

e our continued ability to license necessary I-party technology for the development and sale ofppaducts

» risks associated with doing business abroad, imufufibreign currency risks

» the risk of introducing new products that couldtadm errors or defects; ai

» our ability to hire, retain and manage additionzdlified personnel to maintain and expand our lassi

The foregoing factors should not be construed hawstive and should be read together with the athetionary statements included in

this and other reports we file with the Securiaesl Exchange Commission, including the informatiofitem 1A. Risk Factors” in Part | of

this report. If one or more events related to tresather risks or uncertainties materialize, ayuf underlying assumptions prove to be
incorrect, actual results may differ materiallyrfravhat we anticipate
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Trademarks

“Novatel Wireless”, the Novatel Wireless logo, “MiF‘MiFi Intelligent Mobile Hotspot”, “MiFi OS”, “MiFi Home”, “MobiLink”,
“Ovation,” “Expedite” and “MiFi.Freedom. My Way” artrademarks of Novatel Wireless, Inc. “Enfora’t tinfora logo, “Spider”, “Enabling
Information Anywhere”, “Enabler”, “eWide” and “N4Aare trademarks of Enfora, Inc. Other trademarkslet hnames or service marks used ir
this report are the property of their respectiveners.



Table of Contents

PART |

Item 1. Business
Overview

We are a provider of intelligent wireless solutidosthe worldwide mobile communications marketr®toad range of products
principally includes intelligent mobile hotspotsSB modems, embedded modules for machine-to-ma¢ha®) and mobile computing
OEMs, integrated asset-management M2M devicescaminunications and applications software.

Our products currently operate on every major tallwireless technology platform. Our mobile hotspembedded modules, and
modems provide subscribers with secure and conwehigh-speed access to corporate, public and pakgaformation through the Internet
and enterprise networks. Our M2M products enablécds to communicate with each other and with sesveloud-based application
infrastructure.

Our mobile-hotspot and modem customer base is deatpof wireless operators, including AT&T, Spriahd Verizon Wireless; laptop
PC and other original equipment manufacturers, B8, including Dell and Hewlett-Packard; as welldésributors and various companies in
other vertical markets. Our M2M customer base mmdsed of transportation companies, industrial panies, manufacturers of medical
devices and geographical-location devices, prosidésecurity systems, application service proddard distributors. We have strategic
relationships with several of these customersdonhology development and marketing.

For the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011, ak®l 2@t revenues recognized from sales of our ptsduere $344.3 million, $402.9
million, and $338.9 million, respectively.

We were incorporated in 1996 under the laws ofState of Delaware.

Our Strategy
Our objective is to be a leading provider of intaht wireless solutions. The key elements of tnategy are to:

e Broaden Our Product OfferingWe intend to diversify and continue to broadenmraduct lines in the following areas: intelligent
mobile hotspots, embedded modules supporting Tteenet of Things, integrated M2M devices for assmtking, telemetry, and
mobile tracking and customized sen-delivery platforms to manage and enable M2M appbica.

» Expand Our Wireless Product Offerings WorldwiWe intend to continue expanding our portfolio ofeléss products with leadil
wireless operators and enterprises worldwide. @odyxcts operate on the major wireless technologtfqgrims, including Second
Generation (2G) networks: GSM, CDMA, GPRS; Thirch&mtion (3G) networks: CDMA2000 1XEV-DO, HSDPA di#8UPA,;
and Fourth Generation (4G) networks: LTE, dualieatiSPA+, and WiMAX.

» Lead the Intelligent Mobile Hotspot Product Categ. We invented and developed the Mi#Fi Intelligentile Hotspot, a new
category in wireless mobile data devices. In Ma@2@he first nationwide commercial deployment dFihotspots was launched
by Verizon Wireless. Since that time, approxima@dyadditional operators around the world have cencially launched MiFi for
both 3G and 4G technologies. In September 2012tweduced the next-generation MiFi  Intelligent MelHotspot — the MiFi 2.
The MiFi 2 was the first mobile hotspot with a tbugscreen display and the most feature rich molztsgot in the market. We have
multiple versions of MiFi mobile hotspots currenittydevelopment and we plan to continue to be ddeand innovator of the MiFi
family of products
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» Capitalize on Our Direct Relationships with Wiredeg3peratorsWe intend to continue to capitalize on our direw éIong-standing
relationships with wireless operators in ordemitréase our worldwide market position. In the Whifates and internationally, we
are working closely with wireless operators to pdevthe best mobile computing solutions and reled2M solutions to
consumers and enterprise custom

» Leverage Strategic Relationshij\We believe that strategic relationships with wisslearriers and enterprises that utilize mobile
computing and M2M technology are critical to ouilibto leverage sales opportunities and ensuag ¢hur technology investments
address customer needs. Through strategic relatfms)sve believe that we can increase market patietrand differentiate our
products by leveraging resources and knowledgediat) sales, marketing, and distribution systems.ané also addressing new
market opportunities through innovation with ouagtgic partners

» Continue to Target Key Vertical Market Opporturstend Penetrate New MarkeWe believe that continuing developments in
wireless technologies will create additional veztimarket opportunities and more applications forgroducts. Currently, we
market our wireless access and M2M solutions tovastical industry segments by offering innovatsadutions that are intended to
increase productivity, reduce costs and createatiperl efficiencies

* Increase the Value of Our Produ«. We will continue to add new features, functiotyadind intellectual property to our products
and develop new services and software applicatmeshance the overall value and ease of use tingiroducts provide to our
customers and end use

» Acquire Companies that Accelerate the Growth of Busines:. We will continue to seek strategic acquisitiohs@mpanies in
closely aligned businesses and technologies tHbpruiide synergistic growth in revenue and pralfitity.

Our Segments
We operate in the wireless communications industtie following reportable segments:

* Mobile Computing Products—includes our MiFi Intgént Mobile Hotspot devices, USB and PC-card modmmisembedded
modules that enable data transmission and semviaezllular wireless network

* M2M Products and Solutions—includes our M2M embelde@dules, integrated M2M communications devices@ur service
delivery platform — the NAA™ Communication and Mgement Software (CMS) that provides easy deviceagament and
service enablemer

For additional information on our segments, seeeN@ to our consolidated financial statements.

Mobile Computing Products

We have a growing portfolio of leading-edge teclgglsolutions that enable data transmission andcssrvia cellular wireless
networks. In 2012, we launched new products inlioerof MiFi mobile hotspots, modems, and embeduedules for both CDMA and GSM
networks.

Below are major Mobile Computing product lines:

MiFi ©Intelligent Mobile Hotspotis our flagship product. Introduced in 2009, it lqagckly become a leading brand in mobile
communications. MiFi hotspots are gaining acceparsa standard connectivity option for Wi-Fi-eedhilevices such as the iPad, Kindle,
tablets, PCs, MP3 players, and gaming devices. MiEpots function by connecting to a cellular-t¢ss network and creating a secure Wi-Fi
signal that can connect to as many as 10 devioadtsineously. MiFi hotspots accounted for 72%, 63%@ 49% of revenue in 2012, 2011,
2010, respectively.
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Our strategy for the MiFi platform is to continueihnovate with a focus on ease of use and valdagdeatures that take the device
beyond just basic connectivity. With our introdoctiof MiFi 2 in September 2012, Novatel Wireless araly introduced the world’s first
mobile hotspot with a touch-screen, we also createdw set of features and services which redefinesusers interact with and use their
mobile hotspots. For example, with one touch, & aae get an account summary of their data playding their current data usage and
international roaming usage. MiFi 2 also has a B&WA-certified Media Center which allows users tgay and share their movies, music,
presentations and photos stored on microSD cardsmamected devices. A user can simply upload pHotos their camera to MiFi 2 using a
microSD card and start showing them on any DLNAbded television or compatible devices. For business's, MiFi 2 has a simple process
to upload and download stored files from any cotegtdevice. MiFi 2 also allows a user to manageeoted devices to the user’s needs and
desires, allowing connection and blocking of rend#egices. In November 2012, Mifi Liberate was idtroed by AT&T — marking the
commercial launch of the first MiFi 2 next genevatdevice from Novatel Wireless.

Modemscontinue to be used to access wireless broadbanames. We originally introduced USB and PC-Carddams in North
America, and continue to provide the most advandgeeless access in the industry. USB and PC-Cardéavts accounted for 11%, 20%, and
46% of revenue in 2012, 2011, and 2010 respectively

Embedded Moduleare utilized in a wide range of computing devisesh as laptop PCs, netbooks, tablets, and vaoibas electronic
products to provide wireless broadband access. Bdasbmodules accounted for 5%, 4%, and 3% of revén@012, 2011, and 2010,
respectively.

In 2011, we expected embedded modules to be aesofirevenue growth in 2012. While we have repdgatgeimonstrated our ability to
win key customers in this area, the market for thisiness has changed significantly, and the asteocR&D expenditures are significant as
well. Because the volumes have not materializeddtch the projections of our customers, this protine incurred significant losses during
2012. Given the challenging economics, we are sagmtly changing our approach to this businessil&\ke plan to continue to support our
legacy embedded modules products, we are now akigg on new projects where our inventory and R&festments will be adequately
supported by our customers.

M2M Products and Solutions

During 2012, we have expanded our M2M portfolianffigantly adding additional technologies and feasuto our line of embedded
modules and integrated devices to improve perfoomaand strengthen the competitive advantagesrafautions. M2M products and
solutions accounted for 9%, 11%, and 2% of reven@®12, 2011, and 2010, respectively. M2M prodines consist of the following:

MT, SA & AT Integrated Solutiondring together essential elements for monitoring mxanaging mobile and fixed assets, vehicle
tracking and telemetric functions, along with waride tracking and management. We add value by dewvgj solutions to meet the needs of
specific customers with a particular emphasis decseertical markets including: transportation@istics, usage-based-insurance, security &
asset tracking, industrial automation & smart gaidgl remote patient monitoring. These solutionsheaacaled from a small fleet customer to
company-wide enterprise deployments. Our M2M sohgican be coupled with Novatel Wireless’ robusANBbmmunications and
Management Software platform and be monitored, medand reconfigured remotely from almost anywiretbe world. By combining the
N4A CMS platform with the intelligence of the intaged M2M devices, customers will gain a solutibattoffers eas-of-deployment, superia
reliable performance in small and flexible packages

Enabler® 11l & HS Embedded Solutionsre integrated into various products or equipmerhat those assets may communicate with
other computers. These “machine-to-machine” apiitina enable back-end IT systems to receive data femote assets. A common example
is vehicle modules that transmit data about locatimgine conditions, and abnormal situations itacal decision support or monitoring
systems. During
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2012, we announced new modules development cov&iingA2000 1X and HSDPA. The two new modules, Enabl§ 3001 (1X) and HS
3002 (HSDPA), build on the legacy proven desigthefEnfora Enabler series. Novatel Wireless’ CDMB2aX and
GSM/GPRS/EDGE/HSDPA low power platforms deliver 8reize and industry-leading performance, reliaddanectivity, and device
intelligence needed for today’s demanding M2M agilons. These solutions are ideal for marketsugiog but not limited to security,
telemetry, POS, mHealth, AVL and AMI/AMR market segnts looking for high reliability and a common idgesacross multiple technologies.

N4A™ Software and Design Servicéglude our NAA Communications & Management Sofeyar CMS, and design services that we
provide to other companies, primarily for asset agment solutions. Our N4A CMS 3.0 platform is atfgeneration service delivery
platform that eases the development, deploymedtpaeration of asset-management applications. NKW @rovides a standardized, scalable
way to connect and manage remote assets and impuswgess operations. The platform is flexible ampports both on-premise server or
cloud-based deployments and is the basis for dglioea wide range of M2M services.

Customers

Our customer base is comprised of wireless opesatiistributors, OEMs, and various companies itic@rmarkets. Our tier-one
wireless-operator customers include AT&T, Sprimil & erizon Wireless. OEM customers include Dell a&tavlett-Packard. Our M2M

customer base is a mix across various verticalsdimg customers such as Alarm.com, Linear Tecthgoléloneywell, Fleetmatics/Sagequest,
Numerex, and Nextra

We also have strategic technology, developmeniaartteting relationships with several of our custmsne

Our strong customer relationships provide us withdpportunity to expand our market reach and sales

* Wireless Operators and Distributor®y working closely with our wireless operator afigtributor customers, we are able to drive
demand for our products by combining our expeitisgireless technologies with our customers’ saled marketing reach over a
global subscriber base. Our customers also prawgdeith important services, including field trianticipation, technical support,
wireless data marketing and access to additioni@edat distribution channel

 OEMs. Our OEM customers integrate our products intagevthat they manufacture and sell through their direct sales forces
and indirect distribution channels. Our products @pable of being integrated into a broad rangkewices that utilize wireless-
data capabilities. We seek to build strong relaiops with our OEM partners by working closely witiem and providing radio
frequency, or RF, design consulting, performandaipation, software integration and customizatiom application engineering
support during the integration of our produ

* M2M customer. We believe the M2M market provides substantigdarfunities for growth. Machine-to-machine and drsgstem
technologies are being integrated into a growingioer of manufactured devices and machines—wheittet,fmovable or fully
mobile. We have strong positions in many of theénkggowth segments of the M2M market. These includesportation, insurance,
industrial automation, energy, security, and heaitd. We expect to work with these customers teldgvcustomized solutions tt
incorporate our software and other intellectuabgrty, providing significant product differentiatic

Strategic Relationships

We continue to develop and maintain strategic iciahips with wireless and computer industry leadiéde QUALCOMM, Sprint,
AT&T, Verizon Wireless, Texas Instruments and majoftware vendors. Through

4
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strategic relationships, we have been able to aserenarket penetration by leveraging the resoukoesyledge and technology of our channel
partners.

Sales and Marketing

We sell our Mobile Computing Products primarilywtoeless operators either directly or through smat relationships, as well as to
OEM partners and distributors located worldwide sviaf our Mobile Computing Products are sold diseby our sales force, or to a lesser
degree, through distributors.

In order to maintain strong sales relationshipspwevide co-marketing, trade show support, prodi@ihing and demo units for
merchandising. We are also engaged in a wide yaofedctivities, such as awareness and lead-gearnatograms, as well as product
marketing. Other marketing initiatives include gabklations, seminars and co-branding with pagner

We sell our M2M Products and Solutions primarilyet@erprises in the following industries: transption; energy and industrial
automation; security and safety; and medical moinitgo We sell our M2M Products and Solutions thriowgir own direct sales force and
through distributors.

A significant portion of our revenue comes fronmaadl number of customers. Our revenues from sal&&etizon Wireless represented
approximately 58% of our total revenues for theryraled December 31, 2012.

A substantial majority of our revenue is deriveghfrsales in the U.S. See Note 12 to our consotidatancial statements for a discus:
of our revenue and asset concentrations by geoigrayufation.

Product Research and Development

Our research and development efforts are focusetkweeloping innovative new wireless products angrowing the functionality, design
and performance of our existing products. Our neteand development expenses for the years endeshier 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010 w
$60.4 million, $61.4 million, and $48.9 million,geectively.

In both segments, we intend to continue to idergifg respond to our customers’ needs by introduoévg product designs with an
emphasis on supporting cutting edge wireless @atablogy, ease-of-use, performance, weight, caspawer consumption.

We manage our products through a structured lifdecgrocess, from identifying initial customer r@g@ments through development and
commercial introduction to eventual phase-out. Byiproduct development, emphasis is placed on i@y, time-to-market, performance,
meeting industry standards and customer-producifsgaions, ease of integration, cost reductioanofacturability, quality and reliability.

Our product development efforts leverage our capesise in the following key technology areas:

» Advanced Radio Frequency and Hardware DesAdvanced RF design is a key technology that deteemthe performance of
wireless devices. We have specialized in 700/8@J18D0/1900/2100/2500 MHz and AWS designs for digiellular, packet data,
CDMA, HSPA, WIMAX, and LTE technologies. Our expee in RF, baseband, and firmware technology doumtes to the
performance, cost advantages and small size gbrogiucts.

» Miniaturization and System Integratit. Our expertise includes the integration of RF baseband chipsets and printed circuit
board, or PCB technologies. We will continue toraegt our miniaturization technology, working tother reduce the size and ¢
of current and future produc
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» Software Developmente specialize in integrating and customizing 3G 4@dsoftware to meet carrier and regulatory
requirements. We supply end-to-end solutions tdkenaur customers to achieve a time-to-market aegn This includes
firmware that runs on a modem processor, drivargdoous host operating systems, software devedmprkits, or SDK, modem-
manager software that controls modem operationsander applications for ov-the-air updates

 Embedded Operating SysteWe have developed an embedded operating systemutimapplications on our mobile hotspot
products and allows us to introduce innovative igpfibns.

 M2M SolutionsWe have developed customized asset-tracking sysaathservice-delivery platforms that utilize adveshcadio-
frequency technology and specialized softwareititatfaces with the information technology systevheur customers

Manufacturing and Operations

The hardware used in our solutions is produceddoyract manufacturers. Their services include camepbprocurement, assembly,
testing, quality control and fulfillment. We curtgnhave manufacturing agreements in place withféllewing companies:

Mobile Computing Products
» Inventec Appliances Corporatic
* Hon Hai Precision Industry Co., Lt

M2M Products and Solutions
 Benchmark Electronic

These contract manufacturers are located in Chidaraailand, and are able to produce our prodwsitggumodern state-of-the-art
equipment and facilities and relatively low-cosida

We outsource our manufacturing in an effort to:
» focus on our core competencies of design, develapara marketing
* minimize our capital expenditures and lease olibgat
» realize manufacturing economies of sci
» achieve production scalability by adjusting mantiigéog volumes to meet changes in demand;
e access be-in-class component procurement and manufacturing ress.

We believe that additional manufacturing efficierscare realized due to our product architecturecandommitment to process design.
Direct materials for our products consist of customied parts such as printed circuit boards, nlgastic components and fabricated metal
components, semi-custom parts such as batteriesadmels, as well as industry-standard componewts &sl Application Specific Integrated
Circuits or ASICs, RF power amplifiers, flash memdransistors, integrated circuits, piezo-elediiters, duplexers, inductors, resistors and

capacitors. Many of the components used in ouryirtsdare similar to those used in cellular teleghloandsets, helping to reduce our
component costs through the use of standard parts.

Our operations organization manages our relatigsshith the contract manufacturers as well as dtbgrsuppliers. Our operations team
focuses on supply chain management, quality, qusih@ation, customer order management and newystddtroduction.

6
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Intellectual Property
Mobile Computing Product:

Our wireless broadband access solutions rely orbandfit from our portfolio of intellectual propgrincluding patents and trademarks.
We currently own 47 United States patents, two loictv are also registered in Canada. In additioncureently have 55 patent applications
pending. From time to time, we also seek to havepatents registered in selected foreign jurisditgi The patents that we currently own
expire at various times between 2013 and 2029.

We have licensed software and other intellectuaperty for use in our products from third-partiesch as QUALCOMM. In the case of
QUALCOMM, these licenses allow us to manufactureMd) UMTS, HSPA, EV-DO, and LTE-based wireless modeand to sell or
distribute them worldwide. In connection with sigdies, we pay royalties to QUALCOMM. The licenaenirQUALCOMM does not have a
specified term and may be terminated by us or bAQEOMM for cause or upon the occurrence of othexcsfied events. In addition, we may
terminate the licenses for any reason upon 60 gagswritten notice. We have also granted to QUAREM a nontransferable, worldwide,
nonexclusive, fully-paid and royalty-free licenseuse, in connection with wireless communicatigmgliaations, certain of our intellectual
property that incorporates the technology licertsaas by QUALCOMM. This license allows QUALCOMM toake, use, sell or dispose of
such products and the related components.

We also hold a number of trademarks including ExpeiFi, MiFi OS, MiFi Intelligent Mobile HotspgtMobiLink and Ovation.

M2M Products and Solution:
Our M2M products and solutions incorporate patditsnsed technology, and trade secrets gained iemadeep experience providing
customized solutions to our customers.

We currently own 8 United States patents relatdd2M products and solutions. In addition, we cutheghave 17 patent applications
pending. From time to time, we also seek to havepatents registered in selected foreign jurisdieti The patents that we currently own
expire at various times between 2020 and 2029.

We have licensed software and other intellectuaperty for use in our products from various thiates, such as Ericsson, Siemens,
NEC and Interdigital Communications Corporatione3é licenses allow us to use the licensed intebégroperty for the worldwid
manufacture and sale of GSM-based wireless dewdegay royalties in connection with such sale® litenses do not have a specified term
and may be terminated by either party for cauagoon the occurrence of other specified events.

We also hold a number of trademarks including Emf&@pider, Enabling Information Anywhere, Enabéi/ide, and N4A.

Backlog

We do not believe that backlog is currently a meghil indicator of our future business prospects ttuthe many variables, some of
which are outside of our control, which could catieeactual volume of our product shipments toediffom those that comprise our backlog.
Additionally, we sometimes have relatively shoeddimes between receipt of customer purchase @edet shipment of products.

Competition

The market for wireless broadband access and M2Wigos is rapidly evolving and highly competitivéis likely to continue to be
significantly affected by the evolution of new wess technology standards, additional

7



Table of Contents

companies entering the market, new product intrbdng and the product pricing and other marketdigs of industry participants.

We believe the principal competitive factors imagtthe market for our products are price, formdactime-to-market, features and
functionality, performance, quality, and brand.maintain and improve our competitive position, wastncontinue to develop new products
and solutions, expand our customer base, growistritdition network, and leverage our strategiatienships and our investment in R&D.

Our products compete with a variety of devicesluding other wireless modems and mobile hotspoi®less handsets, wireless
handheld computing devices and M2M wireless sahgti®ur current competitors include:

» wireless data modem and mobile hotspot provideid) as Huawei, ZTE, Sierra Wireless, PCD, LG Inkated Samsun
» wireless handset manufacturers, such as HTC, Apiéyrola, Nokia, and Samsur

» wireless M2M solution providers, such as Sierradléiss, Telit Wireless Solutions, Gemalto, CalAmg Biuawei; anc

» wireless chipset providers, such as QUALCOMM, IN&CT Semiconductor and -Ericsson.

We believe that we have advantages over each girauary competitors due in varying measure totéoinical and engineering design
of our products, the broad range of customizedtiswis that we offer, the ease-of-use of our prosiuntir ability to adapt our products to
specific customer needs and our competitive prickggthe market for wireless data solutions expaatter entrants may seek to compete witl
us either directly or indirectly.

Employees

As of December 31, 2012, we had 459 employeeseBmsnt, Mobile Computing Products had 378 emplqyieekiding corporate
functions, and M2M Products and Solutions had 8fpleyees. By function, we had 261 employees in rebeand development, 84 in sales
marketing, 60 in operations, and 54 in generaladrdinistrative functions. We also use the servifeonsultants and temporary workers from
time to time. Our employees are not representeahlyycollective bargaining unit and we consider rlmtionship with our employees to be
good.

Website Access to SEC Filings

We maintain an Internet websitevatvw.novatelwireless.conirhe information contained on our website or ttaat be accessed through
our website does not constitute a part of thismepde make available, free of charge through aterhet website, our annual reports on Form
10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current répon Form 8-K, and amendments to those repoed &t furnished pursuant to Section 13
(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 13&lamended, or the Exchange Act, as soon asadggracticable after we electronically
file or furnish this information to the Securitiasd Exchange Commission, or SEC.
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ltem 1A. Risk Factors

An investment in our common stock involves varisks. Before deciding to purchase, hold or sed cammon stock, you should
carefully consider the risks described below initidd to the other cautionary statements and ridkscribed elsewhere in this report and in
documents incorporated by reference herein andefheihe risks and uncertainties described beloathose that we currently deem to be
material, and do not represent all of the risksttha face. Additional risks and uncertainties naggntly known to us or that we currently do
not consider material may in the future become niltand impair our business operations. If anytloé following risks actually occur, our
business could be materially harmed, and our fim@nmondition and results of operations could betenally and adversely affected. As a
result, the trading price of our securities coulectine, and you might lose all or part of your istraent. You should also refer to the other
information contained in this Form 10-K, includingr financial statements and the related notes.

The market for wireless broadband data access prddwand services is rapidly evolving and highly qoetitive. We may be unable to
compete effectively.

The market for wireless broadband data access pt®dad services is rapidly evolving and highly petitive. We expect competition to
continue to increase and intensify. Many of our petitors or potential competitors have significamgteater financial, technical, operational
and marketing resources than we do. These compsetits example, may be able to respond more rapidinore effectively than we can to
new or emerging technologies, changes in custoewgrirements, supplier related developments, oifaistihe business landscape. They also
may devote greater or more effective resourceswleado to the development, manufacture, promosate, and post-sale support of their
respective products and services.

Many of our current and potential competitors hen@e extensive customer bases and broader custeupgnjer and other industry
relationships that they can leverage to establishpetitive dealings with many of our current andieptial customers. Some of these compe
also have more established and larger customepsupanizations than we do. In addition, thesmganies may adopt more aggressive
pricing policies or offer more attractive termsctestomers than they currently do, or than we aletabdo. They may bundle their competitive
products with broader product offerings and magoittice new products and enhancements. Current@adti@l competitors might merge or
otherwise establish cooperative relationships antbemselves or with third parties to enhance thducts or market position. In addition, at
any time any given customer or supplier of ourdd@lect to enter our then existing line of bustmasd thereafter compete with us, whether
directly or indirectly. As a result, it is possiliteat new competitors or new or otherwise enhamekdionships among existing competitors 1
emerge and rapidly acquire significant market sh@atbe detriment of our business.

Our products compete with a variety of devicesluding other wireless modems and mobile hotspoitgless handsets, wireless
handheld computing devices and M2M wireless sohgti®ur current competitors include:
» wireless data modem and mobile hotspot providexsh ss Huawei, ZTE, Sierra Wireless, PCD, LG Inkated Samsun¢
* wireless handset manufacturers, such as HTC, AMiégrola, Nokia, and Samsur
» wireless M2M solution providers, such as Sierradléiss, Telit Wireless Solutions, Gemalto, CalAmg Bluawei; anc
» wireless chipset providers, such as QUALCOMM, In&CT Semiconductor and -Ericsson.
We expect our competitors to continue to improveféatures and performance of their current pradaist! to introduce new products,

services and technologies which, if successfullccorduce our sales and the market acceptancer gfroducts, generate increased price
competition and make our products obsolete. For our
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products to remain competitive, we must, amongrdtiiags, continue to invest significant resourffesncial, human and otherwise) in,
among other things, research and development, aatemarketing, and customer support. We cannetifeethat we will have or will continue
to have sufficient resources to make these invessra that we will be able to make the technolalggdvances necessary for our products to
remain competitive. Increased competition couldiitea price reductions, fewer or smaller custoreters, reduced product margins and loss
of our market share. Our failure to compete sudahgsould seriously harm our business, financiahdition and results of operations.

If we fail to develop and timely introduce new practs successfully, we may lose key customers odpco orders and our business could
harmed.

The development of new wireless data products reguéchnological innovation that can be difficléhgthy and costly. In addition,
wireless operators require that wireless data systéeployed on their networks comply with their a@ohnical and product performance
standards, which may differ from the standardspsaducts are required to meet for other operaiidris increases the complexity and might
impact the timing of the product development anst@mer approval process. In addition, as we inttechew products or new versions of our
existing products, our current customers may naguire or desire the technological innovations efst products and may not purchase them «
might purchase them in smaller quantities than agdxpected.

Further, as part of our business, we may enterdotdracts with some customers in which we woulegtago develop products that we
would sell to that customer. Our ability to generfature revenue and operating income under arly soictracts would depend upon, among
other factors, our ability to timely and profitaldgvelop products that are suitable for manufactuin a cost effective manner and that meet
defined product design, technical and performapeeifications.

If we are unable to successfully manage these askseet required delivery specifications or desHiin connection with one or more of
our key contracts, we may lose key customers cgrerdnd our business could be harmed.

Any acquisitions we make could disrupt our businessd harm our financial condition and results of @pations.

As part of our business strategy, we review anghicitto continue to review, acquisition opportusitieat we believe would be
advantageous or complementary to the developmemirabusiness. In November 2010, we completed cguiaition of Enfora. We may
acquire additional businesses, assets, or techieslagthe future. If we make any acquisitions,aeald take any or all of the following actio
any one of which could adversely affect our businésancial condition, results of operations carghprice:

e use a substantial portion of our available c:
» incur substantial debt, which may not be availdables on favorable terms and may adversely affectiguidity;
e issue equity or equi-based securities that would dilute existing stotdtdie percentage ownershi
e assume contingent liabilities; a
» take substantial charges in connection with acquassets
Acquisitions, including the Enfora acquisition,@kntail numerous other risks, including: difficedt in assimilating acquired operations,
products, technologies and personnel; unanticipetsts; diversion of management’s attention froisteng operations; adverse effects on

existing business relationships with suppliers esstomers; risks of entering markets in which weehlamited or no prior experience; and
potential loss of key employees from either oustng business or the acquired organization. Adtiins may result in
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substantial accounting charges for restructurirdy@her expenses, amortization of purchased teoga@nd intangible assets and stock-base
compensation expense, any of which could materéaiyersely affect our operating results. We maybeodble to realize the anticipated
benefits of or successfully integrate with our &rig business the businesses, products, technslogipersonnel that we acquire, and our
failure to do so could harm our business and opgragsults.

Weakness or deterioration in global economic comatits could have a material adverse effect on ousutts of operations and financial
condition.

As a result of weak or deteriorating economic ctads globally, we could experience lower demandoiar products, which could
adversely impact our results of operations.

Additionally, there could be a number of relateféets on our business resulting from weak econamiitions, including the insolven
of one or more of our parts suppliers resultingrioduct launch or product delivery delays, customsolvencies resulting in that customer’s
inability to order products from us or pay for aldy delivered product, an inability on the parbaf customers to obtain credit to finance
purchases of our products and reduced demand hytthmate end-users of our products.

Although we continue to monitor market conditiong, cannot predict future market conditions or tivepact on demand for our
products.

Ouir failure to predict carrier and end user custompreferences among the many evolving wireless istity standards could hurt our ability
to introduce and sell new products.

In our industry, it is critical to our success thgt accurately anticipate evolving wireless techgglstandards and that our products
comply with these standards in relevant respectsaW¥ currently focused on engineering and manurfiagt products that comply with several
different wireless standards. Any failure of ounghucts to comply with any one of these or futurpligpble standards could prevent or delay
their introduction and require costly and time-aomgng engineering changes. Additionally, if an iffisient number of wireless operators or
subscribers adopt the standards to which we engmaegroducts, then sales of our new productsydesi to those standards could be
materially harmed.

If we fail to develop and maintain strategic relatiships, we may not be able to penetrate new matl

A key element of our business strategy is to patemew markets by developing new products thraigitegic relationships with
industry participants in wireless communicationg 8¥e currently investing, and plan to continuatest, significant resources to develop
these relationships. We believe that our succepsrietrating new markets for our products will dehen part, on our ability to develop and
maintain these relationships and to cultivate &oiaiti or alternative relationships. There can bas&urance, however, that we will be able to
develop additional strategic relationships, thasting relationships will survive and successfuthieve their purposes or that the companies
with whom we have strategic relationships will fartm competing arrangements with others or detezrntoincompete unilaterally with us.

We expect to continue to depend upon only a smalinier of our customers for a substantial portion ofir revenues. Our business could
negatively affected by an adverse change in ourlohegs with these customers.

A significant portion of our net revenues come fronty a few customers. Our revenue could be mditeddversely affected if we are
unable to retain the level of business of any afsignificant customers and if we are unable teeffthis loss fully from alternative customers.
We expect that a small number of customers wiltiooie to account for a substantial portion of auenue for the foreseeable future and any
impairment of our relationship with, or the matéfiaancial impairment of, these customers couldeadely affect our business.

11
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In addition, a majority of our current customersghase our products pursuant to contracts thabtoeguire them to purchase any
specific minimum quantity of units other than thenber of units ordered on an individual purchaskeothat might be issued to us from time
to time. These customers have no contractual diigéo continue to purchase our products anddf/ttio not continue to make purchases
consistent with their historical purchase levels, et revenue would decline if we are unable toaase sales from other existing or new
customers.

In light of the limited number of leading wirelesgerators and OEMs that form our primary custonasebmany of whom are already
customers, it would be difficult to replace revemesulting from the loss of any significant exigticustomer or from a material reduction in the
volume of business we conduct with any signifieaxisting customer. Consolidation among our custemeay further concentrate our busir
to a more limited number of customers and expoge uxreased risks relating to dependence on igelirmumber of customers, which
dependence could adversely affect our operatingtses

We have had to qualify, and are required to maindair status, as a supplier for each of our custenidiis is a lengthy process that
involves the inspection and approval by each custashour engineering, documentation, manufactuaing quality control procedures before
that customer will place volume orders. Attempttessen the adverse effect of any loss of, or aaternal reduction in the volume of business
we conduct with, any significant existing custortfeough the rapid addition of one or more new austics would be difficult because of these
qualification requirements. Consequently, our bestnand operating results could be adversely affdnt the loss of, or any material reduct
in the volume of business we conduct with, anytegssignificant customer.

The sale of our products depends on the demanddimadband wireless access to enterprise networkd e internet.

The markets for broadband wireless access soluimngapidly evolving, both technologically and qmatitively, and the successful sale
of related products and services depends in patti@strength of the demand for wireless accebstio enterprise networks and the Interne
times, market demand for both wireless productsveineless access services for the transmissiomiaf developed at a slower rate than we
anticipated and as a result our product sales aigi@nerate sufficient revenue to cover our cooadmg operating costs. The failure of these
markets to continue to grow at the rate that weettly anticipate may adversely impact the growtkhie demand for our products and our
concomitant rate of growth, and as a result, osirtass, financial condition and results of operatimay be harmed.

The marketability of our products may suffer if wetess telecommunications operators do not deliveceptable wireless services.

The success of our business depends, in part.eoraibacity, affordability, reliability and prevatenof wireless data networks provided
by wireless telecommunications operators and omhvbur products operate. Currently, various wireletecommunications operators, either
individually or jointly with us, sell our producis connection with the sale of their wireless dsgavices to their customers. Growth in demanc
for wireless data access may be limited if, forregke, wireless telecommunications operators ceasgaterially curtail operations, fail to off
services that customers consider valuable at aalolepprices, fail to maintain sufficient capacitynheet demand for wireless data access, del:
the expansion of their wireless networks and sesyifail to offer and maintain reliable wirelesswark services or fail to market their services
effectively.

In addition, our future growth depends on the sssfté deployment of next generation wireless datavarks provided by third parties,
including those networks for which we are currenlifveloping products. If these next generation ngkwvare not deployed or widely accep
or if deployment is delayed, there will be no marfiee the products we are developing to operatthese networks. If any of these events
occurs, or if for any other reason the demand fogless data access fails to grow, sales of owtymis will decline or remain stagnant and our
business could be harmed.
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If we do not properly manage the development of buisiness, we may experience significant strainsaum management and operatior
and disruptions in our business.

Various risks arise if companies and industriegkjyievolve. If our business or industry developsrenquickly than our ability to
respond, our ability to meet customer demand imaly and efficient manner could be challenged. M#&sy also experience development,
certification or production delays as we seek tenimecreased demand for our products or unantietbptoduct requirements. Our failure to
properly manage the developments that we or owrsitnd might experience could negatively impact akitity to execute on our operating pl
then in effect and, accordingly, could have an eskvé@npact on our business, our cash flow and tesfibperations, and our reputation with
our current or potential customers.

We currently rely on third parties to manufacturauo products, which exposes us to a number of rigksl uncertainties outside our control.

We currently outsource our manufacturing to Invemppliances Corporation, Hon Hai Precision Indy€ip., Ltd., and Benchmark
Electronics. These contract manufacturers haveatipes in China and Thailand and, in 2011, severafng in Thailand caused damage to
infrastructure and factories and affected our spppproducts from our contract manufacturer lodateThailand, which constrained our
revenue in 2011. If one of these third-party maaotuuieers were to experience delays, disruptionsacigpconstraints or quality control
problems in its manufacturing operations, prodaghments to our customers could be delayed or tegjesy them or our customers could
consequently elect to cancel the underlying progucthase order. These disruptions would negativehact our revenues, competitive
position and reputation. Further, if we are unablmanage successfully our relationship with a rfecturer, the quality and availability of our
products may be harmed. None of our third-party ufecturers is obligated to supply us with a spedifiantity of products, except as may be
provided in a particular purchase order that we maymit to them and that has been accepted. Qudrplarty manufacturers could under some
circumstances decline to accept new purchase offdensus or otherwise reduce their business withfus manufacturer stopped
manufacturing our products for any reason or redueanufacturing capacity, we may be unable to oepthe lost manufacturing capacity on &
timely and comparatively cost effective basis, ehicould adversely impact our operations. In additiwe generally do not enter into long-
term contracts with our manufacturers. As a resudtare subject to price increases due to theahilify and price volatility in the marketplace
of the components and materials needed to manuéactur products. If a thirgarty manufacturer were to negatively change toeysst pricing
and other terms under which it agrees to manufadarrus and we are unable to locate a suitabderative manufacturer, our manufacturing
costs could significantly increase.

Because we outsource the manufacture of all opmdtucts, the cost, quality and availability ofrthparty manufacturing operations are
essential to the successful production and sadeioproducts. Our reliance on third-party manufeatsiexposes us to a number of risks which
are outside our control, including:

* unexpected increases in manufacturing ct

e interruptions in shipments if a th-party manufacturer is unable to complete produdtica timely mannel
« inability to control quality of finished product

» inability to control delivery schedule

» inability to control production levels and to meghimum volume commitments to our custom

» inability to control manufacturing yiel

* inability to maintain adequate manufacturing capyaeind

* inability to secure adequate volumes of acceptedaeponents at suitable prices or in a timely mar
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Although we promote ethical business practicesandperations personnel periodically visit and itarthe operations of our
manufacturers, we do not control the manufactusetkeir labor practices. If our current manufaetar or any other third-party manufacturer
which we may use in the future, violate United &adr foreign laws or regulations, we may be subeto extra duties, significant monetary
penalties, adverse publicity, the seizure and fionfe of products that we are attempting to immorthe loss of our import privileges. The
effects of these factors could render the condictipbusiness in a particular country undesirablegnpractical and have a negative impact or
our operating results.

We might forecast customer demand incorrectly ander the manufacture of excess or insufficient quties of particular products.

We have historically placed purchase orders withneanufacturers at least three months prior testeeduled delivery of the
corresponding finished goods to our customer. mesmstances, due to the length of component iea&st we might need to place
manufacturing orders with our contract manufactuseiely on the basis of our receipt of a goodifhiit non-binding customer forecast of the
guantity and timing of the customer’s expected pases from us. Accordingly, if the actual numbet timing of delivery of units that a
customer orders from us on the subsequently issusghase order differs materially from the numbfaurdts in respect of which we
contractually ordered our manufacturer to procur@gonent parts, we might be unable to obtain adequaantities of components in time to
meet our customers’ binding delivery requirememfatternatively, we might accumulate excess inegnthat we are unable to timely use or
resell, if at all. Our operating results and fin@ahcondition have been in the past and may irfthé&e be materially adversely affected by our
ability to manage our current or finished goodsemwry levels and respond to short-term or unexgaeshifts in customer demand as to
guantities or our customer’s product delivery sched

We depend on sole source suppliers for some comptangsed in our products. The availability and saléthose finished products would be
harmed if any of these suppliers is not able to meer demand and production schedule and alternatisuitable components are not
available on acceptable terms, if at all.

Our products contain a variety of components, sohwehich are procured from single suppliers. Them@ponents include both tooled
parts and industry-standard parts, some of whielatso used in cellular telephone handsets. Fnowm b time, certain components used in ou
products have been in short supply worldwide oir tieticipated commercial introduction has beeraged or their availability has been
subsequently interrupted for reasons outside ontrab For example, some of our product componargsmanufactured in Japan, which
experienced a significant earthquake in 2011. Algioour suppliers’ facilities were undamaged, somaaufacturers experienced temporary
suspension of production due to power outagebelftis a shortage or interruption in the avaiigbib us of any such components, and we
cannot timely obtain a commercially and technolatiycsuitable substitute or make sufficient andefyndesign or other product modifications
to permit the use of such a substitute componemtnay not be able to timely deliver sufficient dtitées of our products to satisfy our
contractual obligations and particular revenue etqi®mns. Moreover, even if we timely locate a sitlste part (or locate the originally
specified component from a parts broker) and iisepmaterially exceeds the original cost of the ponent in our costed bill of materials, then
our results of operations would be adversely affebct

We are currently party to litigation that could bapstly to defend and distracting to management.

As of the date of this report, a class action latsas been filed on behalf of persons who allegedichased our common stock betw
February 27, 2007 and November 10, 2008. The lawmsunes us and certain of our current and formiggavg as defendants. The complaint
alleges generally that we issued materially fals® misleading statements during the relevant tieréod regarding the strength of our product:
and market share, our financial results and intexoatrols.
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Additional litigation may be initiated against ussed on the alleged false statements at issue jpethding litigation. We cannot predict
the outcome of the existing lawsuits or the liketld that further proceedings will be institutediagaus. The cost of defending against these
lawsuits or any future lawsuits may be high, areséhlegal proceedings may also result in the diveisf our management’s time and attentior
away from our business. In the event that theamiadverse ruling in any legal proceeding, we mayelguired to make payments to third
parties that could harm our business or finaneisllits.

Third parties may claim that our products, or compents within our products, infringe on their intefictual property rights. These claims
may result in substantial costs, diversion of resoeis and management attention, harm to our repudattior interference with our current or
prospective customer or supplier relatior

Third parties have in the past and may claim inftitere that we, or our customers or suppliersghaulated their intellectual property
rights. Defending an infringement or misappropaatclaim, for example, regardless of the meritsumcess of the claim, could result in our
incurring substantial legal and other costs. Thgiens could also divert our engineering and othenan resources and management attentio
and cause harm to our reputation. These claimbeatifficult and costly to assess and defend. Asssful infringement claim related to our
products could result in, among other things, aadming liable for damages and litigation costarmxpected and costly engineering change
to affected products.

In addition, any finding that our products infrin@® in some instances, our customer’s reasonailelgsion that a bona fide
infringement claim is likely to be made with respersuch products) could have other negative apnesgces. Those consequences could
include prohibiting us from further use of the itgetual property, causing us to have to modify product design, if possible, so it does not
infringe, or causing us to have to license thdletéual property at issue, incurring licensingfegsome of which could be retroactive. Upon a
finding of infringement, we or one of our suppliengay also have to develop a non-infringing alteuegatwhich if available could be costly, and
delay or prevent sales of affected products.

A number of putative patent infringement claimséaeen filed by various plaintiffs in a number oSUDistrict Courts against us and/or
numerous third parties, some of whom are our custenThese cases generally allege that the defes\dae, sale and importation of specif
products and/or processes constitutes infringewiecertain U.S. patents allegedly owned or exclelgiicensed by each plaintiff. Under
certain circumstances, we may have an obligatiandemnify and/or defend our customers againsttiemssuits.

Our business depends on our continued ability toelnse necessary third-party technology, which weymat be able to do on commercially
competitive terms, if at all.

We license technology from third parties for theelepment of our products. We have licensed froind tharties, such as QUALCOMM
software, patents and other intellectual propestyue in our products and from time to time we rel@gt or be required to license additional
intellectual property. There can be no assuraraevik will be able to maintain our third-party lises or that these licenses or the technologi
that are the subject of these licenses will nahleesubject of dispute or litigation, or that addial thirdparty licenses will be available to us
commercially reasonable terms, if at all. The iligbfo maintain or obtain third-party licenses végd for our products or to develop new
products and product enhancements could requite seek to obtain substitute technology of loweality or performance standards, if such
exists, or at greater cost, which could seriouslyrhour competitive position, revenue and prospects
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We are subject to the risks of doing business ingionally.

In addition to our manufacturing activities in Aséasignificant portion of our research and devedept staff is located in Canada. We
also sell our products outside the U.S. Thesenat@nal business activities expose the Comparmylttitional business risks, including:

» difficulty in managing sales, research and develapnoperations and p+-sales logistics and support across these contir

» changes in a specific country’s or region’s pcéitior economic conditions, particularly in emergingrkets, and changes in
diplomatic and trade relationshi

» less effective protection of intellectual propeatyd general exposure to different legal procestasdards and expectatiol
« trade protection measures and import or expon$ice requirement:

e potentially negative consequences from changesxitatvs;

» increased expenses associated with customizingiptefbr different countrie:

e unexpected changes in regulatory requirementstiegih unanticipated costs and dela

» longer collection cycles and difficulties in coltay accounts receivabl

* longer sales cycle:

» international terrorism

* loss or damage to products in tran

» international dock strikes or other transportatietays; anc

» court ordered injunctions in a given jurisdictiandonnection with alleged intellectual propertyhtiginfringement by our products
or components contained with our products whichhinyohibit the importation, sale or offer for saleour products in the
jurisdiction subject to such injunctio

Any disruption in our ability to obtain product®fn our foreign manufacturers or in our ability tmduct international operations and
sales could have a material adverse effect on asinbss, financial condition and results of operesi

Our international business activities expose ther@many to fluctuations in exchange rates between theited States dollar and foreign
currencies which may materially affect our operatiresults.

A portion of our revenues are generated from sadgsements denominated in foreign currencies, andxpect to enter into additional
such agreements as we expand our internationaroestbase. Additionally, a significant portion afraesearch and development staff is
located in Canada and paid in Canadian dollara fesult, we are exposed to changes in foreigreoayrexchange rates. At times, we may
attempt to manage this risk, in part, by minimizthg effects of volatility on cash flows by idegtifg forecasted transactions exposed to thes
risks and using foreign exchange forward contregitsce there is a high correlation between the ingdgstruments and the underlying
exposures, the gains and losses on these undeedypuasures are generally offset by reciprocal ceamg the value of the hedging instruments
We may use derivative financial instruments as msinagement tools and not for trading or specdaiivposes. Nevertheless, there can be r
assurance that we will not incur foreign curreressks or that foreign exchange forward contractmesg enter into to reduce the risk of such
losses will be successful.
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Our products, including our proprietary or third pay software contained in our products, may contaémrors or defects, which could
prevent or decrease their market acceptance andleaunanticipated costs or other adverse businesssequences

Our products are technologically complex and musttnstringent industry, regulatory and customeuiregnents. We must develop our
hardware and software products quickly to keep pattethe rapidly changing and technologically anlsed wireless communications market.
Products as sophisticated as ours may contain ectéeterrors or defects, especially when firsbofiticed or when new models or versions are
released. Our products may not be free from eopdefects at the time commercial shipments hageitewnhich could result in the rejection
of our products, the loss of an existing or podrdustomer or the failure to obtain one, damagmutareputation, lost revenue, diverted
development resources, increased customer semvitsupport costs, unanticipated warranty claimd,tha payment of monetary damages to
our customers.

Our quarterly operating results may vary significiiy from quarter to quarter and may cause our stopkice to fluctuate.

Our future quarterly operating results may fluctusignificantly and may fall short of or exceed #xpectations of securities analysts,
investors or management. If this occurs, the mapkiee of our stock could fluctuate, in some casaserially. The following factors may cause
fluctuations in our operating results:

» Decreases in revenue or increases in operatingresgs. We budget our operating expenses based on atidigales, and a
significant portion of our sales and marketingesesh and development and general and administratists are fixed, at least in
the short term. If revenue decreases, due to grimiassures or otherwise, or does not increaskaasqd and we are unable to
reduce our operating costs quickly and sufficigrilyr operating results could be materially advgraffected.

e Product mix The product mix of our sales affects profit margimany given quarter. As our business evolvesthadevenue from
the product mix of our sales varies from quartequarter, our operating results will likely fluctean ways that might not be
directly proportionate to the fluctuation in reven

* New product introduction:As we introduce new products, the timing of thegeoductions within any given quarter will affeairo
quarterly operating results. We may have difficydtgdicting the timing of new product introducticanrsd the market acceptance of
these new products. If products and services aredaced earlier or later than anticipated, or #@rket acceptance is unexpectedly
high or low, our quarterly operating results maycfuate unexpected|

» Lengthy sales cyclThe length of time between the date of initial emttwith a potential customer and the executioanaf product
delivery under a contract may take several monthsrmer, and is subject to delays or interruptionsr which we have little or no
control. The sale of our products is subject tagelfrom, among other things, our customers’ budgeproduct testing and vendor
approval mechanics, and competitive evaluationgsses that typically accompany significant infoiioratechnology purchasing
decisions. As a result, our ability to anticipdte timing and volume of sales to specific custon®lisnited, and the delay or failu
to complete one or more large transactions coulde&aur operating results to vary significantlynfrquarter to quarte

» Foreign currency. We are exposed to market risk from changes iidgorcurrency exchange rates. Our attempts to nieithe
effects of volatility in foreign currencies on ca#bws may not be successfi

Due to these and other factors, our results ofaijmers may fluctuate substantially in the futurd goarter-to-quarter comparisons may
not be reliable indicators of future operating loare price performance.

17



Table of Contents

We may not be able to maintain and expand our biesis if we are not able to hire, retain and managildional qualified personnel.

Our success in the future depends in part on théreged contribution of our executive, technicalgmeering, sales, marketing,
operations and administrative personnel. The ssaaesur acquisitions, such as Enfora, dependsaihgn our retention and integration of key
personnel from the acquired company or businesstuRimg and retaining skilled personnel in theelséss communications industry, including
software and hardware engineers, is highly conipetit

Although we may enter into employment agreementis members of our senior management and other éesppnel in the future,
currently only Peter Leparulo, the Company’s Chainmand CEO, is a party to an employment agreeriieme are not able to attract or retain
qualified personnel in the future, or if we expade delays in hiring required personnel, partidulqualified engineers, we may not be able to
maintain and expand our business.

Any changes to existing accounting pronouncementgaxation rules or practices may cause adversecfluations in our reported results ¢
operations or affect how we conduct our business.

A change in accounting pronouncements or taxatitasror practices can have a significant effecbwnreported results and may affect
our reporting of transactions completed beforectienge is effective. New accounting pronouncemésgitstion rules and varying
interpretations of accounting pronouncements aattax rules have occurred in the past and may dodine future. The change to existing
rules, future changes, if any, or the need foousodify a current tax position may adversely affaa reported financial results or the way we
conduct our business.

We may not be able to develop products that comgtia applicable government regulations.

Our products must comply with government regulatidfor example, in the United States, the FedevairGunications Commission, or
FCC, regulates many aspects of communications deyviacluding radiation of electromagnetic enetgglogical safety and rules for devices
to be connected to telephone networks. In addttiche federal government, some states have adoggedhtions applicable to our products.
Radio frequency devices, which include our modemsst be approved by obtaining equipment authodratiom the FCC prior to being
offered for sale. Regulatory requirements in Can&d@ope, Asia and other jurisdictions must alserig¢. Additionally, we cannot anticipate
the effect that changes in domestic or foreign guwvent regulations may have on our ability to depednd sell products in the future. Failure
to comply with existing or evolving government régions or to obtain timely regulatory approvalscertificates for our products could
materially adversely affect our business, financa@idition and results of operations or cash flows.

Failure or circumvention of our controls and procenles could seriously harm our business.

Any system of control and procedures, however dedigned and operated, is based in part on cextaimnmptions and can provide only
reasonable, and not absolute, assurances thabjgaives of the controls and procedures are meuiked companies or businesses are likely
to have different standards, controls, contraatscedures and policies, making it more difficuligplement and harmonize company-wide
financial, accounting, billing, information and ettsystems. Acquisitions of privately held compangch as Enfora, and/or non-US
companies are particularly challenging because pvar practices in these areas may not meetdteirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act an
public accounting standards. The failure or circantion of our controls, policies and proceduredaebave a material adverse effect on our
business, results of operations and financial josit
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System security risks, data protection breacheset-attacks and systems integration issues could dirour internal operations or
information technology services provided to custasjend any such disruption could reduce our expettrevenue, increase our expenses,
damage our reputation and adversely affect our &quice.

Experienced computer programmers and hackers mailbdo penetrate our network security and misgpjate or compromise our
confidential information or that of third partieseate system disruptions or cause shutdowns. Cemprogrammers and hackers also may be
able to develop and deploy viruses, worms, andrattadicious software programs that attack our potslor otherwise exploit any security
vulnerabilities of our products. In addition, sogtfdated hardware and software and applicatiortsstbgroduce or procure from third parties
may contain defects in design or manufacture, gfinly “bugs” and other problems that could unexmigtanterfere with the operation of our
or our customers’ systems. The costs to us to editaior alleviate cyber or other security problelmsgs, viruses, worms, malicious software
programs and security vulnerabilities could be iiggmt, and our efforts to address these problerag not be successful and could result in
interruptions, delays, cessation of service ang ¢dexisting or potential customers that may ingedr sales, manufacturing, distribution or
other critical functions.

We manage and store various proprietary informadiuth sensitive or confidential data relating to lousiness. Breaches of our security
measures or the accidental loss, inadvertent discdoor unapproved dissemination of proprietargrimfation or sensitive or confidential data
about us or our clients, including the potentiaklor disclosure of such information or data assalt of fraud, trickery or other forms of
deception, could expose us or our customers affdota risk of loss or misuse of this informatiogsult in litigation and potential liability for
us, damage our brand and reputation or otherwise bar business. In addition, the cost and opearatioonsequences of implementing furthei
data protection measures could be significant.

Portions of our IT infrastructure also may expeteinterruptions, delays or cessations of serviggaduce errors in connection with
systems integration or migration work that takexplfrom time to time. We may not be successfihjplementing new systems and
transitioning data, which could cause businessigigsns and be more expensive, time consumingyglime and resource-intensive. Such
disruptions could adversely impact our ability wdfifl orders and interrupt other processes. Dethyales, lower margins or lost customers
resulting from these disruptions have adverselgcaid in the past, and in the future could advermsitct, our financial results, stock price anc
reputation.

We are exposed to fluctuations in the market valuwdour portfolio investments and in interest rates
At December 31, 2012, we had $55.3 million in casish equivalents and marketable securities. Sutidta all of our marketable
securities are invested in fixed income securities.

Investments in fixed-rate instruments carry a degifeinterest rate risk. The market value of fixate securities may be adversely
impacted due to an increase in interest ratesgwlaihting rate securities may produce less inctitaa expected if interest rates decline. Du
part to these factors, our future investment markétes and income may fall short of expectatiams t changes in interest rates or if the
decline in fair value of our publicly traded debstruments is judged to be other-than-temporary.

We may also suffer losses in principal if we aneéal to sell securities that decline in market galue to changes in interest rates or if
declines in value are determined to be other-teampbrary.

ltem 1B.  Unresolved Staff Commen
None
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Item 2. Properties

Our principal executive offices are located in a@go, California where we lease approximately 06,8quare feet under an
arrangement that expires in December 2016. In agimmewith our acquisition of Enfora, Inc., we leagpproximately 42,000 square feet in
Richardson, Texas under a lease arrangement thaesin December 2014. In Calgary, Canada, weslapproximately 24,000 square feet for
certain aspects of our research and developmeahmaion under a lease that expires in SepteniEf.2n Basingstoke, United Kingdom,
lease approximately 4,600 square feet for our Eeaostaff under a lease agreement that expireswerNber 2013. In Shanghai, China, we
lease approximately 1,200 square meters for ounéslei staff under a lease agreement that expivsrin2015. We also lease space in various
geographic locations abroad primarily for sales suqgbort personnel or for temporary facilities. Wédieve that our existing facilities are
adequate to meet our current needs and that weenaw our existing leases or obtain alternativesme terms that would not have a material
impact on our financial condition.

Item 3. Legal Proceeding:

On September 15, 2008 and September 18, 2008, utatiye securities class action lawsuits were fitethe United States District Court
for the Southern District of California on behalfpeersons who allegedly purchased our stock betwebnuary 5, 2007 and August 19, 2008.
On December 11, 2008, these lawsuits were consetidato a single action entitl®hcke v. Novatel Wireless, Inc., et,aLase No. 08-CV-
01689-H (RBB) (Consolidated with Case No. 08-CV-D4-H (RBB)) (U.S.D.C., S.D. Cal.). In May 2010, ttlistrict court re-captioned the
caseln re Novatel Wireless Securities Litigatiohe plaintiffs filed the consolidated complaimt behalf of persons who allegedly purchased
our stock between February 27, 2007 and Novemhe2A@B. The consolidated complaint names the Cognpad certain of our current and
former officers as defendants. The consolidatedptaimt alleges generally that we issued materialye and misleading statements during th
relevant time period regarding the strength ofpmaducts and market share, our financial resultscam internal controls. The plaintiffs are
seeking an unspecified amount of damages and ddstscourt has denied defendants’ motions to disniisMay 2010, the court entered an
order granting the plaintiffs’ motion for class tiication and certified a class of purchasers wf common stock between February 27, 2007
and September 15, 2008. On February 14, 2011 wWlpextensive discovery, we filed a motion for snary judgment on all of plaintiffs’
claims. A trial date had been set for May 10, 2@d.March 15, 2011, the case was reassigned twalisérict judge, the Honorable Anthony
J. Battaglia. Following the reassignment, the ceadated the trial date pending the court’s comatitin of dispositive motions. Oral argument
on the motion for summary judgment was heard bycthet on June 17, 2011. On November 23, 2011cathet issued an order granting in
and denying in part the motion for summary judgmeént July 9, 2012, the court vacated the finalpaktonference date. On December 14,
2012, the court issued an order denying defendara$ion to exclude the testimony of plaintiffs’ fosausation expert. The court set a pretrial
conference for March 8, 2013 and a trial date okJ8, 2013. On February 7, 2013, the court recensiits December 14, 2012 order and
granted defendants’ motion to exclude plaintifighert on loss causation. The court, however, géaiatgfs the opportunity to provide a new
report from the expert seeking to cure the defiienin the expert’s testimony. The court providesthedule for the cure process and ordere
plaintiffs to bear the burden of defendar@gpenses incurred in this process. The court alsetithe pretrial conference for August 22, 204
a trial date of November 18, 2013. The Companynigeto defend this litigation vigorously.

On September 24, 2010, NovAtel, Inc., a Canadianpamy (“NovAtel Canada”) filed a trademark infrimgent lawsuit entitledNovAtel,
Inc. v. Novatel Wireless Technologies, Ltd., ¢, Action No. 1001-14265 in the Court of Queens BeotAlberta Canada, Judicial District of
Calgary. The Statement of Claim alleges that Ndw#&fiecless Technologies, Ltd., Novatel Wirelessusiohns, Inc. and Novatel Wireless, Inc.,
or collectively, the Company, are infringing NovA€@anada’s purported rights in the “Novatel” tradeknin breach of a settlement agreement
between NovAtel Canada and the Company. The Comipdéeryds to defend this litigation vigorously.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosure
None.
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PART Il

Item 5. Market for Registran’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters andusr Purchases of Equity Securitit
Common Stock Data

Shares of our common stock are quoted and tradddthemMasdaq Global Select Market under the symKiMTL.” The following table
sets forth, for the periods indicated, the high wdsales prices of our common stock as reporjetife Nasdaq Global Select Market.

High ($) Low ($)
2012
First quarte! 3.6¢ 2.8t
Second quarte 3.37 1.9t
Third quartel 2.6¢ 1.7¢
Fourth quarte 2.0Z 1.17
2011
First quartel 10.2( 5.0C
Second quarte 6.2¢ 4.717
Third quartel 5.74 2.97
Fourth quarte 4.4z 2.51

Number of Stockholders of Record

Our outstanding capital stock consists of a siktdes of common stock. As of February 25, 2013¢eteere approximately 47 holders of
record of our common stock. Because many of theeshaf our common stock are held by brokers andrattstitutions on behalf of
stockholders, we are unable to estimate the tatalber of stockholders represented by these reaudirs.

Dividends

We have never declared or paid cash dividends grslaares of our capital stock. We currently intemdetain all available funds for use
in the operation and development of our busineds thierefore, do not anticipate paying any casiddivds in the foreseeable future. Any
future determination relating to our dividend pwligill be made at the discretion of our board a&dtors and will depend on a number of
factors, including future earnings, capital reguiests, financial condition and future prospects atheér factors the board of directors may
deem relevant.

Performance Graph

The following graph compares the cumulative totatkholder return on the Company’s common stoclvbeh December 31, 2007 and
December 31, 2012 with the cumulative total retfr(i) the Nasdaq Stock Market (U.S.) Index or Mesdag Composite Index, and (i) the
Nasdaqg Telecommunications Index, or the Nasdacqcdeidndex, over the same period. This graph asstimdasvestment of $100.00
December 31, 2007 in the common stock of the Compae Nasdaq Composite Index and the Nasdaq Traléedex and assumes the
reinvestment of any dividends. The stockholderrresinown on the graph below should not be consitierdicative of future stockholder
returns and the Company will not make or endorsepaedictions as to future stockholder returns.
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COMPARISON OF 5§ YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*

Among Novatel Wireless, Inc., the NASDAQ Composite Index,
and the NASDAR Telecommunications [ndex

120 -

100

560 -

520 -

1207 12/08 12/09 1210 1211 122

—&-— Novatel Wireless, Inc. — A — NASDAQ Composite - - O - - NASDAQ Telecommunications

*E100 invasied on 12/31/07 In stock or index, including reinvestment of dividends
Fiscal year ending Decambear 31,

Cumulative Total Return

12/07 12108 _12/09  12/10 _12/11 12/12
Novatel Wireless, Inc. 100.0¢ 28.6¢ 49.2( 58.9t 19.32 8.21
NASDAQ Composite 100.0C 59.0: 82.28 97.3: 98.6: 110.7¢
NASDAQ Telecommunications 100.0¢ 57.5¢ 72.97 86.08 90.3( 89.6:
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ltem 6. Selected Financial Dat:

The following selected financial data should bedriaconjunction with our consolidated financiateiments and the related notes and
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Finan€iahdition and Results of Operations” appearingveegze in this report. The selected
consolidated statements of operations data preséetew for each of the years ended December 3112,22D11, and 2010, and the
consolidated balance sheet data at December 32,8@12011 are derived from our consolidated firrstatements included elsewhere in
this report. The selected consolidated statemdripearations data for the years ended Decembe2®19 and 2008 and consolidated balance
sheet data at December 31, 2010, 2009, and 2008dved from the audited consolidated financiateshents not included in this report.

Year Ended December 31
2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
(in thousands, except per share date

Consolidated Statements of Operations Date

Net revenue $344,28¢ $402,86: $338,94. $337,42. $320,97:
Cost of net revenue 271,84! 318,27( 272,641 249,76 252,23:
Gross profit 72,44 84,59: 66,29 87,65¢ 68,74
Operating costs and expens
Research and developmt 60,42: 61,39: 48,90¢ 44,89: 34,74
Sales and marketir 27,501 29,83( 20,97¢ 19,85 18,19¢
General and administrati 22,66¢ 21,60( 21,23t 20,15¢ 21,55(
Goodwill and intangible assets impairm 49,521 3,271 0 0 0]
Amortization of purchased intangible ass 1,07¢ 2,22 17¢ 0 0
Total operating costs and expen 161,18t 118,31 91,29¢ 84,90¢ 74,48:
Operating income (los! (88,747 (33,727 (25,00:) 2,75( (5,749
Interest and other income (expense), 88 (66¢) (55E) 1,68¢ 3,55:
Income (loss) before income tax (88,65%) (34,399 (25,557 4,43¢ (2,190
Income tax expense (bene! 611 (9,507%) 7,89:¢ 527 (947)
Net income (loss $(89,266)  $(24,89)  $(3345() $ 3,917 $ (1,249
Net income (loss) per common she
Basic $ (2.72) $ (0.79) $ (1.06) $ 0.1% $ (0.09
Diluted $ (2.79) $ (0.79) $ (1.06) $ 0.1 $ (0.09
Weighted average shares outstand
Basic 32,85: 32,04 31,49 30,64¢ 31,15¢
Diluted 32,85: 32,04: 31,49 31,22« 31,15¢

December 31
2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
(in thousands)

Consolidated Balance Sheet Dat¢

Cash and cash equivalents and marketable sect $ 55,30¢ $ 88,83: $ 97,82¢ $176,04« $143,23:
Working capital 67,19¢ 81,11 87,17 149,46 173,15:
Total asset 161,53: 249,17¢ 302,10¢ 277,39 257,47¢
Stockholder' equity 85,44 166,02! 185,40: 211,15! 197,96:
Long-term liabilities 2,552 4,08( 12,88¢ 15,54: 15,66
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Item 7. Managemen's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition drResults of Operation

The following discussion of our consolidated finahcondition and results of operations should kad in conjunction with our
consolidated financial statements and related notelsided elsewhere in this report. This reporttzams certain forward-looking statements
relating to future events or our future financiarformance. These statements are subject to risttaiacertainties which could cause actual
results to differ materially from those discussedhiis report. You are cautioned not to place undaliance on this information which speaks
only as of the date of this report. We are notgdtied to update this information, whether as a ftesfunew information, future events or
otherwise, except to the extent we are requirdaytmaw. For a discussion of the important risksatetl to our business and future operating
performance, see the discussion under the caf‘ltem 1A. Risk Factors” and under the captiofrdctors Which May Influence Future Res
of Operations” below. In light of these risks, urteinties and assumptions, the forwadabking events discussed in this report might roctuo.

Overview and Background

We are a provider of intelligent wireless solutidosthe worldwide mobile communications marketr®toad range of products
principally includes intelligent mobile hotspotsSB modems, embedded PCI and wireless PC-card moa@aehsommunications and
applications software. In addition, our Enfora digh provides asset-management solutions utilizitejligent platforms, customized service-
delivery software, and machine-to-machine, or M2binmunications devices.

Our products currently operate on every major tallwireless technology platform. Our mobile hotspembedded modules, and
modems provide subscribers with secure and conwehigh-speed access to corporate, public and pakgaformation through the Internet
and enterprise networks. Our M2M products enabidécds to communicate with each other and with serwecloud-based application
infrastructure.

Our mobile-hotspot and modem customer base is deatpof wireless operators, including AT&T, Spriahd Verizon Wireless; laptop
PC and other original equipment manufacturers, BKO, including Dell and Hewlett-Packard; as weldéstributors and various companies in
other vertical markets. Our M2M customer base immised of transportation companies, industrial panies, manufacturers of medical
devices and geographical-location devices and gessiof security systems. We have strategic relships with several of these customers fo
technology development and marketing.

We sell our wireless broadband solutions primaualyvireless operators either directly or throughtsic relationships, as well as to
OEM partners and distributors located worldwide.svaf our mobile-computing product sales to wirgleperators and OEM partners are solc
directly by our sales force, or to a lesser degtegeugh distributors. We sell our M2M solutionsnpatrily to enterprises in the following
industries: transportation; energy and industnigbmation; security and safety; and medical momitprwe sell our M2M solutions through
our direct sales force and through distributors.

We intend to continue to identify and respond to@istomersheeds by introducing new product designs with apheasis on supportir
cutting edge wide area network, or WAN, technolagpse-of-use, performance, size, weight, cost amepconsumption. We manage our
products through a structured life cycle processnfidentifying initial customer requirements thgbudevelopment and commercial
introduction to eventual phase-out. During prodimtelopment, emphasis is placed on innovation,-tor@arket, performance, meeting
industry standards and customer product specificatiease of integration, cost reduction, manufabtlity, quality and reliability.

The hardware used in our solutions is produceddyract manufacturers. Their services include camepbprocurement, assembly,
testing, quality control, and fulfillment. We haagreements with Inventec Appliances CorporationA@; Hon Hai Precision Industry co.,
LTD; and Benchmark Electronics for the
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outsourced manufacturing of our products. Undemoanufacturing agreements, contract manufacturesdge us with services including
component procurement, product manufacturing, fasgsembly, testing, quality control, and fulfillmelm addition, we have an agreement v
Mobiltron for certain distribution, fulfillment ancepair services related to our business in EurttigeMiddle East and Africa, or EMEA.

Factors Which May Influence Future Results of Operéons

Net RevenuedVe believe that our future net revenues will béuiericed largely by the speed and breadth of theaddrfor wireless
access to data through the use of next generagiovorks including demand for 3G and 4G productsaB@ 4G data access services,
particularly in North America, Europe and Asia; ttuser acceptance for our new products that addnese markets, including our MiFi line
Intelligent Mobile Hotspots; and our ability to meeistomer demand. Factors that could potentidigcacustomer demand for our products
include the following:

* economic environment and related market conditi

* increased competition from other wireless data modeppliers as well as suppliers of emerging devikat contain a wireless d:
access featurt

» demand for broadband access services and netv

e rate of change to new produc

« timing of deployment of 4G networks by wireless k@ers;
e decreased demand for -DO and HSPA products; at

« changes in technologie

We anticipate introducing additional products dgrihe next twelve months, including 4G broadbanzkas products, M2M solutions
and software applications and platforms. We cortittudevelop and maintain strategic relationshijls wireless and computing industry
leaders like QUALCOMM, Sprint, Verizon Wireless, &T, Texas Instruments, and major software vendbinsough strategic relationships,
we have been able to increase market penetratiéevbyaging the resources of our channel partieekyding their access to distribution
resources, increased sales opportunities and mgpkettunities.

As a result of the extremely competitive marketviireless devices, we have experienced signifidamtnward pressure on the average
selling prices of our products. This pressure hagibtential to materially adversely affect ountesof operations and financial condition in
future periods and we cannot predict the magnitrdening of future reductions in the average sgllprices of our products.

Cost of Net Revenuesll costs associated with our contract manufactjras well as distribution, fulfillment and repsérvices are
included in our cost of net revenues. Cost of eeénues also includes warranty costs, amortizationtangible assets, royalties, operations
overhead, costs associated with the Company’s latioe of purchase orders, costs related to oatsitvices and costs related to inventory
adjustments, including write downs for excess dpgbtete inventory. Inventory adjustments are imgag@rimarily by demand for our
products, which is influenced by the factors diseasabove.

Operating Costs and Expens&tany of our products target wireless operators@her customers in North America, Europe, and Asia.
We will likely develop new products to serve thesarkets, resulting in increased research and deralat expenses. We have incurred these
expenses in the past and expect to continue to these expenses in future periods prior to reagninet revenues from sales of these
products.

Our operating costs consist of four primary categgoresearch and development costs; sales anctimgrkgeneral and administrative
costs; and amortization of purchased intangibles.
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Research and development are at the core of olityabiproduce innovative, leading-edge produ@tsis category consists primarily of
engineers and technicians who design and testighlyicomplex products. As we work to expand ourtfatio of products and remain
competitive, it may be necessary to increase @@areh and development costs in the future.

Sales and marketing expense consists primarilpipgales force and product-marketing professiomalsrder to maintain strong sales
relationships, we provide co-marketing, trade skapport, product training and demo units for mencliging. We are also engaged in a wide
variety of activities, such as awareness and leagigtion programs as well as product marketingeQmnarketing initiatives include public
relations, seminars and co-branding with partners.

General and administrative expenses include priyneorporate functions such as accounting, humaauees, professional legal fees,
administrative support, and professional fees. Thiegory also includes the expenses needed tatepss a publicly-traded company,
including Sarbanes-Oxley compliance, SEC filingsck-exchange fees, and investor-relations expexif®ugh general and administrative
expenses have been relatively stable and are remtlgfi related to revenue levels, certain expesgeh as litigation settlements and provisions
for bad debts may impact future general and adinatige expenses.

Amortization of purchased intangibles includesdh®rtization of customer relationships, covenarttaecompete agreements and trade
name intangible assets purchased through the dtiouisf Enfora.

We also subject our intangible assets and gootlwithpairment assessments when required whichesritrin charges when impairme
occurs.

As part of our business strategy, we review, atehih to continue to review, acquisition opportwstthat we believe would be
advantageous or complementary to the developmemirabusiness. If we make any acquisitions, we mayr substantial expenditures in
conjunction with the acquisition process and thessguent assimilation of any acquired businesslysts, technologies or personnel.

Merger & Acquisition Activities
Acquisition of Enfora

On November 30, 2010, the Company completed itaisitipn of Enfora, a provider of intelligent assenagement solutions utilizing
wireless technology and M2M communications. Theugition of Enfora diversifies the Company’s custarbase and product lines into
adjacent markets and advances the Company'’s stratggoviding intelligent devices to more end nmetsk—enterprise, consumer and vertical
applications. Enfora’s results of operations artdrested fair value of assets acquired and liab#itaissumed are included in the Company’s
consolidated financial statements from the datecofuisition.

Under the terms of the acquisition agreement, tmgany paid cash consideration of $64.5 million additional cash consideration of
$13.0 million in exchange for an agreed upon amofifinfora working capital. The Company also agreepay additional cash consideration,
or contingent consideration, of up to $6.0 milllesed on the operating results of Enfora for thend&th period from October 1, 2010 to
December 31, 2011. At December 31, 2010, the ethfair value of this contingent considerationhat acquisition date was $0.9 million,
resulting in total estimated cash to be paid of.48illion. During the quarter ended March 31, 20the Company revised its estimate of
contingent consideration to $0 and accordinglyect#id this change as a benefit to general and &trative expenses for the quarter ended
March 31, 2011. At December 31, 2011, the operatisglts necessary to receive payment of the ageminconsideration were not achieved.
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Cinterion

In June 2010, the Company submitted a bid to pweskartain assets of Cinterion Wireless Modulesmapany in the cellular machine-
to-machine communications industry. The Company maghe successful bidder at the conclusion optloeess on June 28, 2010.

In June 2010, the Company borrowed $30.0 milliei,of $2.2 million in lender fees, under a bridgan facility in connection with its
bid. In accordance with bidding procedures, dudnge 2010, the Company deposited into escrow amatnm Euros equal to its bid price
using cash and cash equivalents, proceeds frosatbeof marketable securities, and borrowings uttte$30.0 million bridge loan facility.
The escrowed funds are reflected as a deposistiaed funds in the accompanying consolidatetéstant of cash flows for the year ended
December 31, 2010. The escrowed funds were retuonéee Company in July 2010.

While the Company’s Euro funds were held in esciibv,Company engaged in hedging transactions teasldoreign currency risk at a
cost of $1.2 million, which amount was recordedtiner income (expense), net, in the consolida@@stent of operations during the year
ended December 31, 2010.

During the second quarter ended June 30, 201@ ¢hepany recorded a foreign currency gain of $28anj which was recorded in
other income (expense), net, in connection withcthreversion of its Euro-denominated escrowed funtisU.S. dollars following completion
of the auction on June 28, 2010.

Pursuant to authoritative accounting guidance$th@ million in lender fees on the $30.0 milliondge loan facility were recorded as a
discount to amounts outstanding under the faddlityd amortized over the stated term of the facailitych was scheduled to mature on
September 8, 2010. During June 2010, the Compaayimturred $660,000 in professional fees attribletéo the bridge facility, which were
capitalized and amortized over the stated terrh@féacility. During the second quarter ended June?2810, the Company recognized $687,
in interest expense related to this facility, whprimarily consisted of the amortization of len@ed professional fees.

In connection with its bid, the Company estimateat during the second quarter of 2010, it had irezli2.0 million in legal, advisory
and professional fees unrelated to the bridge faaitity, which were recorded as accrued expensdsctassified as general and administrative
expenses in the consolidated statement of opegatiduring the third quarter of 2010, the Comparduced its estimate of professional fees by
approximately $700,000 based upon information weeived during the third quarter of 2010 that intécethe reduction to the original
estimated liability was appropriate.

In July 2010, the Company repaid all amounts ontitey under the bridge loan facility.
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Results of Operations
The following table sets forth our consolidatedestzents of operations expressed as a percentagg tfvenues for the periods indica

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010
(as a percent of net revenue:
Net revenue 100.(% 100.(% 100.(%
Cost of net revenue 79.C 79.C 80.4
Gross margir 21.C 21.C 19.€
Operating costs and expens
Research and developmt 17.5 15.2 14.4
Sales and marketir 8.C 7.4 6.2
General and administrati 6.€ 5.4 6.2
Goodwill and intangible assets impairm 14.4 0.8 0.C
Amortization of purchased intangible ass 0.3 0.€ 0.1
Total operating costs and expen 46.¢ 29.4 27.C
Operating los! (25.9 (8.9 (7.9
Interest income (expense), | 0.1 0.1 (0.7)
Other income (expense), r 0.7) 0.9 0.€
Loss before income tax (25.9) (8.6) (7.5
Income tax expense (bene! 0.2 (2.9 o8
Net loss (25.9% (6.2% (9.9%

Year Ended December 31, 2012 Compared to Year Endé&kcember 31, 2011

Net revenues Net revenues were approximately $344.3 millionrdu2012, a decrease of approximately $58.6 nmilbo 14.5%
compared to 2011.

The following table summarizes net revenues byntapte segment and product categories during thesyended December 31, 2012
2011 (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011
Net revenues by reportable segm
Mobile Computing Product $312,50¢ $358,10¢
M2M Products and Solutior 31,78( 44, 75¢
Total $344,28¢ $402,86:
Year Ended December 31
_ 2012 2011
Net revenues by product categori
Mobile Broadband Device $287,57. $336,73(
Embedded Solutior 29,96( 39,79:
Asset Management Solutions & Servit 26,75¢ 26,33¢
Total $344,28! $402,86:
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Mobile Computing Product®et revenues from our Mobile Computing Productsvssg for the year ended December 31, 2012 were
$312.5 million, a decrease of $45.6 million or 24.€¢ompared to the same period in 2011. The deciegsenarily attributable to lower sales
of Mobile Broadband devices caused by increasettehaompetition at our largest customer.

M2M Products and Solutionblet revenues from our M2M Products and Solutiomgrsmnt for the year ended December 31, 2012 were
$31.8 million, a decrease of $13.0 million compansith $44.8 million in net revenues for the prevdorear. The decrease is primarily due to
the reduced sales volume and pricing of our 2G GFRBI modules in the North American market as ihgiéions away from 2G GSM
networks, and the loss of one of our larger custerfar the M2M segment. We continue to develop CDMA 3G GSM modules and
integrated solutions to address this market. Wadaed a CDMA module in the fourth quarter of 20b& axpect to launch other products in
2013.

Product CategoriesWe have categorized the combined product portfafdbe mobile computing and M2M businesses integh
categories (1) Mobile Broadband Devices, (2) Emleddsolutions and (3) Asset Management SolutionsSamdices. These categories were
established due to the different markets and sdlasnels served. We believe this product categmizéacilitates the analysis of our operat
trends and enhances our segment disclosures.

The Mobile Broadband Devices category includegxirnal data modems including MiFi intelligent $ypdts, USB modems and PC
cards. These devices are sold primarily througlkeless operator enterprise and retail channelgaeleequipment distributors and consumer
retail chains.

Embedded Solutions products include wireless-braadimodules and related software and servicedsatdinufacturers of laptop
computers, tablets, and other wireless computecedgvThis product category also includes M2M medwdold to manufacturers of various
asset tracking and monitoring products. Our praglace sold directly to OEMs or through distributbannels.

Asset Management Solutions and Services are mioibdiigent wireless broadband terminal devices emthmunication management
software, or CMS, that transmit information abdw &issets into which these products are integratexke hardware and software products
be bundled or sold separately. The CMS softwargates the terminal device onto the wireless neltveord manages its functionality.

Net revenues from our Mobile Broadband Devicesgmatefor the year ended December 31, 2012 were .$28ilion, a decrease of
$49.2 million or 14.6% compared to the same peind2D11. The decrease is primarily attributablentveased market competition at our
largest customer.

The Embedded Solutions category accounted for $80lian, or 8.7% of total net revenues for the yeaded December 31, 2012, a
decrease of $9.8 million compared to the same @éni@011. This included $13.7 million in salesw®M modules and $16.3 million of
embedded modules for OEM computing devices.

Net revenues from Asset Management Solutions &i€eswere $26.8 million and accounted for approxatyar.8% of total net
revenues for the year ended December 31, 2012camaise of $ 417,000 compared to the same periddlih. These sales were predominantl
comprised of integrated product hardware saleesS# CMS software were not significant for thergeended December 31, 2012 and 2011.

Cost of net revenue£ost of net revenues for the year ended Decemhe&t3P was approximately $271.8 million, or 79.0¢6 et
revenues, as compared to approximately $318.3amjlbr 79.0% of net revenues in 2011. The cosebfevenues as a percentage of net
revenues remained flat compared to the same periddl1l. The reduction of average sales pricesGoprbducts in our Mobile Computing
Products segment compared to the same period ih\284 offset by lower amortization costs associatigll purchased intangible assets. Cost
of net revenues as a percentage of net reveneapésted to fluctuate in future quarters dependimgevenue levels, the mix of products sold,
competitive pricing, new product introduction coatgl other factors.
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Increased competitive pressures may continue tativedy impact the average sales prices of ouryetsd This may require us in future
periods to record inventory write downs to refliester of cost or market adjustments and revalutateassets that may become impaired.

Gross profit.Gross profit for the year ended December 31, 2042 approximately $72.4 million, or 21.0% of netaeues, as compared
to approximately $84.6 million, or 21.0% of neteewues in 2011. The gross profit percentage remdiaeds compared to the same period in
2011. We expect that our gross profit percentadiecamtinue to fluctuate from quarter to quartepelrding on product mix, competitive sell
prices, our ability to reduce product costs anchglea in unit volume.

Research and development expendResearch and development expenses for the yead Eredbember 31, 2012 were approximately
$60.4 million, or 17.5% of net revenues, compacedpproximately $61.4 million, or 15.2% of net reues in 2011. Research and developi
expenses for the year ended December 31, 2012loweee as compared to the same period in 2011 duedieced labor cost attributed to
headcount reductions, lower software amortizatiosts; and lower engineering build materials andidattesting services. This decrease was
partially offset by an increase in share based @sation expenses primarily related to the terntnaif our 2000 Employee Stock Purchase
Plan in the fourth quarter of 2012.

We believe that focused investments in researctdamdlopment are critical to our future growth aodpetitive position in the
marketplace and are directly related to timely digwament of new and enhanced products that arealéntour core business strategy. As such
we expect to make further investments in reseandndavelopment to remain competitive.

Research and development expenses as a percehtagja@venues are expected to fluctuate in fuberéods depending on the amoun
revenue recognized, and potential variation incihets associated with the development of our prisdiutcluding the number and complexity
of the products under development and the progretde development activities with respect to thpseucts. We may increase our
investment in research and development to contimpeovide innovative products and services.

Sales and marketing expense3ales and marketing expenses for the year endeghiier 31, 2012 were approximately $27.5 millior
8.0% of net revenues, compared to approximately8$28llion or 7.4% of net revenues in 2011. Thelatodlecrease was due primarily to lov
labor cost as a result of reductions in headcondtdecreased cooperative advertising and joint etieudk expenses compared to the same
period in 2011.

While managing sales and marketing expenses relaiinet revenues, we expect to continue to mdketsd investments in sales and
marketing as we introduce new products, marketiegigroducts, expand our distribution channels facds on key customers around the
world.

General and administrative expensdseneral and administrative expenses for the yedgcBDecember 31, 2012 were approximately
$22.7 million, or 6.6% of net revenues, comparedpproximately $21.6 million, or 5.4% of net revesun 2011. The increase was due
primarily to legal expenses related to IP defemgklgigation settlements, and an increase in belut deserve compared to the same period in
2011.

Goodwill and intangible assets impairmenBuring the first and third quarters of 2012, basadctual operating results, and reductions
in management’s estimates of forecasted operatisigts of the M2M Products and Solutions reporting principally due to an updated view
of competitive pressures impacting average sefimges and forecasted sales volumes, customer gradd technology selections, and the
of certain customers, the Company determined tivere sufficient indicators of impairment presentéquire an interim impairment analysis.
Based on the fair value tests performed durinditeequarter of 2012, the Company recorded a pregbodwill impairment charge of $6.5
million and a purchased intangible asset charg2af8 million. Based on the fair value tests perfed during the third quarter of 2012, the
Company recorded a
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preliminary pretax goodwill impairment charge of $13.2 million aagreliminary purchased intangible asset charg¥ & million. During thi
fourth quarter of 2012, the Company completed hirel ijuarter impairment analysis and reduced thel@ased intangible asset impairment by
$300,000. During the third quarter of 2011, we perfed an interim assessment of impairment for galbewnd recorded an impairment charge
of $3.5 million. During the fourth quarter of 20Me completed the impairment analysis and redusedhtpairment by $237,000.

Amortization of purchased intangible asset$he amortization of purchased intangible assetthiyear ended December 31, 2012 wa:
approximately $1.1 million, compared to approxinhat?.2 million in 2011. The decrease in amortizatexpense was due to the lower net
asset value of the intangible assets resulting fropairment charges in the first and third quartéra012.

Interest income, netinterest income, net, for the year ended Decembge?@®12 was $291,000 as compared to $384,000 éosame
period in 2011. Our net interest income during 284& 2011 was primarily related to interest eaimedur marketable securities.

Other expense, neOther expense, net for the year ended Decemb@032, was $203,000 as compared to $1.1 millionHersame
period in 2011. The net other expenses for 201 & wemarily related to foreign currency losses onit8 Korean Won denominated trade
payables, foreign exchange currency losses onooeigh denominated bank accounts and trade redesjadnd other-than-temporary loss
recognized on our marketable equity securities.

Income tax expense (benefihcome tax expense was approximately $611,00090af2012, compared to a benefit of $9.5 million i
2011. The difference between the federal and statatory combined benefit rate of 35% and ouratiffe tax rate for 2012 is primarily due to
a full valuation allowance on the U.S.-based defittax assets generated in 2012, and a $0.4 mékpense related to an increase in the
Company’s valuation allowance on the Canadian-bdségtred tax assets. The income tax benefit fad 2@as primarily due to an $11.8
million income tax benefit related to the recogmitiof uncertain tax positions. U.S.-based defeta@dissets generated in 2011 resulting from
the Company’s operating losses did not resultnetaax benefit due to an offsetting full valuatafowance on the deferred tax assets.

Net lossFor the year ended December 31, 2012, we reponted lass of approximately $89.3 million, as congghio net loss of
approximately $24.9 million in 2011. Net income vegnificantly impacted due to the impairment cleargecognized in 2012.

Year Ended December 31, 2011 Compared to Year Endé&2kcember 31, 2010

Net revenues Net revenues were approximately $402.9 millionrdu2011, an increase of approximately $63.9 omillor 18.9%
compared to 2010.

The following table summarizes net revenues byntapte segment and product categories during thesyended December 31, 2011
2010 (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31

2011 2010
Net revenues by reportable segm
Mobile Computing Product $358, 10t $332,46:
M2M Products and Solutior 44,75¢ 6,47¢
Total $402,86. $338,94.
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Year Ended December 31

2011 2010
Net revenues by product categori
Mobile Broadband Device $336,73( $324,74(
Embedded Solutior 39,79! 7,724
Asset Management Solutions & Servit 26,33¢ 6,47¢
Total $402,86. $338,94.

Mobile Computing Product®et revenues from our Mobile Computing Productsvssg for the year ended December 31, 2011 were
$358.1 million, an increase of $25.6 million or% tompared to the same period in 2010. The incneasegrimarily attributable to new
product rollouts of our next generation 4G MiFidligent Mobile Hotspot.

M2M Products and Solutionblet revenues from our M2M Products and Solutiomgrsmnt for the year ended December 31, 2011 were
$44.8 million, an increase of $38.3 million comphrgth $6.5 million in revenues for the previousyeOur acquisition of Enfora occurred
during the fourth quarter of 2010 and we recognizenues from the date of acquisition.

Net revenues from M2M Products and Solutions dufi@gjl were also constrained by supply disruptibas @ffected a component
manufacturer in Japan and our contract manufactorEnailand due to natural disasters in those traamin 2011.

Net revenues from our Mobile Broadband Devicesgmatefor the year ended December 31, 2011 were .$3868lion, an increase of
$12.0 million or 3.7% compared to the same penadl10. The increase in net revenues was primarilen by higher sales of our next
generation 4G MiFi products.

The Embedded Solutions category accounted for $88li®n, or 9.9% of total net revenues for the yeaded December 31, 2011, an
increase of $32.1 million compared to the sameopan 2010. This included $22.2 million in salesv#M modules and $17.6 million of
embedded modules for OEM computing devices.

Net revenues from Asset Management Solutions &i€eswvere $26.3 million and accounted for approxatye6.5% of total net
revenues for the year ended December 31, 201 hcamaise of $19.9 million compared to the same gen@010. These sales were
predominantly comprised of integrated product handnsales. Sales of CMS software were not sigmififx the year ended December 31,
2011. The increase in net revenues in Embeddedi@miand Asset Management Solutions and Servimepared to the same period in 2010
were related to the Enfora acquisition and incréasges to OEM customers in the Mobile ComputingdBcts segment.

Cost of net revenue£ost of net revenues for the year ended Decemhet(31l was approximately $318.3 million, or 79.0¢6 et
revenues, as compared to approximately $272.6amjlbr 80.4% of net revenues in 2010. The primayed of the dollar increase in cost of
net revenues was the increase in units sold cordparine same period in 2010. Cost of net reveasaspercentage of net revenues decrease
compared to the same period last year due to highegins on sales of 4G MiFi devices.

Cost of net revenues also included approximate®/&gillion in 2011 from our M2M Products and Sadus segment, including
amortization costs of $4.1 million related to puaséd intangibles and a fair value inventory vatraincrease of $1.8 million in connection
with our Enfora acquisition.

Gross profit.Gross profit for the year ended December 31, 2044 approximately $84.6 million, or 21.0% of netaeues, as compared
to approximately $66.3 million, or 19.6% of neteeves in 2010. The increase was primarily attribletto the increase in net revenues as
discussed above.
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Research and development expendRasearch and development expenses for the yead Bwbember 31, 2011 were approximately
$61.4 million, or 15.2% of net revenues, compacedpproximately $48.9 million, or 14.4% of net reues in 2010. This increase was
primarily due to an increase in salaries and rdlatgenses due to the acquisition of Enfora, anidaease in product testing and certification
costs in the current year to support expanded rels@ad development activities.

Research and development expenses included apmi@tin$8.5 million in 2011 from our M2M Productsde8olutions segment,
compared to $837,000 in 2010.

Sales and marketing expense3ales and marketing expenses for the year endeehfilier 31, 2011 were approximately $29.8 millior
7.4% of net revenues, compared to approximately®illion or 6.2% of net revenues in 2010. The@ase was due primarily to an increase
in salaries and related expenses due to the atigmisi Enfora, an increase in travel and relatgoeases, and an increase in consulting and
marketing expenses to support marketing effort®fwrvarious product launches in 2011.

Sales and marketing expenses also included appatedyr$8.2 million in 2011 from our M2M ProductsdaBolutions segment related to
our Enfora acquisition, compared to $825,000 in201

General and administrative expensdseneral and administrative expenses for the yedecBDecember 31, 2011 were approximately
$21.6 million, or 5.4% of net revenues, comparedgproximately $21.2 million, or 6.3% of net revesun 2010. Although general and
administrative expenses remained relatively flatohar spending for the year ended December 311 20mpared to the same period in 2010,
general and administrative expenses decreasegesentage of net revenues due to the increasst ievenues in 2011 as compared to 2010

General and administrative expenses also inclugptbaimately $2.7 million in 2011 from our M2M Practs and Solutions segment,
compared to $350,000 in 2010.

Amortization of purchased intangible asset$he increase in amortization expense for the yede@ December 31, 2011 was due to the
full year 2011 amortization of purchased intangdsets from the Enfora acquisition completed duitie fourth quarter of 2010.

Goodwill impairment. During the third quarter of 2011, we performed retim assessment of impairment for goodwill armbrded an
impairment charge of $3.5 million. During the fduguarter of 2011, we completed the impairmentysislnd reduced the impairment by
$237,000. As a result of this assessment, we redaadyoodwill impairment of $3.3 million relatedttee M2M reporting unit for the year
ended December 31, 2011.

Interest income (expense), nahterest income (expense), net, for the year efmmmber 31, 2011 was approximately $384,000 of
income, net as compared to net interest expenapprbximately $2.5 million in 2010. Our net intdreeome during 2011 is primarily related
to interest earned on our marketable securities.n@uinterest expense during 2010 is primarilpted to interest charges, and debt issuance
costs associated with our bridge loan facility @ameection with our bid acquisition to acquire Ciraa.

Other income (expense), nédther income (expense), net, for the year ende@mber 31, 2011 decreased by approximately $3.0
million, to approximately $1.1 million of net expem compared to approximately $2.0 million of otimeome, net in 2010. The net other
expenses for 2011 were related to foreign currémeses on South Korean Won denominated trade pasjdoreign exchange currency losses
on our foreign denominated bank accounts and treckdvables, and other-than-temporary loss recednin our marketable equity securities.
The other income, net for 2010 was primarily drivwna $2.9 million foreign exchange gain realizgdm conversion of the Euro-denominated
bid funds into U.S. dollars in July 2010 at the dasion of the bidding process for Cinterion. Tleéngwas offset by $1.2 million in premiums
paid for protective put options
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we utilized to hedge our Euro exposure during tlddibhg process for Cinterion in the second quast2010. These puts expired unexercised
on June 25, 2010.

Income tax expense (benefihcome tax benefit was approximately $9.5 million fiscal 2011, compared to an expense of $7.9anill
in 2010. The company’s annual effective tax berrafit in 2011 was 28%. The difference betweendHerl and state statutory combined
benefit rate of 36% and our effective tax benedierfor 2011 is primarily due to a full valuatiolfowance on the U.S.-based deferred tax asse
generated in 2011, a $1.4 million expense relaiehtincrease in the Company’s valuation allowancéhe Canadiabased deferred tax ass
and an $11.8 million income tax benefit relateditgertain tax positions. During 2010, the Compaay imcome tax expense of $7.9 million,
predominantly relating to the full valuation allomee incurred against the Company’s U.S. based deféax assets created in years prior to
2010.

Net lossFor the year ended December 31, 2011, we reponted lass of approximately $24.9 million, as congghio net loss of
approximately $33.4 million in 2010. As discusséd\, the increase in gross profit was exceedeghliicrease in operating expenses, a full
year of amortization from acquired intangibles &melimpairment of goodwill. However, the Compangaeled a $9.5 million benefit |
income taxes during 2011 as compared to a $7.9riadax expense in 2010.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Our principal sources of liquidity are our existiogsh, cash equivalents and marketable securitgtsash generated from operations.

To address short term liquidity requirements résglfrom working capital changes the Company ewténeo a margin credit facility wit
a bank in 2011. The use of this margin credit fgcdllows the Company to meet short-term cashirequents and avoid selling cash
equivalents and marketable securities. Borrowingieu this facility are collateralized by Compangltand cash equivalents and marketable
securities on deposit at the bank. During the thmeaths ended September 30, 2011, the Companyvbedrapproximately $12.0 million and
repaid the entire amount during the same periodinguhe three months ended September 30, 201Zdhgpany borrowed $5.0 million and
repaid the entire amount during the same periodinguhree months ended December 31, 2012, the @oyniporrowed $9.0 million against
the facility and repaid the entire amount during siame period. The Company had no outstandingWwimgs under this facility at
December 31, 2012, and the Company’s borrowing linDecember 31, 2012 under the credit facilitg ¥6.8 million.

In September 2009, we filed a shelf registrati@teshent with the Securities and Exchange Commissioine SEC, that will allow us to
sell up to $125 million of equity, debt or othecsgties described in the registration statemeraria or more offerings by us from time to time.
As set forth in the shelf registration statememe, net proceeds from the sale of our securitiesimeaysed for general corporate purposes,
including working capital, capital expenditures audjuisitions. As of the date of this report, wd hat issued any securities under this
registration statement.
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Working Capital, Cash and Cash Equivalents and Mtakle Securities
The following table presents working capital, casld cash equivalents and marketable securities:

Year Ended December 31
(in thousands)

Increase /

2012 2011 (Decrease

Working capital $67,19¢ $81,11: $(13,91)
Cash and cash equivalel® $16,04¢ $47,06¢ $(31,02%)
Shor-term marketable securiti 38,06¢ 28,267 9,791
Long-term marketable securitit 1,201 13,49t (12,29¢)
Total cash and cash equivalents and marketableises $55,30¢ $88,83: $(33,527)

(1) Included in working capita

Our decrease in working capital as of Decembef812 compared to the prior year was primarily duksses incurred and capital
expenditures in 2012.

As of December 31, 2012, our cash, cash equivaterisnarketable securities decreased $33.5 malsocompared to December 31,
2011, primarily due to $29.9 million of cash usedperating activities and capital expenditure$4b million. See the discussion of market
risk in Item 7A.Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About MatrRisk.

Historical Cash Flows
The following table summarizes our consolidatetest@nts of cash flows for the periods indicated:

Year Ended December 31
(in thousands)

2012 2011
Net cash used in operating activit $(29,879) $ (1,53))
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activi (2,209 31,65¢
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activi 1,12C (305)
Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equts: (63) (129

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis (31,025 29,69

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of pe 47,06¢ 17,37¢
Cash and cash equivalents, end of pe $ 16,04« $ 47,06¢

Operating activitiesNet cash used in operating activities was $29.89anifor 2012 compared to $1.5 million of net casted in 2011.
Net cash used in operating activities for the yaated December 31, 2012 was primarily attributédbbbe loss incurred in 2012 and 1
unfavorable working capital impacts of a $10.4 imillreduction in accounts payable and a $6.2 milif@rease in accounts receivable. The
unfavorable working capital impacts during the yeatled December 31, 2012 were partially offsetdny-cash charges including depreciation
and amortization, goodwill and intangible assetgaimment and share-based compensation. During 204 Hifference between our net loss of
$24.9 million and our net cash used in operatiryiéies of $1.5 million was primarily due to thavorable impact of non-cash charges,
including depreciation, amortization and share-basempensation, partially offset by our non-cashhtanefit.
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Investing activitiesNet cash used in investing activities for 2012 apgroximately $2.2 million compared to $31.7 milliprovided by
investing activities in 2011. The net cash use®ldb2 was primarily related to purchases of propangy equipment of $4.6 million, partially
offset by the net sales and maturities of our ntatie securities of $2.5 million. The net cash jed by investing activities in 2011 was
primarily related to the net sales and maturitiesuw marketable securities of $37.9 million, paliti offset by purchases of property and
equipment of $6.0 million.

Financing activities.Net cash provided by financing activities for 20¢2s $1.1 million, compared to net cash used imfiiveg activities
of $305,000 for 2011. Net cash provided by finagautivities in 2012 was primarily related to preds from stock option exercises and stock
purchases through our employee stock purchase g&trfinancing activities for 2012 also includedledorrowings and repayment of $5.0
million and $9.0 million from our credit facilityuding the third and fourth quarters of 2012, retipely. Net cash used in financing activitie:
2011 was primarily due to net taxes paid on veststticted stock units, and payments of capitadezbligations. Net financing activities for
2011 also included cash borrowings and repayme®1dfO million from our credit facility during thtaird quarter of 2011.

Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments

The following table summarizes our contractual gdions and commercial commitments at Decembe2@112, and the effect such
obligations could have on our liquidity and casiwflin future periods (in thousands):

Payments Due by Fiscal Yea

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 Total
Operating leases $ 3,61° $3,66¢ $2,93( $2,89¢ $35€ $ 13,46
Committed purchase orde 103,27. 0 0 0 0 103,27:
Total contractual obligatior $106,88¢ $3,66¢ $2,93C $2,89¢ $35¢ $116,73!

Our liability for uncertain tax benefits, includingterest, as of December 31, 2012 was approxim&@$7,000, compared to
approximately $413,000 as of December 31, 2011.dBueease was primarily due to the expiration efapplicable statutes of limitations for
certain tax years. Our tax liability for uncertééx benefits is not included in our table of cootual obligations and commercial commitments.
We do not believe that we will pay such amount imithne year from December 31, 2012; however, wacareasonably estimate the timing
of future payments with respect to this liability.

Other Liquidity Needs

We expect to incur ongoing professional fees anqeses to defend litigation filed against us aatesl to our products, which litigation
is discussed in Note 11 to our consolidated firalrstatements included in this report. These ammtgsot be estimated at this time.

During the year ending December 31, 2013, we mandur approximately $5.4 million for discretiogazapital expenditures, including
the acquisition of additional software licenses.

We believe our cash resources from cash and castvadents and marketable securities, together aiitiicipated cash flows from
operations will be sufficient to meet our workingpital needs for the next twelve months.

Our liquidity could be impaired if there is anyéntuption in our business operations, a materiklriato satisfy our contractual
commitments or a failure to generate revenue frem ar existing products.
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We may raise additional funds to accelerate deveéoy of new and existing services and producteggpond to competitive pressures
to acquire complementary products, businessesbntdogies. There can be no assurance that anyedaqdditional financing will be
available on terms favorable to us, or at all.ddiigional funds are raised by the issuance of gadturities, our shareholders could experience
dilution of their ownership interests and secusiigsued may have rights senior to those of tha@enslof our common stock. If additional funds
are raised by the issuance of debt securities, ayeba subject to certain limitations on our operai If adequate funds are not available or nc
available on acceptable terms, we may be unahlbk®advantage of acquisition opportunities, dgveioenhance products or respond to
competitive pressures, any of which could have teris adverse effect on our business, financiabdition and results of operations.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangemleatste material to our results of operations,faia conditions or liquidity.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in confoymiith accounting principles generally acceptethia United States of America
requires management to make estimates and assmplioese estimates and assumptions affect thetedppimounts of assets, liabilities,
revenues, expenses and disclosures of contingseitsaend liabilities. Actual results could diffeorh these estimates. Critical accounting
policies andsignificant estimates include revenue recognitidioveance for doubtful accounts receivable, prowvisior excess and obsolete
inventory, valuation of intangible and long-livessats including acquired intangibles and goodw#liting from the acquisition of Enfora,
valuation of contingent consideration, provisionvi@rranty costs, litigation, income taxes, foreggchange forward contracts, and shasse(
compensation expense.

Revenue Recognitiolmhe Company’s revenue is principally generated fthensale of wireless modems to wireless operaf@Ed/
customers and value added resellers and distriadtoaddition, the Company generates revenue fhansale of asset-management solutions
utilizing wireless technology and M2M communicatidevices to transportation and industrial compamiedical device manufacturers and
security system providers. Revenue from produ@ssal generally recognized upon the later of texnsf title or delivery of the product to the
customer. Where the transfer of title or risk afdas contingent on the custongegcceptance of the product, we will not recogrézenue unt
both title and risk of loss have transferred todhstomer. We record deferred revenue for cash paigmeceived from customers in advanc
when revenue recognition criteria are met. We lygaated price protection to certain customers agoetance with the provisions of the
respective contracts and track pricing and othengeoffered to customers buying similar productageess compliance with these provisions.
We estimate the amount of price protection forentperiod product sales utilizing historical exeece and information regarding customer
inventory levels. To date, we have not incurredemal price protection obligations. Revenues frales to certain customers are subject to
cooperative advertising allowances. Cooperativeegithing allowances are recorded as an operatipgrese to the extent that the advertising
benefit is separable from the revenue transactiointlae fair value of that advertising benefit isediminable. To the extent that such allowance
either do not provide a separable benefit to uth@fair value of the advertising benefit cannetéliably estimated, such amounts are recc
as a reduction of revenue. We establish reservesstonated product returns allowances in the pdariavhich revenue is recognized. In
estimating future product returns, we considerawgifactors, including our stated return policied practices and historical trends.

Predominantly all of the revenues represent the sidhardware with accompanied software that isrg#s to the functionality of the
hardware. The Company records revenue associatedhei agreed upon price on hardware sales, amdexcany estimated costs of post-
delivery performance obligations, such as warranty
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obligations. The Company considers the four basiemue recognition criteria discussed under Staffofinting Bulletin #104 when assessing
appropriate revenue recognition as follows:

Criterion #1 — Persuasive evidence of an arrangémeist exist;

Criterion #2 — Delivery has occurred;

Criterion #3 — The Company’s price to the buyer trhesfixed or determinable; and,
Criterion #4 — Collectibility is reasonably assured

Under ASU 2009-13, in multiple element arrangemghts total consideration received from customeustrbe allocated to the elements
based on a relative selling price. The accountirigance establishes a hierarchy to determine tliegsprice to be used for allocating revenue
to deliverables as follows: (i) vendors specifigaaitive evidence (VSOE), (ii) third party eviden@dE), and (iii) best estimate of selling price
(ESP). Because the Company has neither VSOE noy rER&nue has been based on the Company’s ESP.msmallocated to the delivered
hardware and the related essential software aognézed at the time of the sale provided all otie@enue recognition criteria have been met.
Amounts allocated to other deliverables based Ugfei are recognized in the period the revenue rétmgeriteria have been met.

Our process for determining its ESP for deliverabiihout VSOE or TPE considers multiple factorsttmay vary depending upon the
unique facts and circumstances related to eachedable. Our prices are determined based uport@@sbduce our products, expected order
guantities and acceptance in the marketplace.ditiad, when developing ESPs for products we maysater other factors as appropriate
including the pricing of competitive alternativéshiey exist, and product-specific business obyesti

We account for multiple element arrangements thatgrily consist of software licenses and post caxttsupport (PCS) by recognizing
revenue for such arrangements ratably over the ééithie PCS as we have not established VSOE foP@f@ element.

For the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011, a®l 4@ have not recorded any significant reventgs fultiple element or softwa
arrangements.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts ReceivalMée provide an allowance for our accounts receivilestimated losses that may result
from our customers’ inability to pay. We determthe amount of the allowance by analyzing known ilactible accounts, aged receivables,
economic conditions, historical losses, and chailgeastomer payment cycles and our customersitereatrthiness. Amounts later determir
and specifically identified to be uncollectible atearged or written off against this allowance.mioimize the likelihood of uncollectibility, w
review our customers’ credit-worthiness periodichihsed on credit scores generated by independsdit ceporting services, our experience
with our customers and the economic condition afaustomers’ industries. Material differences maguit in the amount and timing of
expense for any period if we were to make diffejadgments or utilize different estimates. If tieahcial condition of our customers
deteriorates resulting in an impairment of theitigtto make payments, additional allowances mayéquired.

Provision for Excess and Obsolete Inventdnyentories are stated at the lower of cost (finsfirst-out method) or market. We review
the components of our inventory and our inventamcpase commitments on a regular basis for exgabsslasolete inventory based on
estimated future usage and sales. Write-downsvignitory value or losses on inventory purchase camerits depend on various items,
including factors related to customer demand, eacon@and competitive conditions, technological adeor new product introductions by us
or our customers that vary from our current exgemta. Whenever inventory is written down, a newtdmasis is established and the inventory
is not subsequently written up if market conditiamprove.

We believe that, when made, the estimates we usaldnlating the inventory provision are reasonalnlé properly reflect the risk of
excess and obsolete inventory. If customer demandur inventory is substantially less than oumastes, inventory write-downs may be
required, which could have a material adverse effacur consolidated financial statements.
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Valuation of Acquired Intangible Asselis.determining the Enfora purchase price allocatibea Company considered, among other
factors, its intention to use the acquired assadgtlae historical and estimated future demand fdoa products and services. The estimated
fair value of intangible assets was based upoimtwme approach. The income approach relies orstEmagion of the present value of the
future monetary benefits expected to flow to thenemof an asset during its remaining economic Tifaéis approach requires a projection of the
cash flow that the asset is expected to generdteifuture. The projected cash flow is discouriteitls present value using a rate of return, or
discount rate that accounts for the time value ohey and the degree of risks inherent in the a$betexpected future cash flow that is
projected should include all of the economic beaedttributable to the asset, including the taxiregsrassociated with the amortization of the
intangible asset value over the tax life of theeasBhe income approach may take the form of a€frélom royalty” methodology, a cost
savings methodology, a “with and without” methodplpor excess earnings methodology, depending®sphcific asset under consideration.

The relief-from-royalty method was used to value ttade name acquired from Enfora. The relief-frayalty method estimates the cost
savings that accrue to the owner of an intangibsetathat would otherwise be required to pay r@stir license fees on revenues earned
through the use of the asset. The royalty rate wssdbased on an analysis of empirical, marketrddnioyalty rates for guideline intangible
assets. Typically, revenue is projected over theeeted remaining useful life of the intangible &s$be royalty rate is then applied to estimate
the royalty savings. The key assumptions usedluingthe existing trade name acquired were as\id! royalty rate of 2%, discount rate of
20.5%, tax rate of 40% and an economic life of agjpnately 10.0 years.

The developed technologies, customer relationsdmpisbacklog were valued using a form of the incapgroach known as the multi-
period excess earnings method. Inherent in thei4peittod excess earnings method is the recognitiat) in most cases, all of the assets of the
business, both tangible and intangible, contribotine generation of the cash flow of the busirmssthe net cash flows attributable to the
subject asset must recognize the support of ther asets which contribute to the realization efdash flows. The contributory asset charges
are based on the fair value of the contributorg®sand either pre-tax or after-tax cash flowsassessed charges representing “returns on” tk
contributory assets. A contributory asset chargéhfe use of the technology was assessed on pieatixflows, while contributory asset
charges for the use of the working capital, fixededs, and assembled work force have been deduotedhe after-tax cash flow in each year
to determine the net future cash flow attributabléhe relationships. This future cash flow wasitdescounted using an estimated required rat
of return for the asset to determine the preseoevef the future cash flows attributable to theedsThe key assumptions used in valuing the
developed technologies acquired were as follovezalint rate of 18.5%, tax rate of 40% and estimatedage economic life of 5-10 years.
The key assumptions used in valuing the customatioaships acquired are as follows: discount cdit#9.5%, tax rate of 40% and estimated
average economic life of 10 years. The key assumgptised in valuing the backlog acquired are dsvist discount rate of 14.5%, tax rate of
40% and estimated average economic life of 5 months

The covenant-not-to-compete agreements were vaisied the “with or without” method. The “with or thiout” method measures the
value of an asset as the difference between twtasios. One scenario measures the value of a lasstnéth” the asset. The other scenario
measures the value “without” the asset. The metreats the difference between the two scenaridh (@értain valuation adjustments) as the
value of the asset. The key assumptions used iringathe covenant not to compete agreements wef@laws: discount rate of 20.5% and
estimated average economic life of 1-2 years.

Valuation of Intangible and Long-Lived Assétge periodically assess the valuation of intangésid long-lived assets, which requires us
to make assumptions and judgments regarding thgicgvalue of these assets. We consider asséis itmpaired if the carrying value may |
be recoverable based upon our assessment of tbwiftg events or changes in circumstances: thé'asakility to continue to generate inco
from operations and positive cash flow in futureias; loss of legal ownership or title to the dssignificant changes in our strategic busines
objectives and utilization of the asset; or sigmifit negative industry or economic trends.
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Our assessment includes comparing the carrying ateafi intangible and long-lived assets to thesoagated undiscounted expected
future cash flows, which are determined using greeted cash flow model. This model requires esgmaf our future revenues, profits, caj
expenditures, working capital and other relevaatdiess. We estimate these amounts by evaluatindgpistorical trends, current budgets,
operating plans and other industry data. If thetasare considered to be impaired, the impairmiesaitge recognized is the amount by which
asset's carrying value exceeds its estimated &dires

The timing and frequency of our impairment tediased on an ongoing assessment of triggering etfeitsould reduce the fair value of
our long-lived assets below their carrying values Wonitor our intangible and long-lived asset be¢snand conduct formal tests on at least a
annual basis or earlier when impairment indicatwespresent. We believe that the assumptions dimlates we used to value intangible and
long-lived assets were appropriate based on tleenmetion available to management. The majoritywflong-lived assets are being amortized
or depreciated over two to four years. As moshete assets are associated with technology or¢mmhtions that may change rapidly; such
changes could have an immediate impact on our mmgait analysis.

During the first and third quarters of 2012, basadictual operating results, and reductions in mament's then estimates of forecasted
operating results of the M2M Products and Soluti@perting unit principally due to updated viewscompetitive pressures impacting average
selling prices, customer product and technologgdins, and the loss of certain customers, thegaomdetermined there were sufficient
indicators of impairment present to require anrim@mpairment analysis during the respective intpdauarters.

The Company performed fair value tests with théstasce of third party independent appraisalsefmh of the Company’s purchased
intangible assets. The existing trade name acqwesdvalued using royalty rates ranging from 1%%wand discount rates ranging from
23.0% to 24.0%. The developed technologies wengedalising discount rates ranging from 20.0% to%1.0he backlog was valued using
discount rates ranging from 17.0% to 18.0%. Custaelationships were valued using discount ratagiray from 21.0% to 22.0%. All key
assumptions assumed tax rates of 40%, and thes agset assumed to have economic lives ranging &omonths to 10 years depending on
asset.

Gooduwill. Our goodwill resulted from the acquisition of ErddiM2M Products and Solutions) in the fourth quaotfe2010. In accordant
with the (FASB) Accounting Standards Codificati6A%$C”) Topic 350,Intangibles—Goodwill and OthétASC Topic 350”), we reviewed
goodwill for impairment at least annually at theyipming of the fourth quarter of each year, anderfoequently when events or changes in
circumstances occurred that indicated a poterg@iction in the fair value of the reporting unitdwe its carrying value.

ASC Topic 350 requires that goodwill and certairamngible assets be assessed for impairment usimgafae measurement techniques.
The goodwill impairment test compares the implied ¥alue of the reporting unit's goodwill with tlearrying amount of that goodwill to
measure the amount of the impairment loss, if @hg. implied fair value of goodwill is determinedthre same manner as in a business
combination. Determining the fair value of the iiegdlgoodwill is judgmental in nature and often itwes the use of significant estimates and
assumptions. These estimates and assumptions ltaxdda significant impact on whether or not an iimmpent charge is recognized and also
the magnitude of any such charge.

In order to perform the annual goodwill impairmanglysis, we are required to estimate the fairevafuour M2M Products reporting
unit. The fair value is calculated as though theWWRroducts and Solutions reporting unit were tsblel in its entirety in an orderly transact
between market participants, using an estimataioi/&lue based on a blended sum resulting fronusigeof two valuation methods. First, we
use the guideline public company method utilizimgualtiple of the reporting unit’s revenue. Secowd, perform a discounted cash flow
analysis using forward looking projections of atireate of our future operating results. These aagines use significant estimates and
assumptions, including the size and timing of padieployments by our customers and related piiojeztind timing of future cash flows,
discount rates reflecting
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the risk inherent in future cash flows, perpetuakgh rates, stage of products in development rdet@ation of appropriate market compara
and determination of whether a premium or discatould be applied to comparables. The resultamhatd fair value of our M2M Products
and Solutions reporting unit is compared to theboetk value of the reporting unit to assess whethgrimpairment exists.

Contingent ConsiderationContingent consideration is recorded at the aiiipm date estimated fair value of the contingemtment for
all acquisitions. The fair value of the contingeansideration is remeasured at each reporting gh&vith any adjustments in fair value included
in the Company’s consolidated statement of oparatio

Provision for Warranty Cost8Ve accrue warranty costs based on estimates okfutarranty related replacement, repairs or rewbrk
products. Our warranty policy generally provideg ¢mthree years of coverage for products follovtlmgydate of purchase. Our policy is to
accrue the estimated cost of warranty coveragecas@onent of cost of revenue in the consolidatatdsents of operations at the time
revenue is recognized. In estimating our futurerardy obligations we consider various relevantdestincluding the historical frequency and
volume of claims, and the cost to replace or repaiducts under warranty. The warranty provisiandier products is determined by using a
financial model to estimate future warranty co&tsr financial model takes into consideration acpraduct failure rates; estimated
replacement over the contractual warranty periegair or rework expenses; and potential risks aatatwith our different products. The risk
levels, warranty cost information, and failure satised within this model are reviewed throughoetytkar and updated, if and when, these
inputs change.

We actively engage in product improvement progrants processes to limit our warranty costs, butvaanranty obligation is affected by
the complexity of our product, product failure send costs incurred to correct those productrisluThe industry in which we operate is
subject to rapid technological change, and aswdtrege periodically introduce newer, more compperducts. Depending on the quality of our
product design and manufacturing, actual produktréarates or actual warranty costs could be natgmgreater than our estimates, which
could harm our financial condition and results pérations.

Income TaxesWe recognize federal, state and foreign curentiaibilities or assets based on our estimatexsds payable to or
refundable by tax authorities in the current fisgsdr. We also recognize federal, state and forégdarred tax liabilities or assets based on ou
estimate of future tax effects attributable to tenapy differences and carry forwards. Deferredassets and liabilities are measured using
enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxableriada the years in which those temporary differsrare expected to be recovered or settled.
Deferred tax assets are reduced by valuation afioesif, based on the consideration of all avadl@vidence, it is more-likely-than-not that
some portion of the deferred tax asset will notdadized. We evaluate deferred income taxes oragaely basis to determine if valuation
allowances are required by considering availabidexnce. If we are unable to generate sufficieniritaxable income in certain tax
jurisdictions, or if there is a material changéha actual effective tax rates or time period witivhich the underlying temporary differenc
become taxable or deductible, we could be requoédcrease our valuation allowance against ouverdedl tax assets which could result in a
decrease in our effective tax rate and an adverpadt on operating results. We will continue toleate the level of valuation allowance
required based on the remaining deferred tax assets

The American Taxpayer Relief Act of 2012, whichnsgated the United States federal research andagenent tax credit retroactively
from January 1, 2012 through December 31, 2013 neaisnacted into law until the first quarter ofl30Therefore, the expected tax benefit
resulting from such reinstatement for 2012 will hetreflected in the Company’s estimated annuakéffe tax rate until 2013.

The Company recognizes the impact of uncertainnmetax positions on the income tax return at thgelst amount that is more-likely-
than-not to be sustained upon audit by the reletaaging authority. An uncertain income tax positiifi not be recognized if it has less than a
50% likelihood of being sustained. Uncertain tagipons are recognized in the first subsequentfira reporting period in which that
threshold is met or from changes in circumstanaeh as the expiration of applicable statutes oftéitions.
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Litigation. The Company is currently involved in certain legedceedings. The Company will record a loss whenGbmpany
determines information available prior to the issmeof the financial statements indicates the ips®th probable and estimable. Where a
liability is probable and there is a range of eatid loss with no best estimate in the range, tragany records the minimum estimated
liability related to the claim. As additional infoation becomes available, the Company assessestintial liability related to the Company’s
pending litigation and revises its estimates, dassary. The Company’s policy is to expense litigatosts as incurred.

Share-based Compensation Expefge.have stock incentive plans under which incerntteek options and restricted stock units have
been granted to employees and non-employee membeus Board of Directors. We also had an emplasteek purchase plan for all eligible
employees. Share-based payments to employeesjimglgrants of employee stock options, restrictedksunits and employee stock purchase
rights, are recognized in the financial statembated upon their respective grant date fair values.

We estimate the fair value of stock option awarul$ stock purchase rights on the date of grant usmgption-pricing model. The value
of the portion of the award that is ultimately es{@el to vest is principally recognized as expeasably over the requisite service periods. We
have estimated the fair value of stock optionsstndk purchase rights as of the date of grantsuraption using the Black-Scholes option
pricing model, which was developed for use in eating the value of traded options that have noingsestrictions and that are freely
transferable. The Black-Scholes model considersngnother factors, the expected life of the awaudi the expected volatility of our stock
price. We evaluate the assumptions used to vabuk sfptions and stock purchase rights on a quabasis. Although the Black-Scholes
model is an acceptable model, the fair values geeeéby the model may not be indicative of the @dir values of our equity awards, as it
does not consider other factors important to ttavsards to employees, such as continued employpergdic vesting requirements and
limited transferability.

Compensation cost associated with grants of réstristock units are measured at fair value, whashHhistorically been the closing price
of the Company’s stock on the date of the grant.

ltem 7A.  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About MagkRisk
Interest Rate Risk

Our investment portfolio is maintained in accordamgth our investment policy that defines allowainleestments, specifies credit
quality standards and limits our credit exposurartg single issuer. The fair value of our cash esjants and marketable debt securities is
subject to change as a result of changes in mariezest rates and investment risk related toghears’ credit worthiness. At December 31,
2012, we had $55.3 million in cash, cash equivalentd marketable securities, all of which are dtatdair value. Changes in market interest
rates would not be expected to have a material ébguathe fair value of our $16.0 million in casfuevalents at December 31, 2012, as these
consisted of money market funds with the valuelladfeour cash equivalents determined based on éL&V inputs, which consist of quoted
prices in active markets for identical assets.

At December 31, 2012, substantially all of our nedakle securities are invested in fixed income petal As such, our investments in
fixed-rate instruments carry a degree of interat risk. The market value of fixed-rate securities/ be adversely impacted due to an increa:s
in interest rates, while floating rate securitiemynproduce less income than expected if interéss decline. Due in part to these factors, our
future investment market values and income maysfaidit of expectations due to changes in inteegssror if the decline in fair value of our
publicly traded debt investments is judged to eepthan-temporary. Using a model that estimatesijgregate yield to maturity of our
investment portfolio, we estimate that 100 basistiacrease or decrease in interest rates wowdgelker, decrease or increase, respectively,
our $39.3 million in marketable securities by apjmmately $393,000.

However, because any debt securities we hold assifiled as available-for-sale (within the mearohédSC Topic 320), no gains or
losses are realized in the income statement doleaioges in interest rates unless
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such securities are sold prior to maturity or uslésclines in value are determined to be other-thanporary. These securities are reported at
fair value with the related unrealized gains arebés included in accumulated other comprehensiogaria (loss), a component of shareholder:
equity, net of tax.

We do not utilize derivative instruments or othieaficial contracts to manage our exposure to clsimgaterest rates in our investment
portfolio.

Credit Risk

We maintain our cash and cash equivalents and atketable debt securities, which include variowsiggy holdings, types and
maturities, with a number of financial institutiomss of the date of this report, we have not idediany significant credit risk associated with
any of the financial institutions that maintain qartfolio of cash and cash equivalents and ouketable securities. However, our ability to
support our working capital needs depends, in pargur available cash, cash equivalents, and rtabsleesecurities. As a result, any signific
decrease in the value of our investments may nadiieadversely impact our ability to support ourrkiag capital needs.

We place our cash investments in instruments thegt wredit quality standards specified in our itwent policy guidelines at the time
the investments are made. At December 31, 2012awe cash and cash equivalents of $16.0 milliorthi3f$16.0 million, $12.5 million is
held in cash demand deposits and $3.5 million sheguivalents was held in money market investmeemdsU.S. Treasury securities. Money
market funds attempt to maintain a net asset valulAV, of $1 per unit of investment. Should thederlying investments held by these
money market funds suffer significant losses tokaeavalue due to interest rate changes or percawadterparty risk, the NAV of these
money market funds may suffer declines below thgeted $1 NAV. We hold money market funds thateéaggbalance of investment return
and preservation of invested capital through difiecsholdings. As such, we do not believe we cotlsehave significant exposure to NAV
declines for our money market holdings.

At December 31, 2012, we had $39.3 million investedur portfolio of marketable securities. Ouréstment policy guidelines limit the
amount of credit exposure to any one issue, issusmpe of instrument. The fair value of our magd#é debt securities at December 31, 2012
was determined based on “Level 2” inputs, whichendgrived based on quoted prices for identicalmilar assets, which had few transactions
near the measurement period (see Note 3 to ouplidated financial statements).

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk

We generate Euro-denominated accounts receivaie $ales to customers that are members of the Bandgnion. During the year
ended December 31, 2012, Euro-denominated reveas@pproximately $1.0 million which represents s 1% of our total net revenues
compared to less than 1% in the same period last yd¢though we are exposed to market risk ari§iogn changes in foreign currency
exchange rates, principally the change in the vafuke Euro versus the U.S. Dollar, as Euro-demnateid revenue is not considered
significant, we did not enter into any foreign eangje contracts during the year ended December032. 2 our net revenues increase in the
foreseeable future, we may enter into foreign emgkacontracts to mitigate this risk. These forwardency foreign exchange contracts would
cover a portion, generally 50% to 80%, but may cayeto 100%, of our Euro-based financial assets.

At December 31, 2012, we had no outstanding forwardracts. During the year ended December 31,,20&2ecorded approximately
$5,000 in unrealized foreign currency gains relatedur outstanding Euro-denominated accounts vabés balances. Both the unrealized gair
on the outstanding forward contracts and the uimesdigains on outstanding Euro-denominated reckigakere recorded in other income
(expense), net in our consolidated statement ofatipas.
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Assuming a translation of our Euro-denominated merecfor the year ended December 31, 2012 at aagedturo-to-U.S. Dollar
exchange rate of $1.29 and a uniform ten percezngthening or weakening of this exchange rategstienate that income before income te
for the year ended December 31, 2012 would increadecrease, respectively, by approximately $1@M,This analysis does not give effec
any forward currency foreign exchange contractsriey be used to hedge foreign currency risk.

Actual gains and losses in the future may diffetamally from the hypothetical gains and lossesused above based on fluctuations in
interest and foreign currency exchange rates andaual exposure and hedging transactions.

Our sales to non-European Union countries are &jlgpidenominated in U.S. Dollars. Competitive cdiutis in the markets in which we
operate may limit our ability to increase pricestia event of adverse changes in currency exchage Sales of these products are affected
by the value of the U.S. Dollar relative to otharrencies, and in particular, the Euro. Any longrtestrengthening of the U.S. Dollar could
depress the demand for these U.S. manufacturedigiodeduce sales, or cause us to reduce peseliiilg prices.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Dz

The index to our consolidated financial statemant$ the Report of Independent Registered Publioating Firm appears in Part IV of
this report.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants orcdanting and Financial Disclosure
None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and proceduresléfised in Rule 13a-15(e) under the Securities Brgle Act of 1934, as amended)
that are designed to provide reasonable assurbaateformation required to be disclosed in ourrépto the SEC is recorded, processed,
summarized and reported within the time periodsi§ipe in the SEC’s rules and forms, and that smétrmation is accumulated and
communicated to our management, including our praiexecutive officer and our principal financald accounting officer, as appropriate
allow timely decisions regarding required discl@sur

As required by SEC rules, we carried out an evadoatnder the supervision and with the participaf our management, including our
principal executive officer and our principal fir@al and accounting officer, of the effectivenegthe design and operation of our disclosure
controls and procedures as of December 31, 20&2nt of the period covered by this report. Basethe foregoing, our principal executive
officer and principal financial and accounting offf concluded that our disclosure controls andqmoces were effective as of December 31,
2012.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

An evaluation was also performed under the superviznd with the participation of our managememt|uding our principal executive
officer and our principal financial and accountffcer, of any change in our internal control ofi@ancial reporting that occurred during our
last fiscal quarter and that has materially affécte is reasonably likely to materially affectranternal control over financial reporting. The
evaluation did not identify any change in our intdrcontrol over financial reporting that occurdding our latest fiscal quarter and that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to evally affect, our internal control over financigporting.
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Management’'s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finah@aorting, as such term is defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f). dternal control over financial reporting is a pess designed to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financigdaging and the preparation of the financial staets for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles. Becab@is mherent limitations, internal control ovéndincial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluatibaffectiveness to future periods are subjechéorisk that internal controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, bthitbalegree of compliance with policies and procesl may deteriorate.

Under the supervision and with the participatiomof management, including our principal executffecer and principal financial
officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effemti@ss of our internal control over financial repaytased on the framework set forth in
Internal Contro—Integrated Frameworissued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidribe Treadway Commission. Based on our
evaluation under the frameworklimernal Control—Integrated Frameworlour management concluded that our internal cbotrer financial
reporting was effective as of December 31, 2012.

Ernst & Young LLP, the independent registered guaticounting firm that audited the consolidatedficial statements included in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K, has also audited otarival control over financial reporting as of Det®mn31, 2012, as stated in their report
which is included herein.

ltem 9B.  Other Information
None
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Novatel Wireless, Inc

We have audited Novatel Wireless Inc.’s internaitom over financial reporting as of December 3112, based on criteria established ir
Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by@oenmittee of Sponsoring Organizations of the TweadCommission (the COSO
criteria). Novatel Wireless, Inc.’s managemenesponsible for maintaining effective internal cohtver financial reporting, and for its
assessment of the effectiveness of internal cootret financial reporting included in the accompagyManagement’s Report on Internal
Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsipiig to express an opinion on the company’s infezaatrol over financial reporting based
on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stedwof the Public Company Accounting Oversighti@d&/nited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet dndbtain reasonable assurance about whetheatigianternal control over financial
reporting was maintained in all material respe@is: audit included obtaining an understanding térimal control over financial reporting,
assessing the risk that a material weakness etasting and evaluating the design and operatifegtfeness of internal control based on the
assessed risk, and performing such other procedsre®& considered necessary in the circumstancefeliéve that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company'’s internal control over financial repodiis a process designed to provide reasonablesaesuregarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of finahstatements for external purposes in accordanttegeinerally accepted accounting princip

A company'’s internal control over financial repodiincludes those policies and procedures thai€ftrin to the maintenance of records that,
in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reftbettransactions and dispositions of the assdtseocfompany; (2) provide reasonable assuranc
that transactions are recorded as necessary tatp@aparation of financial statements in accor@anwith generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditureb®ttbmpany are being made only in accordance witioaizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasanabburance regarding prevention or timely detectfainauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could lzaneterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or d¢taisstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periogssabject to the risk that controls may becomdeénaate because of changes in condition
that the degree of compliance with the policieprocedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Novatel Wireless, Inc. maintaingdall material respects, effective internal cohtreer financial reporting as of
December 31, 2012, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@nited States), the
consolidated balance sheets of Novatel Wireless,ds of December 31, 2012 and 2011, and the detatesolidated statements of operations,
comprehensive income (loss), stockholderglity, and cash flows for each of the three yeatise period ended December 31, 2012 of No
Wireless, Inc. and our report dated March 1, 20&8essed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/s/ ERNST & Y OUNGLLP

San Diego, California
March 1, 2013
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PART IlI

Item 10.  Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Govere

(a) Identification of DirectorsThe information under the caption “Election of Qiters” appearing in the Proxy Statement to be fited
the 2013 Annual Meeting of Stockholders is incogped herein by reference.

(b) Identification of Executive OfficersThe information under the caption “Executive ©dfis” appearing in the Proxy Statement to be
filed for the 2013 Annual Meeting of Stockholdessrnicorporated herein by reference.

(c) Compliance with Section 16(a) of the Exchange. Atte information under the captioBéction 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Repor
Compliance” appearing in the Proxy Statement téilbé for the 2013 Annual Meeting of Stockholdesgricorporated herein by reference.

(d) Code of EthicsWe have adopted_a Code of Business Conduct andsfithich, together with the policies referred to theyés
applicable to all of our directors, officers and@oayees. The Code of Business Conduct and Ethicsesded to cover all areas of professiona
conduct, including conflicts of interest, disclosubligations, insider trading and confidentiabimhation, as well as compliance with all laws,
rules and regulations applicable to our businessewtourage all employees, officers and directopamptly report any violations of any of
our policies. The Code of Business Conduct andcktisi posted on our websitevaw.novatelwireless.coim the Investor tab under
“Corporate Governance.” In the event that a suliseaamendment to, or a waiver from, a provisiothaf Code of Business Conduct and
Ethics that applies to our principal executive a#fior principal financial and accounting officemiecessary, we intend to post such informi
on our website.

(e) Audit CommitteeThe information under the caption “The Board, Its@nittees and Its Compensation—Audit Committee eaping
in the Proxy Statement to be filed for the 2013 BairMeeting of Stockholders is incorporated hetsineference.

ltem 11.  Executive Compensatio

The information under the headings “Executive Cons¢ion,” “The Board, Its Committees and Its Congagion—Director
Compensation,” “Compensation Discussion and Analyand “Compensation Committee Report” appearintpéProxy Statement to be filed
for the 2013 Annual Meeting of Stockholders is ipmrated herein by reference.

Item 12.  Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners alanagement and Related Stockholder Mattt

The information under the headings “Security Owhigref Management and Certain Beneficial Ownersd daquity Compensation Pl:
Information” appearing in the Proxy Statement tdileal for the 2013 Annual Meeting of Stockhold&sncorporated herein by reference.

ltem 13.  Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, adaector Independence

The information under the headings “Review and Appl of Transactions with Related Parties” and “Broard, Its Committees and Its
Compensation—Director Independence” appearingerPttoxy Statement to be filed for the 2013 Annuaklihg of Stockholders is
incorporated herein by reference.

Item 14.  Principal Accountant Fees and Servict

The information under the heading “Independent ieuktcountants” appearing in the Proxy Statemerediled for the 2013 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders is incorporated hereindfgmrence.
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PART IV

Item 15.  Exhibits and Financial Statement Scheduli
(a) 1. Index to consolidated financial statements

See Index to consolidated financial statementsage --1.
2. Index to financial statement schedules

The following financial statement schedules forybkars ended December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010dsbeuead in conjunction with
the consolidated financial statements, and relatees thereto.

Schedule Page
Schedule [I—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts F-35

Schedules not listed above have been omitted betheag are not applicable or are not required eiinfformation required to be set forth
therein is included in the consolidated financtatements or related notes thereto.

(b) Exhibits

The following Exhibits are filed as part of, or arporated by reference into this report:

Exhibit

Number Description

2.1 Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of Noverap2010, by and between Novatel Wireless, Inc. |&mAcquisition
Corp. and Enfora, Inc. (incorporated by referemcExhibit 2.1 to the Company’s Current Report onnr@-K, filed on
November 10, 2010

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporatincofporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the @any’s Annual Repo
on Form 1K for the year ended December 31, 2000, filed M&£h2001)

3.2 Certificate of Amendment to Amended and Restateatifi@ate of Incorporation (incorporated by refecerto Exhibit 3.1 to
the Compan’'s Quarterly Report on Form -Q for the period ended September 30, 2002, filededer 14, 2002

3.3 Certificate of Amendment to Amended and Restatatificate of Incorporation (incorporated by refecerto Exhibit 3.2 to
the Company’s Amendment No. 1 to Form 10-K on Faf¥K/A for the year ended December 31, 2003, fNeatch 31,
2004).

3.4 Amended and Restated Certificate of DesignatioBesfes A Convertible Preferred Stock (incorpordtgdeference to
Exhibit 3.4 to the Company’s Amendment No. 1 torRdi0-K on Form 10-K/A for the year ended DecemtlerZ®03, filed
March 31, 2004)

3.5 Certificate of Designation of Series B ConvertiBieferred Stock (incorporated by reference to EkBib to the Companyg’
Amendment No. 1 to Form -K on Form 1I-K/A for the year ended December 31, 2003, filed dha31, 2004)

3.6 Bylaws (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2te Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for tlearyended
December 31, 2000, filed on March 27, 20(

4.1 Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreerdated as of June 15, 1999, by and among the Comgrahcertain of

its stockholders (incorporated by reference to BixHi0.4 to the Company’s Registration Statemenfonm S-1 (No. 333-
42570), filed July 28, 2000, as amendt
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Exhibit

Number

4.2

4.3

4.4

10.1*

10.2*

10.3*

10.4*

10.5*

10.6*

10.7*

10.8*

10.9*

10.10*

10.11*

Description

Form of Securities Purchase Agreement enterednntonnection with the Comparg/2003 Series B Convertible Preferred S
Financing (incorporated by reference to Exhibitt.the Compar’s Current Report on Forn-K, filed March 28, 2003)

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of Marcgi2023, entered into in connection with the Compaa903 Series B
Convertible Preferred Stock Financing (incorpordigdeference to Exhibit 4.8 to the Company’s CoirfiReport on Form 8-K,
filed March 28, 2003)

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of JanLiay004, entered into in connection with the ComyfaJanuary 2004
Common Stock and Warrant Financing Transactioroiparated by reference to Exhibit 10.21 to the Canys Annual Report
on Form 1+K for the year ended December 31, 2003, filed Mdrgh2004)

Amended and Restated 1997 Employee Stock Option(P1897 Plan”) (incorporated by reference to Exhil®.1 to the
Compan’s Registration Statement on Fori-1 (No. 33:-42570), filed July 28, 2000 as amends

Amended and Restated Novatel Wireless, Inc. 2006kShcentive Plan (2000 Plan”incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1!
to the Compar’s Quarterly Report on Form -Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2007, filed Augug007).

Form of Executive Officer Stock Option Agreementlenthe 2000 Plan (incorporated by reference tak#xh0.3 to the
Compan’s Annual Report on Form -K for the year ended December 31, 2005, filed Mag¢h2006)

Form of Director Stock Option Agreement under tB8@Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 16.the Company’s
Annual Report on Form -K for the year ended December 31, 2005, filed Margh2006)

Form of Amendment of Stock Option Agreements, ddtdg 20, 2006, by and between the Company ancb@gxi with respect
to the 1997 Plan (incorporated by reference to lE&hD.2 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on FAOGH) for the period end¢
September 30, 2006, filed November 9, 20

Form of Amendment of Stock Option Agreements, ddtdg 20, 2006, by and between the Company ancb@gxi with respect
to the 2000 Plan (incorporated by reference to lE&hD.3 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on FAOGH) for the period end¢
September 30, 2006, filed November 9, 20

Form of Amendment of Stock Option Agreements, ddtdg 20, 2006, by and between the Company ancb@gxi with respect
to the 2000 Plan and grants made pursuant theré@004 and subsequently (incorporated by referem&shibit 10.4 to the
Compan’s Quarterly Report on Form -Q for the period ended September 30, 2006, filedeNter 9, 2006

Amended and Restated Novatel Wireless, Inc. 200pI&rae Stock Purchase Plan (incorporated by referem Appendix A to
the Compan’s Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filed May 2, 2C

Form of Restricted Share Award Agreement for rettd stock granted to non-employee directors (pa@ted by reference to
Exhibit 10.10 to the Compa’s Quarterly Report on Form -Q for the period ended June 30, 2006, filed Au§u&006).

Form of Restricted Share Award Agreement for rettd stock granted to executive officers (incorpeaady reference to Exhit
10.11 to the Compars Quarterly Report on Form -Q for the period ended June 30, 2006, filed Au§u&006).

Form of Indemnification Agreement by and between@ompany and each of its executive officers anettbrs (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s QerytReport on Form 10-Q for the period ended Septr 30, 2009, filed
November 2, 2009
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Exhibit

Number

10.12*

10.13*

10.14*

10.15*

10.16*

10.17

10.18

21**
23.1**
24
31.1*
31.2**
32.1*%*

32.2%*

101

Description

Form of Change of Control Letter Agreement by aatiMeen the Company and certain of its executiviee (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s QuaytB&port on Form 10-Q for the period ended June804, filed August 16,
2004).

Employment Agreement, dated November 2, 2007, loybetween Peter V. Leparulo and the Company (irmatpd by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s QuaytBéport on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended Septerdd, 2007, filed
November 9, 2007

2009 Omnibus Incentive Compensation Plan (incoedray reference to Appendix B to the Company’sxPi8tatement on
Schedule 14A, filed May 2, 2011

2010 Senior Management Incentive Plan (incorporbyedeference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s €ntReport on Form 8-
K, filed September 13, 201(

Form of Severance Agreement between Novatel Wieles. and each of Kenneth G. Leddon and RobeHadiley
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to tlmmpanys Current Report on Forn-K, filed August 2, 201C

2011 Senior Management Incentive Plan (incorporbyedeference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Qery Report on Form
1C-Q for the period ended June 30, 2011, filed on Au§u2011)

2012 Senior Management Incentive Plan (incorporbjegeference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s €ntReport on Form 8-
K, filed July 6, 2012)

Subsidiaries of Novatel Wireless, It

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accourfing.

Power of Attorney (See signature pag

Certification of our Principal Executive Officer ggted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sark-Oxley Act of 2002
Certification of our Principal Financial Officer apted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sark-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursudo 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursoa®éttion 906 of the
Sarbane-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of Principal Financial Officer purquao 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursoadécttion 906 of the
Sarbane-Oxley Act of 2002

The following financial statements and footnotesifrthe Novatel Wireless, Inc. Annual Report on FAO¥K for the year ended
December 31, 2012 formatted in eXtensible Busifegsorting Language (XBRL): (i) Consolidated Balagteets; (ii)
Consolidated Statements of Operations; (iii) Codstéd Statements of Comprehensive Income (Los3)Consolidated
Statements of Stockholders’ Equity; (v) Consolida&tatements of Cash Flows; and (vi) the NotesasGlidated Financial
Statements

* Management contract, compensatory plan or arrange
**  Filed herewitr
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Regyisthas duly caused this report tc
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theredatyp authorized.

Date: March 1, 201 N ovATEL W IRELESS, INC.

By: /s|  PETERL EPARULO
Peter Leparulo
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

POWER OF ATTORNEY

Know all men by these presents, that each persasevkignature appears below constitutes and aggéater Leparulo and Kenneth
Leddon, or either of them, as his true and lawfidraeys-in-fact and agents, with full power of stitution, for him and in his name, place and
stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any dresheendments to this Annual Report on Form 104 to file the same, with all exhibits
thereto, and other documents in connection thehewiith the Securities and Exchange Commissiomtgrg unto said attorneys-in-fact and
agents, full power and authority to do and perfeanh and every act and thing requisite and negessae done in connection therewith as
fully to all intents and purposes as he might arldalo in person, hereby ratifying and confirmiditiaat said attorneys-in-fact and agents, or
their substitute or substitutes may lawfully dacause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgé Act of 1934, this Annual Report on Form 10ds been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of the Registrant amthie capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title. Date
/s/ PETERL EPARULO Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (Princi March 1, 2013
Peter Leparulo Executive Officer,
/s/ KENNETHL EDDON Senior Vice President and Chief Financial March 1, 2013
Kenneth Leddon Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Office
/sl  RusseLLC. GERNS Director March 1, 2013
Russell C. Gerns
/sl JAMESL EDWITH Director March 1, 2013
James Ledwith
/s/  JoHND. W AKELIN Director March 1, 2013
John D. Wakelin
/s/  DAvID A. W ERNER Director March 1, 2013
David A. Werner
/s  SUE S WENSON Director March 1, 2013
Sue Swensol
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Novatel Wireless, Inc

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of Novatel Wireless, Inc. as of Decer@beR012 and 2011, and the
related consolidated statements of operations, celmepsive income (loss), stockholders’ equity aashdlows for each of the three years in
the period ended December 31, 2012. Our auditsimtaded the financial statement schedule for edc¢he three years in the period ended
December 31, 2012 listed in the index at Item 15{hpse financial statements and schedule areegiponsibility of the Company’s
management. Our responsibility is to express aniopion these financial statements and schedukedbas our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversighafBioUnited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the &mdbtain reasonable assurance about whethdindrecial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on tldasis, evidence supporting the amounts and digis in the financial statements. An a
also includes assessing the accounting princiged and significant estimates made by managenenelhas evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referedlbove present fairly, in all material respedts,¢onsolidated financial position of
Novatel Wireless, Inc. at December 31, 2012 and 28fd the consolidated results of its operationbits cash flows for each of the thi
years in the period ended December 31, 2012, ifoomity with U.S. generally accepted accountingipiples. Also, in our opinion, the relat
financial statement schedule for each of the tgezes in the period ended December 31, 2012, wbesidered in relation to the basic finan
statements taken as a whole, presents fairly imaterial respects the information set forth therei

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasdz the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@/nited States), Novatel
Wireless, Inc.’s internal control over financiapoeting as of December 31, 2012, based on theieriéstablished in Internal Contrivitegratec
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoringa@mations of the Treadway Commission and our ttegetied March 1, 2013 expressed
an unqualified opinion thereon.

/s/ ERNST & Y OUNGLLP

San Diego, California
March 1, 2013
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NOVATEL WIRELESS, INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except per share data)

ASSETS

Current asset:

Cash and cash equivalel

Marketable securitie

Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubfttounts of $627 in 2012 and $245 in 2!

Inventories

Deferred tax assets, r

Prepaid expenses and otl

Total current asse

Property and equipment, net of accumulated depregiaf $59,702 in 2012 and $59,217 in 2(
Marketable securitie
Intangible assets, net of accumulated amortizaifc$l1,951 in 2012 and $10,899 in 2(
Goodwill
Deferred tax assets, r
Other asset

Total asset
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS ’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl
Accrued expense

Total current liabilities
Other lon¢-term liabilities

Total liabilities

Stockholder' equity:
Preferred stock, par value $0.001; 2,000 shard®&dned and none outstandi

Common stock, par value $0.001; 50,000 shares amtith 33,655 and 32,262 shares issued and

outstanding at December 31, 2012 and 2011, respéc
Additional paic-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive income (li
Accumulated defici

Treasury stock at cost; 2,436 common shares atrileme31, 2012 and 20:
Total stockholder equity
Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity

See accompanying notes to consolidated financsgistents

F-3

As of December 31

2012

$ 16,04«
38,06«
42,65:
39,01¢

12¢

4,82¢
140,73:
15,22¢
1,201
3,16:

0]

584

628

$ 161,53:

$ 45,73:
27,80(
73,53

2,55
76,08

0

34
438,47
14
(328,079
110,44
(25,000
85,44

2011

$ 47,06
28,26
36,84
42,27

2,011
3,71
160,18
18,49¢
13,49
35,70:
19,77.
1,02

504
$249.17¢

$ 54,03(
25,04«
79,07«

4,08(
83,15«

0

32
429,81:
®
(238,81)
191,02!
(25,000
166,02!
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Net revenue
Cost of net revenue
Gross profit
Operating costs and expens
Research and developmt
Sales and marketir
General and administrati
Goodwill and intangible assets impairm
Amortization of purchased intangible ass
Total operating costs and expen
Operating los!
Other income (expense
Interest income (expense), |
Other income (expense), r
Loss before income tax
Income tax provision (benefi
Net loss
Per share dati

Net loss per shar
Basic and dilutel

NOVATEL WIRELESS, INC.

(in thousands, except per share data)

Weighted average shares used in computation of basi diluted net loss per sha

Basic and dilutes

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010
$344,28¢  $402,86.  $338,94
271,84 318,27 272,644
72,44: 84,59; 66,29
60,42: 61,39: 48,90¢
27,50: 29,83( 20,97¢
22,66¢ 21,60( 21,23
49,52 3,271 0
1,074 2,22( 17¢
161,18 118,31¢ 91,29¢
(88,747 (33,72) (25,007)
291 384 (2,519)
(209) (1,052) 1,96¢
(88,65¢) (34,39 (25,55
611 (9,502 7,89:
$(89,260  $(24,89)  $(33,45()
$ (279 $ (079 $ (1.06
32,85: 32,04 31,49«

See accompanying notes to consolidated financsients
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NOVATEL WIRELESS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LO SS)
(in thousands)

Year Ended December 31
2012 2011 2010

Net loss $(89,26¢€) $(24,897) $(33,45()
Unrealized gain (loss) on cash equivalents and etablke securities, net of ti 22 (29 6
Total comprehensive lo: $(89,24¢) $(24,927) $(33,449)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financsgsients
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NOVATEL WIRELESS, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
(in thousands)

Balance, December 31, 2009

Exercise of stock options, vesting of restrictemtkt
units and shares issued under employee stock
purchase pla

Net tax effect from stock options exercis

Sharebased compensatic

Net loss

Other comprehensive incor

Balance, December 31, 20

Exercise of stock options, vesting of restrictemtkt
units and shares issued under employee stock
purchase pla

Taxes withheld on net settled vesting of restricted
stock units

Net tax effect from stock options exercis

Shar+-based compensatic

Net loss

Other comprehensive lo

Balance, December 31, 20

Exercise of stock options, vesting of restrictestkt
units and shares issued under employee stock
purchase pla

Taxes withheld on net settled vesting of restricted
stock units

Sharebased compensatic

Net loss

Other comprehensive incor

Balance, December 31, 20

Common Stock

Accumulated
Other

Total

Additional Accumulated Comprehensive  Stockholders’
Paid-in Treasury

Shares Amount Capital Stock Deficit Income (Loss) Equity
31,090 $ 31 $416,57¢ $(25,000 $(180,47() $ 15 $ 211,15
76C 1 1,49( 0 0 0 1,491
0 0 (270) 0 0 0 (270)
0 0 6,471 0 0 0 6,471
0 0 0 0 (33,45() 0 (33,45()
0 0 0 0 6 6
31,85: 32 42427 (25,000 (213,92 21 185,40
41C 0 504 0 0 0 504
0 0 (700 0 0 0 (700)
0 0 (244) 0 0 0 (244)
0 0 5,98: 0 0 0 5,98
0 0 0 0 (24,897) 0 (24,89))
0 0 0 0 0 (29 (29)
32,26: 32  429,81: (25,000 (238,81 (8) 166,02!
1,39: 2 1,591 0 0 0 1,59¢
0 0 (4379 0 0 0 (437)
0 0 7,50( 0 0 0 7,50(
0 0 0 0 (89,266 0 (89,266
0 0 0 0 0 22 22
33,65F $ 34 $438,47. $(25,000 $(328,07) $ 14 $ 85,44

See accompanying notes to consolidated financsients
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NOVATEL WIRELESS, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)

Cash flows from operating activitie
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash plexviby (used in) operating activiti¢
Amortization of debt issuance co:
Loan fees recognized on extinguishment of
Depreciation and amortizatic
Loss on goodwill and purchased intangible assepsimment
Impairment loss on equipment and software licensngible asse!
Provision for bad deb
Net impairment loss on marketable securi
Inventory provisior
Shar-based compensation expel
Excess tax benefits from equity based compens
Non-cash income tax expense (bene
Changes in assets and liabiliti
Accounts receivabl
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other as
Accounts payabl
Accrued expenses, income taxes, and ¢
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activi
Cash flows from investing activitie
Purchases of property and equipm
Acquisition of business, net of cash acqui
Purchases of intangible ass
Purchases of marketable securi
Marketable securities maturities / se
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activi
Cash flows from financing activitie
Proceeds from the issuance of s-term debt, net of issuance co
Principal repayments of sh-term debt
Principal payments under capital lease obligat
Proceeds from stock option exercises and ESPFf teetes paid on vested restricted stock u
Excess tax benefits from stock options exerc
Deposit of restricted func
Remittance from restricted fun
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activi
Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equts:
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of pe
Cash and cash equivalents, end of pe

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow informat
Cash paid during the year f

Interest

Income taxe:
Supplemental disclosures of r-cash investing activitie

Building rent incentives to fund leasehold improweesns
Supplemental disclosures of r-cash financing activities

Marketable equity securities received in settlenoémtote receivabl

Accrued debt issuance co

See accompanying notes to consolidated financsistents.
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Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010
$(89,266) $(24,897) $ (33,45()
0 0 541

0 0 2,37(
12,33; 17,86¢ 11,71
49,52; 3,271 0
10C 20z 167

43¢ 4C 141

39 34¢€ 0
2,84: 68¢ 1,87¢
7,50( 5,98: 6,471

0 0 (112)

462 (9,185 7,76¢
(6,249 26,43 (19,969
42C 122 (9,527)
(1,23) 3,661 (2,467
(10,439 (24,299 46,02(
3,63¢ (1,78 (5,33))
(29,879 (1,53)) 6,211
(4,579 (5,987 (10,789
0 0 (72,24Y)

(1049 (284) (110
(44,219 (36,992 (178,71)
46,69¢ 74,92. 174,28
(2,209 31,65¢ (87,569
14,00¢ 12,00( 27,41
(14,000 (12,000 (30,000
(46) (109) (139
1,16€ (196) 1,491

0 0 11z

0 0 (188,89()

0 0 188,89

1,12( (308) (1,116
(63) (129 77
(31,029 29,69 (82,65()
47,086¢ 17,37 100,02
$ 16,04« $ 47,06¢ $ 17,37
$ 17 $ 8 $ 181
$ 104 $ 11z $  29¢
$ 0 $ 1,86¢ $ 0
$ 0 $ 38 $ 0
$ 0 $ 0 $ 32
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NOVATEL WIRELESS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Nature of Business and Significant Accounting Polies

Novatel Wireless, Inc. (the “Company,” “our” or “§ds a provider of wireless broadband access smistfor the worldwide mobile
communications market. Our broad range of prodmétipally includes intelligent mobile hotspotsSB modems, embedded PCI and
wireless PC-card modems, and communications anécappns software. In addition, through our acdios of Enfora, Inc. (“Enfora”) on
November 30, 2010, we provide a-management solutions utilizing wireless technolagg machine-to-machine (“M2M”) communications
devices.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include te®ants of the Company and its wholly-owned subsiés. All intercompany
transactions and balances have been eliminateshsotidation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conftymiith accounting principles generally acceptethia United States of America
(“GAAP”) requires management to make estimatesamstimptions. These estimates and assumptions tiféeported amounts of assets,
liabilities, revenues and expenses, and disclosucentingent liabilities. Actual results could féif materially from these estimates. Significant
estimates include allowance for doubtful accouativable, provision for excess and obsolete imrgnvaluation of intangible and long-lived
assets including goodwill valuation, contingentsideration, litigation, provision for warranty cesincome taxes and share-based
compensation expense.

Difficult global economic conditions, tight creditarkets, volatile equity, foreign currency and gyemarkets and declines in consumer
spending have combined to increase the uncertaihgrent in these estimates and assumptions. Assfelvents and their effects cannot be
determined with precision, actual results couldedi§ignificantly from these estimates, particylaHose related to the condition of the
economy.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include highly liquicsiments with original maturities of three month¢ess at the time of acquisition. C.
and cash equivalents consist of demand depositg,rei&ury securities, and money market funds. @adlcash equivalents are recorded at
market value, which approximates cost. Gains asskle associated with the Company’s foreign currdeapminated demand deposits are
recorded as a component of other income (expense).

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts Receivable

The Company provides an allowance for its accoreusivable for estimated losses that may resuftt fits customers’ inability to pay.
The Company determines the amount of the allowaganalyzing known uncollectible accounts, agee@inables, economic conditions,
historical losses, and changes in customer payoyetgs and our customers’ credit-worthiness. Amslaiier determined and specifically
identified to be uncollectible are charged or weritbff against this allowance. To minimize the liikeod of uncollectibility, the Company
reviews its customers’ credit-worthiness periodichhsed on credit scores generated by indepemdedit reporting services, its experience
with its customers and the economic condition ®tiistomers’ industries. Material differences mesutt in the amount and timing of expense
for any period if the Company were to make difféjedgments or utilize different estimates.
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Marketable Securities

Marketable securities predominantly consist of hidiguid debt investments with a maturity of greathan three months when
purchased. The Company holds an insignificant amoumarketable equity securities. All of the Compa marketable debt securities are
treated as “available-for-sale.” While it is ther@many’s intent to hold its debt securities untiltardy, the Company may sell certain securities
for cash flow purposes. Thus, the Company’s mabitetdebt securities are classified as availableséde and are carried on the balance sh
fair value with the related unrealized gains argbés included in accumulated other comprehensbaaria (loss), a component of stockholders
equity. Realized gains and losses on the sale dfetable securities are determined using the spadéntification method. The Company
determines the fair value of its financial asseis labilities by reference to the hierarchy ofutgwhich consists of three levels: Level 1 fair
values are valuations based on quoted market pricastive markets for identical assets or liat@fitthat the entity has the ability to access;
Level 2 fair values are those valuations basedumtegl prices for similar assets or liabilities, tpebprices in markets that are not active, or
other inputs that are observable or can be coretbdrby observable data for substantially thetéuth of the assets or liabilities; and Level 3
fair values are valuations based on inputs thasapgorted by little or no market activity and the¢ significant to the fair value of the assel
liabilities.

All securities whose maturity or sale is expectéithiwy one year are classified as “current” on tbasolidated balance sheet. All other
securities are classified as “long-term” on thesadidated balance sheet.

Inventories and Provision for Excess and Obsoletehtory

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (finsfirst-out method) or market. Shipping and hamglicosts are classified as a component
of cost of net revenues in the consolidated statésraf operations. The Company reviews the compsnafrits inventory and its inventory
purchase commitments on a regular basis for exaed®bsolete inventory based on estimated futiagauand sales. Write-downs in inventory
value or losses on inventory purchase commitmeggend on various items, including factors relatedustomer demand, economic and
competitive conditions, technological advancesew product introductions by the Company or its comdrs that vary from its current
expectations. Whenever inventory is written downe® cost basis is established and the inventamptisubsequently written up if market
conditions improve.

The Company believes that, when made, the estimiatsin calculating the inventory provision ar@asanable and properly reflect the
risk of excess and obsolete inventory. If custodemand for the Company’s inventory is substantigibg than its estimates, inventory write-
downs may be required, which could have a matadakrse effect on its consolidated financial staiis

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are initially stated at eost depreciated using the straight-line methodt &guipment, computer equipment,
purchased software, furniture, and fixtures andipcbd tooling are depreciated over lives rangingnfieighteen months to five years and
leasehold improvements are depreciated over thaeshad the related remaining lease period or udééu Amortization of assets held under
capital leases is included in depreciation expense.

Expenditures for repairs and maintenance are ergemsincurred. Expenditures for major renewalshatittrments that extend the us
lives of existing property and equipment are cédigitéd and depreciated. Upon retirement or dispmsitif property and equipment, any resul
gain or loss is recognized in the consolidatedestants of operations.

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets include purchased intangibletsssguired from Enfora and the costs of non-exatuand perpetual worldwide
software technology licenses. These costs are @adrbn an accelerated basis or on a
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straight-line basis over the estimated useful lvkethe assets, depending on the anticipated afiitim of the asset. The majority of intangible
assets relate to the developed technologies add trame resulting from the acquisition of EnforavEloped technologies are amortized on a
straight-line basis over two years. Trade namenisréized on a straight-line basis over four years.

Long-Lived Assets

The Company periodically evaluates the carryingi@af the unamortized balances of its long-livese&s including property and
equipment and intangible assets, to determine whétipairment of these assets has occurred or whathevision to the related amortization
periods should be made. When the carrying valnaisset exceeds the associated undiscounted expeittre cash flows, it is considered to
be impaired and is written down to fair value. Railue is determined based on an evaluation of$isets associated undiscounted future casl
flows or appraised valueThis evaluation is based on managenseptbjections of the undiscounted future cash flagsociated with each cli
of asset. If managemestévaluation indicates that the carrying valuethe$e assets are impaired, such impairment is necedyby a reductic
of the applicable asset carrying value to its estéd fair value and the impairment is expensedpstaof continuing operations.

Goodwill

Gooduwill represents the excess of the purchase pfian acquired enterprise over the fair valuggass to assets acquired and liabilities
assumed in a business combination. Goodwill iatied as of the date of the business combinatitmetoeporting units that are expected to
benefit from the synergies of the business comimnaGoodwill is considered to be impaired if therpany determines that the carrying v
of the reporting unit to which the goodwill has besssigned exceeds its estimated fair value. Timep@ay performs its annual goodwill
impairment test each year at the beginning of tlwethh quarter, or more frequently if events or einstances indicate that the carrying value o
goodwill exceeds its fair value. The Company reedrfi19.8 million, $3.3 million, and $0 of goodwithpairment losses during the years er
December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010, respectively.

Contingent Consideration

Contingent consideration is recorded at the actiistate estimated fair value for all acquisitionke fair value of the contingent
consideration is remeasured at each reporting gherith any adjustments in fair value included ie tbompany’s consolidated statement of
operations.

Revenue Recognition

The Company’s revenue is principally generated ftbensale of wireless modems to wireless opera@Ed] customers and value added
resellers and distributors. In addition, the Conypg@nerates revenue from the sale of asset-managewolations utilizing wireless technology
and M2M communication devices predominantly to $ortation and industrial companies, medical demieaufacturers and security system
providers. Revenue from product sales is generattggnized upon the later of transfer of title elivery of the product to the customer. Wk
the transfer of title or risk of loss is contingemt the customer’s acceptance of the product, Wenati recognize revenue until both title and
risk of loss have transferred to the customer. ¥éend deferred revenue for cash payments recereed dustomers in advance of when
revenue recognition criteria are met. We have g@ptice protection to certain customers in acawdavith the provisions of the respective
contracts and track pricing and other terms offéoeclistomers buying similar products to assesgtiante with these provisions. We estin
the amount of price protection for current periodduct sales utilizing historical experience anfdimation regarding customer inventory
levels. To date, we have not incurred materialgopimtection obligations. Revenues from sales ttairtecustomers are subject to cooperative
advertising allowances. Cooperative advertisingvedinces are recorded as an operating expense ¢atdrd that the advertising benefit is
separable from the revenue transaction and thedhie of that advertising benefit is determinaBle the extent that such allowances either d
not provide a separable benefit
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to us, or the fair value of the advertising benedihnot be reliably estimated, such amounts agrded as a reduction of revenue. We establis
reserves for estimated product returns allowancésa period in which revenue is recognized. limeating future product returns, we consider
various factors, including our stated return pelicand practices and historical trends.

Predominantly all of our revenues represent the sbhardware with accompanied software that isr@&s to the functionality of the
hardware. The Company records revenue associatedhei agreed upon price on hardware sales, amdexcany estimated costs of post-
delivery performance obligations such as warrabtigations. The Company considers the four basiemae recognition criteria discussed
under Staff Accounting Bulletin #104 when assessipgropriate revenue recognition as follows:

Criterion #1—Persuasive evidence of an arrangemeist exist;

Criterion #2—Delivery has occurred,;

Criterion #3—The Company’s price to the buyer nhesfixed or determinable; and,
Criterion #4—Collectibility is reasonably assured.

For multiple element arrangements, total considtmraeceived from customers is allocated to thenelgts. This may include hardware
and non essential software elements, based oatavestelling price. The accounting guidance e&hbs a hierarchy to determine the selling
price to be used for allocating revenue to delibls as follows: (i) vendors specific objectivedmince (VSOE), (ii) third party evidence (TF
and (i) best estimate of selling price (ESP). &exe the Company has neither VSOE nor TPE, revaamibeen based on the Company’s ESF
Amounts allocated to the delivered hardware anadleted essential software are recognized afrinedf the sale provided all other revenue
recognition criteria have been met. Amounts alleddb other deliverables based upon ESP are rexaxjim the period the revenue recogni
criteria have been met.

Our process for determining its ESP for deliverabiighout VSOE or TPE considers multiple factorattimay vary depending upon the
unique facts and circumstances related to eachedable. Our prices are determined based uport@@sbduce our products, expected order
guantities and acceptance in the marketplace.ditiad, when developing ESPs for products we maysater other factors as appropriate
including the pricing of competitive alternativéshiey exist, and product-specific business obyesti

We account for nonessential software licenses elatied post contract support (PCS) under multifgment arrangements by recogni:
revenue for such arrangements ratably over the ééitiee PCS as we have not established VSOE foP@f@ element.

For the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011, a®l 4@ have not recorded any significant reventgs fultiple element or softwa
arrangements.

Research and Development Costs
Research and development costs are expensed a®ihcu

Warranty Costs

The Company accrues warranty costs based on esimbfuture warranty related replacement, regairework of products. Our
warranty policy generally provides one to threerged coverage for products following the date ofghase. The Company’s policy is to
accrue the estimated cost of warranty coveragecamonent of cost of revenue in the accompanyimgalidated statements of operations at
the time revenue is recognized. In estimatingutare warranty obligations the Company consider®ua factors, including the historical
frequency and volume of claims, and the cost ttaepor repair products under warranty. The wayrandvision for its products is determined
by using a financial model to estimate future watyaosts. The Company’s financial model takes atosideration actual product failure
rates; estimated replacement, repair or
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rework expenses; and potential risks associatddauit different products. The risk levels, warraotgt information, and failure rates used
within this model are reviewed throughout the yaad updated, if and when, these inputs change.

Income Taxes

The Company recognizes federal, state and foraigrt tax liabilities or assets based on our estnof taxes payable to or refundable
by tax authorities in the current fiscal year. Twmpany also recognizes federal, state and foafgrred tax liabilities or assets based on the
Company’s estimate of future tax effects attribleéab temporary differences and carry forwards.dbefd tax assets and liabilities are
measured using enacted tax rates expected to &pfayable income in the years in which those tenayodifferences are expected to be
recovered or settled.

Deferred tax assets are reduced by valuation alloesif, based on the consideration of all avadlalidence, it is more likely than not
that some portion of the deferred tax asset willbwrealized. The Company evaluates deferred irdames on a quarterly basis to determi
valuation allowances are required by considerirgjlable evidence. If the Company is unable to gateesufficient future taxable income in
certain tax jurisdictions, or if there is a matedaange in the actual effective tax rates or tpagod within which the underlying temporary
differences become taxable or deductible, the Compauld be required to increase its valuationvedloce against its deferred tax assets v
could result in an increase in the Company’s eiffediax rate and an adverse impact on operatingtse'he Company will continue to
evaluate the necessity of the valuation allowaraset on the remaining deferred tax assets.

The Company follows the accounting guidance reltadthancial statement recognition, measuremedtdisclosure of uncertain tax positio
The Company recognizes the impact of an uncen@onme tax position on an income tax return ataingdst amount that is more-likely-than-
not to be sustained upon audit by the relevanhtpauthority. An uncertain income tax position widlt be recognized if it has less than a 50%
likelihood of being sustained. Uncertain tax posi§ are recognized in the first subsequent finhneporting period in which that threshold is
met or from changes in circumstances such as fhieation of applicable statutes of limitations.

Derivatives and Hedging

At times, the Company will enter into derivativadncial instruments, consisting solely of foreigmrency forward exchange contracts.
The purpose of these derivative instruments istiglk the Company’s economic exposure associatedaatbunts receivable and cash
balances denominated in Euros. The Company’s fahwantracts do not qualify as accounting hedges fesult, the Company marks-to-
market the forward contracts and includes unredlgagns and losses in the current period as a coemp@f other income (expense) in the
consolidated statements of operations.

Litigation
The Company is currently involved in certain legadceedings. The Company will record a loss whenGbmpany determines
information available prior to the issuance of financial statements indicates the loss is botlbalte and estimable. Where a liability is
probable and there is a range of estimated logsnaitbest estimate in the range, the Company re¢bedminimum estimated liability related
to the claim. As additional information becomesilade, the Company assesses the potential lipléiated to the Company’s pending
litigation and revises its estimates, if necess@ine Company’s policy is to expense litigation scss incurred.

Share-Based Compensation

The Company has granted stock options to emplogeesestricted stock units. The Company also hasgioyee stock purchase plan
(“ESPP”) for eligible employees. The Company measiine compensation cost
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associated with all share-based payments basethahdpte fair values. The fair value of each eygdostock option and employee stock
purchase right is estimated on the date of grangun option pricing model that meets certain inegoents. The Company currently uses the
Black-Scholes option pricing model to estimateftiievalue of our stock options and stock purchagiets. The Black-Scholes model is
considered an acceptable model but the fair vajeaesrated by it may not be indicative of the actaialvalues of our equity awards as it does
not consider certain factors important to thoserda/#o employees, such as continued employmenpanddic vesting requirements as well as
limited transferability. The determination of tharfvalue of share-based payment awards utiliziegBlack-Scholes model is affected by our
stock price and a number of assumptions, includipected volatility, expected term, risk-free ietgrrate and expected dividends.

For grants of stock options, the Company usesradhdé historical and implied volatility for tradexgptions on its stock in order to estim
the expected volatility assumption required in Bieck-Scholes model. The Company’s use of a blenwdéatility estimate in computing the
expected volatility assumption for stock optionbased on its belief that while that implied vdigtiis representative of expected future
volatility, the historical volatility over the expted term of the award is also an indicator of exge future volatility. Due to the short duration
of employee stock purchase rights under our ESRPCompany utilizes historical volatility in orderestimate the expected volatility
assumption of the Black-Scholes model.

The expected term of stock options granted is edgéichusing the average of the vesting date, thigaminal term and historical
experience. The risk-free interest rate assumjgidsased on observed interest rates appropriatbéagxpected terms of our stock options anc
employee stock purchase rights. The dividend yaskLimption is based on the Company’s history apdatation of no dividend payouts. The
Company estimates forfeitures at the time of gaaut revises these estimates, if necessary, in gubseperiods if actual forfeitures differ fr(
those estimates. The Company estimates its foréerate assumption for all types of share basedheosation awards based historical
forfeiture rates related to each category of award.

Compensation cost associated with grants of réstristock units are measured at fair value, whashHistorically been the closing price
of the Company’s stock on the date of grant.

The Company recognizes share-based compensatiengxpsing the straight-line method for awardsdbatain only service
conditions. For awards that contain performancelitmms, the Company recognizes the share-basegeosation expense on a straight-line
basis for each vesting tranche.

The Company evaluates the assumptions used to stlak awards on a quarterly basis. If factors gbaand the Company employs
different assumptions, share-based compensatiognegmmay differ significantly from what it has reged in the past. If there are any
modifications or cancellations of the underlyingvested securities, the Company may be requireddelerate, increase or cancel any
remaining unearned share-based compensation expgentiee extent that the Company grants additieqaity securities to employees or it
assumes unvested securities in connection withtaaquisitions, its share-based compensation expeifidge increased by the additional
unearned compensation resulting from those additigrants or acquisitions.

Computation of Net Income (Loss) Per Share

The Company computes basic and diluted per shaaefalaall periods for which a statement of openadiis presented. Basic net income
(loss) per share excludes dilution and is comphtedividing the net income (loss) by the weightegrage number of shares that were
outstanding during the period. Diluted EPS refléltspotential dilution that could occur if secigstor other contracts to acquire common
stock were exercised or converted into common steokential dilutive securities are excluded frdra tiluted EPS computation in loss
periods as their effect would be anti-dilutive.
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Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company'’s fair value measurements relate twags equivalents, marketable debt securitiespaaréietable equity securities, which
are classified pursuant to authoritative guidameddir value measurements. The Company placeagis equivalents and marketable debt
securities in instruments that meet credit qualigndards, as specified in its investment polidgejines. These guidelines also limit the
amount of credit exposure to any one issue, issuspe of instrument.

Our financial instruments consist principally obbaand cash equivalents, short-term and long-teanketable securities, and short-term
and long-term debt. The Company’s cash and casiiaquots consist of its investment in money madesturities and treasury bills. The
Company’s marketable securities consist primarffilgavernment agency securities, municipal bondse tileposits and investment-grade
corporate bonds. From time to time, the Company utiige foreign exchange forward contracts. Thesetracts are valued using pricing
models that take into account the currency rated #se balance sheet date.

Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Comprehensive income (loss) consists of net easramgl unrealized gains and losses on availablediarsecurities.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In September 2011, the Financial Accounting StassiBoard (FASB) issued Accounting Standards UpgheJ)) No. 2011-08
“Intangibles-Goodwill and Other (Topic 350) — TesfiGoodwill for Impairment.”ASU 2011-08 amends the previous guidance undercTopi
350 which required an entity to test goodwill forgairment, on at least an annual basis, by perfayitie two-step goodwill impairment test
described in Topic 350. The amendments in ASU 208 permit an entity to first assess qualitativadesto determine whether it is more
likely than not that the fair value of a reportimgit is less than its carrying amount as a basisdétermining whether it is necessary to perform
the two-step goodwill impairment test. The moreljkthan not threshold is defined as having likediti of more than 50 percent. ASU 2004 -
is effective for annual and interim goodwill impaient tests performed for fiscal years beginningrditecember 15, 2011. The Company has
adopted ASU 2011-08 for our financial statementilteeginning January 1, 2012 and there was nenmhimpact on the consolidated
financial statements upon adoption.

In June 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 2011‘©8mprehensive Income (Topic 220) — PresentatioBahprehensive Income ASU
2011-05 requires that all non-owner changes irkstolders’ equity be presented either in a singletiooous statement of comprehensive
income or in two separate but consecutive statesnémboth choices, an entity is required to presash component of net income along with
total net income, each component of other compgtierincome along with a total for other comprelMmécome, and a total amount for
comprehensive income. ASU 2011-05 is effectiveossiectively for fiscal years, and interim periodthim those years, beginning after
December 15, 2011. The Company has adopted ASU-@DHhd has presented comprehensive income (lepajately in the consolidated
statements of comprehensive income (loss) for #aesyended 2012, 2011, and 2010.

2. Merger and Acquisition Activities in Prior Years
Enfora

On November 30, 2010, the Company completed theisitiqn of Enfora. The acquisition of Enfora digdies the Company’s customer
base and product lines into adjacent markets avanegs the Company’s strategy of providing inteligdevices to all end markets—
enterprise, consumer and vertical applications.
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Enfora’s results of operations and estimated falue of assets acquired and liabilities assumee wetuded in the Company’s
consolidated financial statements beginning Nover88e2010. The revenue and operating results ibatéd by Enfora for the years ended
December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 are disclosedri8@gment Information and Concentrations of Rigkriote (see Note 12). Acquisition
costs related to the merger of Enfora of $1.9 onilivere recorded and classified as general andnggtnaitive expenses in the consolidated
statement of operations during the year ended DieeeB1, 2010.

Acquisition consideratio

Under the terms of the acquisition agreement, th@@ny paid cash consideration of $64.5 million additional cash consideration of
$13.0 million in exchange for an agreed upon amefifinfora working capital. The Company also agreepay additional cash consideration
(“contingent consideration”) of up to $6.0 millitmased on the operating results of Enfora for thend&th period from October 1, 2010 to
December 31, 2011. The estimated fair value ofdbrgingent consideration at the acquisition dats $0.9 million, resulting in total estima
cash to be paid of $78.4 million. During the quaeteded March 31, 2011, the Company revised itmagt of contingent consideration to $0
and reflected this change as a benefit to genachhdministrative expenses for the quarter endeatial, 2011. There were no changes ir
fair value of the contingent consideration recortrethe nine months ended December 31, 2011 agpthiting results necessary to receive
payment of the contingent consideration were nbicaed.

Fair Value of Assets Acquired and Liabilities Assdi

The Company accounted for the transaction using@tleisition method and, accordingly, estimateddirevalue of the tangible and
intangible assets acquired and liabilities assurbeding the third quarter of 2011, the Company ma&®.3 million adjustment to increase
Enfora net deferred tax assets, with a correspgrdidtiar amount decrease to goodwill, based on ¢etegh studies of available tax benefits
existing as of the date of acquisition. The totaighase price is summarized below (in thousands):

Cash and cash equivale $ 4,60(
Accounts receivable 7,44¢
Inventories 10,46¢
Property and equipme 1,597
Prepaid expenses and other as 304
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and deferred (12,220)
Intangible asset 42,52(
Goodwill 23,66

Purchase pric $ 78,37¢

Cinterion

In June 2010, the Company submitted a bid to pweeleartain assets of Cinterion, a company in thelaeM2M communications
industry, in connection with an insolvency procegdiThe Company was not the successful biddereatdhclusion of the process on June 28,
2010. In connection with the bid, the Company bagd $30.0 million under a bridge loan facility imn& 2010 which was subsequently repaic
in July 2010. The Company recognized $3.1 millibaebt issuance costs related to the bridge loaifitfa This amount was recorded as
interest expense in the consolidated statememparfations for the year ended December 31, 2010CHmepany also realized $1.7 million of
foreign currency gain, net of hedging transactiosts, to address foreign currency risk also relagdte bid. This amount was recorded in
other income in the consolidated statement of djpersduring the year ended December 31, 2010 Cidmepany also incurred $1.3 million in
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legal, advisory and professional fees related ¢cettquisition bid, which were recorded and clasdifis general and administrative expenses i
the consolidated statement of operations duringyéae ended December 31, 2010.

3. Fair Value Measurement of Assets and Liabilities

Fair value is defined as the price that would lmeired to sell an asset or paid to transfer alifglin an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date (ggi)p A fair value measurement reflects the asgiong market participants would use in
pricing an asset or liability based on the bestlalbke information. These assumptions include thk inherent in a particular valuation
technique (such as a pricing model) and the risksrient in the inputs to the model.

We classify our inputs to measure fair value usirigree-level hierarchy that maximizes the usebstovable inputs and minimizes the
use of unobservable inputs by requiring that thetmbservable inputs be used when available. Ttegogzation of financial instruments
within the valuation hierarchy is based upon thedst level of input that is significant to the faalue measurement. The hierarchy is
prioritized into three levels (with Level 3 beirftetlowest) defined as follows:

Level 1:Pricing inputs are based on quoted market priceslémtical assets or liabilities in active mark@tg., NYSE). Active markets
are those in which transactions for the assetbiliiy occur in sufficient frequency and volumepvide pricing information on an
ongoing basis.

Level 2:Pricing inputs include benchmark yields, trade degported trades and broker dealer quotes, twedsidarkets and industry &
economic events, yield to maturity, Municipal Sétieis Rule Making Board reported trades and verigating platform data. Level 2
includes those financial instruments that are \@luging various pricing services and broker prigifgrmation including Electronic
Communication Networks and broker feeds.

Level 3:Pricing inputs include significant inputs that generally less observable from objective soureesuding the Company’s own
assumptions.

At December 31, 2012, the Company did not havesaeyrities in the Level 3 category. The Companjeres the fair value hierarchy
classification on a quarterly basis. We validatedhoted market prices provided by our primaryipgcservice by comparing their assessment
of the fair values of our investments by usingiedtparty investment manager. The third party itwvesht manager uses similar techniques to
our primary pricing service to derive the pricingsdribe above. Changes in the observability ofatadn inputs may result in a reclassification
of levels for certain securities within the faidwa hierarchy.

F-16



Table of Contents

The following table summarizes the Company’s finahiostruments measured at fair value on a reegriasis in accordance with the
authoritative guidance for fair value measuremeastef December 31, 2012 (in thousands):

Balance as o
Description December 31, 201 Level 1 Level 2
Assets:
Cash equivalent
Money market fund $ 47 $ 47 $ 0
US Treasury securitie 3,42¢ 0 3,42¢
Total cash equivalen 3,47¢ 47 3,42¢
Shor-term marketable securitie
Available-for-sale:
Government agency securiti 3,26¢ 0 3,26¢
Municipal bonds 11,26( 0 11,26(
Certificates of depos 6,20¢ 0 6,20¢
Corporate debentures / bor 17,33 0 17,33
Total shor-term marketable securiti 38,06 0 38,06¢
Long-term marketable securitie
Available-for-sale:
Certificates of depos 1,201 0 1,201
Total lon¢-term marketable securitit 1,201 0 1,201
Total financial assel $ 42,74 $ 47 $42,69¢

The following table summarizes the Company’s finahinstruments measured at fair value on a reegriasis in accordance with the
authoritative guidance for fair value measuremastef December 31, 2011 (in thousands):

Balance as o
Description December 31, 201 Level 1 Level 2
Assets:
Cash equivalent
Money market fund $ 25,13" $25,13] $
US Treasury securitie 5,78¢ 0 5,78¢
Total cash equivalen 30,92; 25,13} 5,78¢
Shor-term marketable securitie
Available-for-sale:
Government agency securiti 6,912 0 6,912
Municipal bonds 8,38¢ 0 8,38¢
Certificates of depos 4,321 0 4,321
Corporate debentures / bor 8,612 0 8,612
Marketable equity securitie 38 38 0
Total shor-term marketable securitit 28,26 38 28,22¢
Long-term marketable securitie
Available-for-sale:
Government agency securiti 3,73¢ 0 3,73¢
Municipal bonds 5,96¢ 0 5,96¢
Certificates of depos 3,78¢ 0 3,78¢
Total lon¢-term marketable securitit 13,49¢ 0 13,49¢
Total financial assel $ 72,68 $25,17¢ $47,50¢
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There were no transfers between Level 1 and Legekrities during the years ended December 32 20d 2011. All of our long-term
marketable debt securities had maturities of betveeee and two years in duration at December 312201

The table below presents Level 3 activity for oantingent consideration liability for the twelve mhs ended December 31, 2011 (in
thousands):

Contingent consideration liability Level 3
Beginning balance at January 1, 2011 $(880C)
Adjustments 88C
Ending balance at December 31, 2! $ 0

As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, the Company basltstanding foreign currency exchange forwardreats.

For the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 ar®} #64 Company recorded gains of $0, $8,000, $88 @3pectively, on its Euro-
denominated foreign exchange forward contractsiriguhe years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 ar@l #04 Company recorded foreign
currency gains and losses on foreign currency deraied transactions of approximately $51,000 16886,000 loss, $1.7 million gain,
respectively. The loss during the year ended Deeer®b, 2012 primarily related to foreign currenagdes on foreign currency denominated
bank accounts. The loss during the year ended Daee81, 2011 primarily related to foreign curretmyses on South Korean won
denominated trade payables. The gains during taegreded December 31, 2010 primarily relate to.8 8#llion foreign currency gain
realized on the liquidation of the Company’s cashiimgs in Euros at the conclusion of the insolwepmceeding for the sale of Cinterion net
of $1.2 million in expense to enter into severatd=denominated put options to hedge the foreign coyreisk associated with its cash holdi
in Euros related to the Cinterion bid process. €hms options expired unexercised on June 25, 2010.

All recorded gains and losses on foreign excharagesactions are recorded in other income (expensg)within the consolidated
statements of operations.

4.  Financial Statement Details
Marketable Securitie
The Company’s portfolio of available-for-sale seties by contractual maturity consists of the fallog (in thousands):

Gross Gross
Maturity in Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Estimated
December 31, 201, Years Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
Available-for-sale:
Government agency securiti 1lorles $ 3,26¢ $ 1 $ 0 $ 3,26¢
Municipal bonds 1orles 11,24¢ 14 0 11,26(
Certificates of depos 1lorles 6,20( 5 0 6,20¢
Corporate debentures / bor 1orles 17,33( 3 0 17,33
Total shor-term marketable securiti 38,04 23 0 38,06¢
Available-for-sale:
Certificates of depos ltoz 1,20( 1 0 1,201
Total lon¢-term marketable securitit 1,20( 1 0 1,201
$39,24: $ 24 $ 0 $39,26¢
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Gross Gross
Maturity in Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Estimated
December 31, 201 Years Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
Available-for-sale:
Government agency securiti 1orles $ 6,91 $ 0 $ (1) $ 6,917
Municipal bonds 1orles 8,39( 0 (6) 8,38¢
Certificates of depos 1lorles 4,31¢ 2 0 4,321
Corporate debentures / bor 1orles 8,61°F 0 3 8,612
Marketable equity securitie lorles 38 0 0 38
Total shor-term marketable securitit 28,27¢ 2 (10 28,26,
Available-for-sale:
Government agency securiti ltoz 3,73¢ 4 0 3,73¢
Municipal bonds ltoz 5,961 2 0 5,96¢
Certificates of depos ltoz 3,79 0 (9 3,78¢
Total lon¢-term marketable securitit 13,49¢ 6 (9) 13,49¢
$41,77: $ 8 $ (19 $41,76:

The Company’s available-for-sale securities aré@dion the consolidated balance sheet at fair etarddue with the related unrealized
gains and losses included in accumulated other catmepsive (loss) income on the consolidated balaheet, which is a separate component
of stockholders’ equity. Realized gains and lossethe sale of available-for-sale marketable s&éesrare determined using the specific-
identification method.

At December 31, 2012 and 2011, the Company recardednrealized gains of $14,000, net of taxes,reatdinrealized loss of $8,000,
respectively. The Company’s net unrealized gaiossil is the result of market conditions affectitsgfixed-income debt securities, which are
included in accumulated other comprehensive (lwexime on the consolidated balance sheet for thedsethen ended.

As of December 31, 2011, the Company’s investmertfgio included $385,000 of marketable equitys@tes at original cost, with a
fair value of $38,000. During the years ended Ddmmm31, 2012 and 2011, the Company recorded am-titaetemporary loss of $38,000 a
$347,000, respectively, within other income (exggnset in the consolidated statement of operations

Inventories
Inventories consist of the following (in thousands)

December 31

2012 2011
Finished goods $26,77¢ $35,21:
Raw materials and componel 12,24( 7,06¢

$39,01¢ $42,27¢
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Property and Equipment
Property and equipment consists of the followimgt{iousands):

December 31
2012 2011

Test equipment $ 53,36¢ $ 52,31
Computer equipment and purchased softv 12,31( 13,76¢
Product tooling 2,23 3,76¢
Furniture and fixture 2,21¢ 2,24(
Leasehold improvemen 4,80z 5,62¢
74,93 77,71

Les—accumulated depreciation and amortiza (59,707 (59,21)
$ 15,22¢ $ 18,49¢

For the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 ar@ #64 Company recorded $100,000, $70,000 and 8Q6,/respectively, in its cost
of net revenues as a result of its impairment aislyf property and equipment.

Depreciation and amortization expense relatingéperty and equipment was $9.4 million, $11.1 milland $10.0 million for the years
ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, respsactivel

Accrued Expenses
Accrued expenses consist of the following (in tfaouss):

December 31

2012 2011
Royalties $ 4,34¢ $ 5,861
Payroll and related expens 7,78¢ 8,70¢
Product warrant: 2,32¢ 1,52¢
Market development funds and price protec 2,147 1,75(C
Deferred ren 573 1,13¢
Professional fee 1,54¢ 1,21z
Deferred revenu 4,63( 1,06(
Other 4,43¢ 3,79¢

$27,80( $25,04«

Accrued Warranty Obligations
Accrued warranty obligations consist of the follagi(in thousands):

2012 2011

Warranty liability at beginning of period $ 1,52¢ $2,27¢
Additions charged to operatio 6,261 2,64z
Deductions from liability (5,459 3,396

Warranty liability at end of perio $ 2,32¢ $1,52¢
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5. Intangible Assets
The Company’s amortizable purchased intangibletsisesulting from its acquisition of Enfora are qmsed of (in thousands):

Years ended December 3.

2012 2011
Accumulated Accumulated
Gross Amortization Impairment Net Gross Amortization Net
Developed technologies $26,00 $ (5,78¢ $(19,547) $ 667 $26,000 $ (4,169  $21,83:
Trade namt 12,80( (2,147 (8,582) 2,071 12,80( (1,389 11,41
Other 3,72( (1,929 (1,620) 177 3,72( (1,609 2,111

Total amortizable purchased intangible as  $42,52( $ (9,856 $(29,749  $2,91¢  $4252( $ (7,159  $35,36:

The following table presents details of the amattan of purchased intangible assets of Enforauthed! in the cost of net revenues and
operating costs and expenses categories (in thdssan

Years ended December 3.

2012 2011
Cost of net revenues $ 1,62¢ $ 4,102
General and administrative expen 1,07¢ 2,22(
Total amortization expen: $ 2,69 $ 6,327

The following table presents details of the amattan of existing amortizable purchased intangédsets of Enfora that is currently
estimated to be expensed in the future (in thougand

Fiscal year: Amount
2013 $ 89¢
2014 89t
2015 562
2016 562

Total $2,91¢

Additionally, at December 31, 2012 and 2011, thenfany had net acquired software licenses of $248&0d $341,000, respectively,
net of accumulated amortization of $2.1 million &817 million, respectively. The acquired softwhcenses represent rights to use certain
software necessary for the development and comaiaale of the Company’s products.

The Company monitors its intangible and long-liesdet balances and conducts formal tests whenrimgiati indicators are present (see
Note 6 for a discussion of the impairment indicaYoburing the quarter ended March 31, 2012, thea@ay recorded an impairment loss
$22.8 million related to a decrease in the estithé& values of the purchased intangible assetv&ues. At September 30, 2012, the
Company recorded a further preliminary impairmesslof $7.3 million related to the continued desegia the estimated fair values of the
purchased intangible assets. During the fourthtquaf 2012, the Company completed the impairmaatysis and reduced the third quarter
impairment by $300,000. The Company recorded $T88¢d impairment loss related to acquired softwaenses during the year ended
December 31, 2011. There was no impairment lossded for the year ended December 31, 2010.
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Amortization expense relating to acquired softwarenses was $196,000, $422,000 and $744,000 ¢oyehrs ended December 31,
2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively. Amortizationezrge related to licenses obtained for researclopespis recorded within research and
development expense in the consolidated staternépfserations. Amortization expense related tonées obtained for commercial products is
recorded in cost of net revenues in the consoliistatements of operations.

At December 31, 2012, the weighted average remgimseful life of the Company’s long-lived intangildssets including acquired
software licenses is 3.0 years.

6. Goodwill
The changes in the carrying amount of goodwilltfa years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 aodi@sd (in thousands):

M2M Products and Solutions

2012 2011
Balance at January 1, $ 19,77 $ 22,25¢
Goodwill acquisition price adjustments, net of 0 791
Goodwill impairment during the peric (19,779 (3,279
Balance at December 2 $ 0 $ 19,77:

During the third quarter of 2012, the first qua®&2012 and the third quarter of 2011, based dnahoperating results, and reductions in
management’s then estimates of forecasted openaindts of the M2M Products and Solutions repgrtinit principally due to updated views
of competitive pressures impacting average sepimces, customer product and technology select@amgd the loss of certain customers, the
Company determined there were sufficient indicatdrisnpairment present to require an interim impegnt analysis during the respective
impacted quarters.

Based upon fair value tests performed with theséamste of third party independent appraisals, dutie third quarter of 2012, the first
quarter of 2012 and the third quarter of 2011,Goenpany recorded pre-tax goodwill impairment chargie$13.2 million, $6.5 million and
$3.3 million, respectively.

The Company used the third party independent aggdregport from the third quarter of 2012 to assigfth its annual impairment
analysis.

7. Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share (“EPS”) excludes dilutind is computed by dividing net income (loss) ltif@ble to common stockholders by
the weighted-average number of common shares adisgxfor the period. Diluted EPS reflects the ptitd dilution that could occur if
securities or other contracts to issue common starie exercised or converted into common stockguia treasury stock method. Potentially
dilutive securities (consisting of options and riestd stock units (“RSUs”) and employee stock pase plan (“ESPP”) withholdings using the
treasury stock method) are excluded from the dill#2S computation in loss periods and when thaaglpé exercise price is greater than the
market price on the period end date as their effectid be anti-dilutive.

For the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 ari®j Basic and diluted weightedkerage common shares outstanding were 32,85:
32,043,000 and 31,494,000, respectively.

Weighted average options, restricted stock unitsEBPP shares to acquire a total of 5,793,000 sh4@57,000 shares and 3,675,000
shares of common stock for the years ended Dece®ih@012, 2011 and 2010, respectively, were ocudgtg but not included in the
computation of diluted earnings per share as #fédct was anti-dilutive.
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8.  Stockholders Equity
Preferred Stock

The Company has a total of 2,000,000 shares oéSériand Series B preferred stock authorized farasce at a par value of $0.001 per
share. No preferred shares are currently issuedtstanding.

Common Shares Reserved for Future Issuance

The Company has reserved shares of common stogo$sible future issuance as of December 31, 20d2@11 as follows (in
thousands):

Shares
2012 2011
Stock options outstanding under the 2009 Omnibosritive Compensation Plan and previous plans 4,28: 4,481
Restricted stock units outstandi 1,66 1,28¢
Future grants of awards under the 2009 OmnibusthaeCompensation Ple 702 1,49
Shares available under the Employee Stock Purdplas 0 1,083
Total shares of common stock reserved for issu 6,64¢ 8,35(

9. Stock Incentive and Employee Stock Purchase Plal
During the year ended December 31, 2012, the Coyngiamted awards under the 2009 Omnibus Incentorafg&nsation Plan (the
“2009 Plan”). The Compensation Committee of therad Directors administers the plan.

Under the 2009 Plan, a maximum of 2.5 million skaxecommon stock may be issued upon the exer€is@ck options, in the form of
restricted stock, or in settlement of restrictextktunits or other awards, including awards witerative vesting schedules such as
performance-based criteria.

For the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 ar@® #f following table presents total share-basedpensation expense in each
functional line item on our consolidated stateme@rfitsperations (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010
Cost of revenues $ 747 $ 57¢ $ 64&
Research and developmt 3,04z 2,08¢ 2,36¢
Sales and marketir 1,40: 1,25¢ 1,164
General and administrati 2,30¢ 2,062 2,29¢

Totals $7,50( $5,98:¢ $6,471

The per share fair values of stock options graoteter the 2009 Plan and rights granted under tiRPE&ve been estimated with the
following assumptions.

Employee Stock Options Employee Stock Purchase Right
2012 2011 2010 2012 2011 2010
Expected dividend yield: 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Risk-free interest rate 0.%% 1.2% 2.2% 0.2% 0.2% 0.5%
Volatility: 63% 69% 53% 68% 63% 60%
Expected term (in years 6.C 6.C 5.8 1.2 1.1 1.2
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Stock Options

The Compensation Committee of the Board of Directiatermines eligibility, vesting schedules and@se prices for options granted.
Options granted under the 2009 Plan and previausspgenerally have a term of ten years, and iedke of new hires, generally vest and
become exercisable at the rate of 25% after oneayghratably on a monthly basis over a periodéofr®nths thereafter. Subsequent option
grants to existing employees generally vest andrinecexercisable over a period of 36 months meadwedthe date of grant.

A summary of stock option activity for the year edddecember 31, 2012 is presented below (dollaishares in thousands, except per
share data):

Weighted
Weighted Average
Average Remaining
Stock Exercise Contractual Aggregate
Options Price Per Term Intrinsic
Outstanding Option (Years) Value
Options outstanding December 31, 2011 4,481 $ 10.5¢
Grantec 17¢ $ 3.44
Exercisec 0 $ 0.0C
Cancellec (379 $10.9¢
Balance December 31, 20 4,28: $ 10.2¢ 4.27 $ 0
Options Exercisable, December 31, 2! 3,83¢ $10.8( 3.9C $ 0

The total intrinsic value of options exercised tmghase common stock during the years ended Dece3tib2012, 2011 and 2010 was
approximately $0, $28,000 and $364,000, respegtived of December 31, 2012, total unrecognizedesiased compensation cost related to
unvested stock options was $1.4 million, whichxpezted to be recognized over a weighted averagedpef approximately 1.6 years. The
total fair value of option awards recognized asezige during the years ended December 31, 2012,8@12010 was approximately $1.7
million, $2.7 million and $3.5 million, respectiyelThe weighted average fair value of option away@sted during years ended December 31
2012, 2011 and 2010 was $1.97, $3.40 and $3.62ecésely.

Restricted Stock Uni

The Company may issue restricted stock units (“Rpthat, upon satisfaction of vesting conditionipwa for employees and non-
employee directors to receive common stock. Issmp€ such awards reduce common stock availablerihd 2009 Plan for stock incentive
awards. The Company measures compensation cosfassiowith grants of RSUs at fair value, whiclgénerally the closing price of the
Company’s stock on the date of grant.

During 2012, the Compensation Committee of the BadiDirectors, pursuant to the 2009 Plan, awartagloyees a total of 1,015,638
RSUs at fair values ranging from $1.28 per sha®3t88 per share. Generally, ottérd of the shares underlying each grant becosualsle o
the anniversary of each grant date, assuming agdiemployment or to the Company through such &ateed on the fair value of the
Company’s common stock price at the grant datesCtimpany estimated the aggregate fair value skthevards at approximately $3.4
million. The estimated fair value of these awasibeéing amortized to compensation expense for gaott on a straight-line basis over the
estimated service period.

During 2011, the Compensation Committee of the BadiDirectors, pursuant to the 2009 Plan, awartagloyees a total of 903,214
RSUs at fair values ranging from $3.06 per sha®9t@1 per share. Generally, othérd of the shares underlying each grant becosgisle o1
the anniversary of each grant date, assuming agediemployment or to the Company through such &atsed on the fair value of the
Company’s common
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stock price at the grant dates, the Company esttirtae aggregate fair value of these awards abappately $4.9 million. The estimated fair
value of these awards is being amortized to congiEmsexpense for each grant on a straight-linéslmager the estimated service period.

During 2010, the Compensation Committee of the BadiDirectors, pursuant to the 2009 Plan, awartagloyees a total of 620,236
RSUs, including 235,900 RSUs to Enfora employeeoimection with the acquisition (the “Enfora RS)Jsit fair values ranging from $6.95
per share to $9.76 per share. Generally, one-tfiitde shares underlying each grant become isswabilee anniversary of each grant date,
assuming continued employment or to the Compargutiir such date. However, one-fourth of the shamdenlying each grant of the Enfora
RSUs become issuable on the anniversary of eact date, assuming continued employment or to thagamy through such date. Based on
the fair value of the Company’s common stock patthe grant dates, the Company estimated the gafgréair value of these awards at
approximately $5.0 million. The estimated fair \@hf these awards is being amortized to compemsatipense for each grant on a straight-
line basis over the estimated service period.

A summary of restricted stock unit activity for thear ended December 31, 2012 is presented belawes in thousands):

Shares
Non-vested at December 31, 2011 1,28¢
Grantec 1,01¢
Vested (4617)
Forfeited (189
Non-vested at December 31, 20 1,662

As of December 31, 2012, there was $6.2 millionmfecognized compensation expense related to neteed/&SUs. That expense is
expected to be recognized over a weighted averagedoof 1.6 years. The total fair value of RSUsognized as expense during the years
ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 was $3idrm#$2.6 million and $1.7 million, respectively.

2000 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The Company’s 2000 Employee Stock Purchase PlarfBEPP”) permits eligible employees of the Comptngurchase newly issued
shares of common stock, at a price equal to 858efower of the fair market value on (i) the fidsty of the offering period or (ii) the last day
of each six-month purchase period, through pageductions of up to 10% of their annual cash corsggon.

During the years ended December 31, 2012, 2012@hd, the Company issued 1,086,837 shares, 1683[iat2s and 514,540 shares,
respectively, under the ESPP. During the yearsagBaeember 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, the Comparywezt$1.6 million, $470,000 and
$1.7 million, respectively, in cash through empleydthholdings.

On November 4, 2010, the Company announced thartation of the ESPP as of November 15, 2010 dueléck of available shares.
The cancellation of the awards was accounted farr@purchase for no consideration. The previoushgcognized compensation cost as of
November 15, 2010 of $316,000 was fully expenseatiérfourth quarter of 2010. The Company reinstétedESPP program effective as
September 8, 2011. The reinstated ESPP authoheze@dmpany to issue 1,250,111 shares of commok &ippurchase by eligible
employees.

On October 22, 2012, the Company announced thertation of the ESPP as of November 15, 2012 dzeléak of available shares. 1
cancellation of the awards was accounted for @parchase for no consideration. The previously eogrized compensation cost as of
November 15, 2012 of $1.0 million was fully expethée the fourth quarter of 201
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The total fair value of ESPP awards recognizedkaemse during the years ended December 31, 2012,&@ 2010 was $1.4 million,
$707,000 and $994,000, respectively.

10. Income Taxes
Total income taxes for the years ended Decembe2@i2, 2011 and 2010 were allocated as followsh@isands):

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

To income $611 $(9,507) $7,89:
To stockholder equity 10 24( 271
Total income taxe $621 $(9,269) $8,17(

Income (loss) before taxes for the years endedieee31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 is comprised of thewang (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010
Domestic $(88,94%) $(36,09)) $(27,09))
Foreign 29C 1,69¢ 1,53¢
Income (loss) before tax $(88,65%) $(34,39Y) $(25,557)

The provision (benefit) for income taxes for thaggeended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 is esedpof the following (in
thousands):

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010
Current:
Federa $ 0 $(10,78¢) $(3,607)
State 29 0 11
Foreign 74 84 43
Total Current 10z (10,707) (3,54%)
Deferred:
Federa 14 (119 9,88:
State 0 0 78¢
Foreign 494 1,31 77C
Total Deferrec 50¢ 1,19¢ 11,44:
Provision (benefit) for income tax: $611 $ (9,507 $ 7,89:
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The Company’s deferred tax assets consist of therimg (in thousands):

December 31

2012 2011
Deferred tax asset
Accrued expense $ 6,271 $ 4,941
Inventory obsolescence provisi 1,992 1,64
Depreciation and amortizatic 6,68( 4,62¢
Deferred ren 89z 40¢
Net operating loss and tax credit carryforwe 42,99 32,56¢
Stoclk-based compensatic 6,06¢ 5,66:
Unrecognized tax benefi 613 43¢
Deferred tax asse 65,51: 50,29
Deferred tax liabilities
Amortization of acquired intangible (1,01¢6) (12,777
Net deferred tax asse 64,49" 37,51¢
Valuation allowanct (63,887 36,39¢
Net deferred tax asse $ 614 $ 1,121

The Company recognizes federal, state and foraigrewt tax liabilities or assets based on its esnof taxes payable to or refundable
tax authorities in the current fiscal year. The @amy also recognizes federal, state and foreigerckf tax liabilities or assets based on the
Company’s estimate of future tax effects attribleab temporary differences and carry forwards. Toenpany records a valuation allowance
to reduce any deferred tax assets by the amouwartyofax benefits that, based on available evidandgudgment, are not expected to be
realized.

The Company assesses whether a valuation allovsdnmegd be recorded against its deferred tax absstsd on the consideration of all
available evidence, using a “more likely than netlization standard. The four sources of taxaitere that must be considered in
determining whether deferred tax assets will bézed are: (1) future reversals of existing taxaelmporary differences (i.e., offset of gross
deferred tax assets against gross deferred talitied); (2) taxable income in prior carryback yeaif carryback is permitted under the
applicable tax law; (3) tax planning strategies] &) future taxable income exclusive of reverdemporary differences and carryforwards.

After a review of the four sources of taxable ineodescribed above and after being in a three yeaulative loss position at the end of
2010, the Company recognized a full valuation atloee of $14.8 million related to its U.S.-basecedeld taxes created prior to 2010, and
recognized a full valuation allowance of $3.1 rofflirelated to its U.S.-based deferred tax assetgent in 2010.

During 2011 and 2012, the Company recognized filiation allowances of $14.6 million and $27.5 ioil| related to its U.Shased an
Canadian deferred tax assets created in thosectegpgears. As a result, no net income tax besiedisulted in the Company’s statements for
operations from the operating losses created dihioge years.

At December 31, 2012, the deferred tax asset vatluatlowance consisted of $58.9 million relatioghe Company’s domestic deferred
tax assets and $5.0 million related to the Comma@ynadian deferred tax assets. At December 31, 284 valuation allowance consisted of
$32.1 million relating to the Company’s domestifetlred tax assets and $4.3 million related to themgany’s Canadian deferred tax assets.

The net unreserved portion of the Company’s remgidieferred tax assets of $614,000 at Decembe(3P, primarily related to
research and development tax credits associatbdlvgtCompany’s Canadian subsidiary.
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The provision (benefit) for income taxes reconcitethe amount computed by applying the statutedefal income tax rate of 34% in
2012, 2011 and 2010 to income before provisiorirfoome taxes as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

Federal tax benefit, at statutory rate $(30,14:) $(11,69¢) $(8,690
State benefit, net of federal ben¢ (757) (739) (509
Change in valuation allowar—current yea 27,48t 14,61: 7,88¢
Change in valuation allowan—prior year deferred 0 0 14,84(
Tax expense/(benefit) from business combinz 0 90¢ (4,83¢)
Research and development cre (85€) (1,73 (2,044
Sharebased compensatic 1,61¢€ 52€ 917
Merger fees 0 0 674
Uncertain tax position (46) (12,809 322
Goodwill impairment 3,70( 59¢ 0
Other (390 (179) (667)

$ 611 $ (9,509 $ 7,89:

At December 31, 2012, the Company has U.S. fedetabperating loss carryforwards of approximateélg.@ million. Federal net
operating loss carryforwards expire at various sif@m 2026 through 2032. The Company has Caliéoneit operating loss carryforwards of
approximately $26.4 million, which expire at varsodates from 2014 through 2033. The Company hafo@ah research and development tax
credit carryforwards of approximately $6.1 milliofthe California tax credits have no expiration datee Company also has federal research
and development tax credit carryforwards of apprmtely $3.0 million. The federal tax credits expatevarious dates from 2027 through 2C

It is the Company’s intention to reinvest undisiitdd earnings of its foreign subsidiaries and theradefinitely postpone their
remittance. Accordingly, no provision has been mfadéoreign withholding taxes on United Statesame taxes which may become payable i
undistributed earnings of the foreign subsidiaryeygaid as dividends to the Company.

The Company follows the accounting guidance reladdihancial statement recognition, measuremedtdisclosure of uncertain tax
positions. The Company recognizes the impact afrexertain income tax position on an income taxrrea the largest amount that is more-
likely-than-not to be sustained upon audit by #levant taxing authority. An uncertain income tasifion will not be recognized if it has less
than a 50% likelihood of being sustained. During ylears ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, the @gmgaognized approximately
$50,000 and $9.5 million, respectively, of incorar benefit plus $5,000 and $2.3 million, respedyivef associated interest due to expiration
of the applicable statutes of limitations applieatd certain tax years. As of December 31, 2012281d, the total liability for unrecognized
benefits was $0.4 million and $0.4 million, respeslly, and is included in other long-term liab#ig.
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A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amsurftunrecognized tax benefits is as follows (iougands):

Amount
Unrecognized tax benefits balance at December@®19 2 $41,13¢
Increases related to current and prior year takipos 251
Settlements and lapses in statutes of limitat 0
Unrecognized tax benefits balance at December @) 41,38t
Increases related to current and prior year takipos 89¢
Settlements and lapses in statutes of limitat (9,490
Unrecognized tax benefits balance at December(Bill, 32,79
Increases related to current and prior year takipos 47¢
Settlements and lapses in statutes of limitat (50
Unrecognized tax benefits balance at December(Bll2 $33,22(

Included in the balances of unrecognized tax benafiDecember 31, 2012 are $0.1 million of taxefignthat, if recognized, would
affect the effective tax rate.

The Company recognizes interest and penaltieeerktatunrecognized tax benefits in the provisianirioome taxes. As of December 31,
2012 and 2011, the Company recorded approxima@® illion and $0.2 million, respectively, of aged interest related to uncertain tax
positions.

In the fourth quarter of 2013, the Company exptztelease $71,000 of its liability for unrecogmizex benefits due to the expiration of
the statute of limitations applicable to the 2088able year.

The Company and its subsidiaries file U.S., state€, foreign income tax returns in jurisdictionshamiarious statutes of limitations. The
California Franchise Tax Board is currently conghgian examination of the Company’s California imeotax returns for 2006 and 2007. The
Company is also subject to various federal inccemeskaminations for the 2003 through 2011 calegdars due to the availability of net
operating loss carryforwards. The Company belieygsopriate provisions for all outstanding issuagehbeen made for all jurisdictions anc
open years. However, because audit outcomes aruting of audit settlements are subject to sigaifit uncertainty, the Company’s current
estimate of the total amounts of unrecognized &nelfits could increase or decrease for all opersyea

11. Commitments and Contingencie
Capital Leases

The Company did not purchase equipment under ¢agéses during the year ended December 31, 20281dr. At December 31, 2012
and 2011, assets held under capital leases harbasievalue of $0 and $52,000, respectively, fiecoumulated amortization of $510,000
$458,000, respectively. The present value of thenieimum lease payments as of December 31, 20%Q.is

Operating Leases

The Company leases its office space and certaiipegunt under non-cancelable operating leases waitiows terms through 2017. The
minimum annual rent on the Compasyffice space is subject to increases based tedstantal adjustment terms, property taxes andatipg
costs and contains rent concessions. For finareparting purposes, rent expense is recognizedstraight-line basis over the term of the
lease. Accordingly, rent expense recognized in &xoérent paid is reflected as deferred rent. &@xpense under operating leases in 2012,
2011 and 2010 was $4.5 million, $4.7 million ands®3illion, respectively. The Company’s office spdease contains incentives in the form
of reimbursement from the landlord for a portiortleé costs of leasehold improvements incurred byGbmpany which are recorded to rent
expense on a straight-line basis over the terrhefdase.
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The minimum future lease payments under non-cableetgperating leases as of December 31, 2012 dofl@ss (in thousands):

For the Period Ending December 31 Amount
2013 $ 3,61
2014 3,66¢
2015 2,93(
2016 2,89¢
2017 35€

Total minimum lease paymer $13,46:

Committed Purchase Orders

The Company has entered into purchase commitmetatng approximately $103.3 million with certaiorgdract manufacturers under
which the Company has committed to buy a minimurowmb of designated products between January 20d ®anember 2013. In certain of
these agreements, the Company may be requiredjtira@nd pay for such products up to the presdnbmimum or forecasted purchases.

Management Retention Agreements

During 2004 and 2005, the Company entered into gemant retention agreements with certain of the @my's executive officers. Tt
agreements entitle those employees to enumeratedasee benefits if, within the one year period idimtely following a change of control
(as defined in the agreement) or at the directfeemaacquirer in anticipation of such an event,Gloenpany terminates the employee’s
employment other than for cause or disability @ ¢imployee terminates his or her employment fodgeason. These severance benefits
would include a lump sum payment of three timesstima of the employee’s annual base salary theffiéoteand the applicable targeted annua
bonus, continued employee benefits, acceleratethgesf the employee’s stock incentive awards xaeigualization payment to eliminate the
effects of any applicable excise tax and finangiahning and outplacement services.

In November 2007, the Company entered into an eynpdmit agreement with the Compashief Executive Officer, with an initial ter
of three years. Under the agreement, Mr. Leparuillccentinue to serve as Chairman of the Board asthe Company’s most senior officer.
The agreement entitles Mr. Leparulo to enumeratedrance benefits under various circumstances.ilEparulo’s employment with the
Company is terminated. These enumerated severamediis vary according to whether (a) Mr. Leparsilemployment with the Company is
terminated within the one year period immediatelofving a change in control (as defined in theeggnent) or at the direction of an acquirer
in anticipation of such an event; (b) the Compamninates his employment other than for cause ¢efdmeinates his employment for good
reason; or (c) the Company terminates his employfioercause or he terminates his employment foeiothan good reason. Depending on the
cause of the employment termination, the enumersgedrance benefits include a lump sum paymentrrgrigpm one to three years annual
base salary then in effect, an additional lump boemus payment representing certain multiples ofdrigeted bonus, and varying periods of
ongoing employee benefits including health care @rtglacement services.

During 2010, the Company entered into managemésmntion agreements with certain of the Companyé&caiive officers. The
agreements entitle those employees to enumeratedasee benefits if, within the two year period ietrately following a change of control
(as defined in the agreement), the Company teresniie employee’s employment other than for causiésability or the employee terminates
his or her employment for good reason. These seweraenefits would include a lump sum payment afehimes the sum of the employee’s
annual base salary then in effect and the appkdaloheted annual bonus, continued employee bspafitelerated vesting of the employee’s
stock incentive awards and financial planning aagblacement services. The agreements do not préeidey additional payments by the
Company for excise or other taxes.
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Legal Matters and Indemnification

The Company is, from time to time, party to varitegal proceedings arising in the ordinary courseusiness. For example, the
Company is currently named as a defendant or cerdeint in a number of patent infringement lawsnithe U.S. and is indirectly
participating in other U.S. patent infringementi@t$ pursuant to its contractual indemnificatiofigdtions to certain customers. Based on
evaluation of these matters and discussions with@2my’s intellectual property litigation counsdletCompany believes that liabilities arising
from or sums paid in settlement of these existiragtens would not have a material adverse effedtsoronsolidated results of operations or
financial condition.

On September 15, 2008 and September 18, 2008, utatiye securities class action lawsuits were fitethe United States District Court
for the Southern District of California on behalfpersons who allegedly purchased our stock betwebnuary 5, 2007 and August 19, 2008.
On December 11, 2008, these lawsuits were consetidato a single action entitl&®hcke v. Novatel Wireless, Inc., et,aLase No. 08-CV-
01689-H (RBB) (Consolidated with Case No. 08-CV-D4-H (RBB)) (U.S.D.C., S.D. Cal.). In May 2010, ttlistrict court re-captioned the
caseln re Novatel Wireless Securities Litigatiohe plaintiffs filed the consolidated complaimt behalf of persons who allegedly purchased
our stock between February 27, 2007 and Novembe2A@B. The consolidated complaint names the Cognpad certain of our current and
former officers as defendants. The consolidatedptaimt alleges generally that we issued materialye and misleading statements during th
relevant time period regarding the strength ofpmaducts and market share, our financial resultscam internal controls. The plaintiffs are
seeking an unspecified amount of damages and ddstscourt has denied defendants’ motions to disniisMay 2010, the court entered an
order granting the plaintiffs’ motion for class tication and certified a class of purchasers ofrfpany common stock between February 27,
2007 and September 15, 2008. On February 14, 20ldwing extensive discovery, the Company filethation for summary judgment on all
of plaintiffs’ claims. A trial date had been set fday 10, 2011. On March 15, 2011, the case wassigaed to a new district judge, the
Honorable Anthony J. Battaglia. Following the régisment, the court vacated the trial date pendiegcburt’s consideration of dispositive
motions. Oral argument on the motion for summadgjuent was heard by the court on June 17, 201 Nd&@ember 23, 2011, the court issued
an order granting in part and denying in part tlegiom for summary judgment. On July 9, 2012, thertwacated the pretrial conference date.
On December 14, 2012, the court issued an ordsfirttedefendants’ motion to exclude the testimonylaintiffs’ loss causation expert. The
court set a pretrial conference for March 8, 20d@ a trial date of June 3, 2013. On February 73201 court reconsidered its December 14,
2012 order and granted defendants’ motion to exchidintiffs’ expert on loss causation. The coawever, gave plaintiffs the opportunity to
provide a new report from the expert seeking t@ ¢he deficiencies in the expert’s testimony. Thertprovided a schedule for the cure
process and ordered plaintiffs to bear the burdetefendants’ expenses incurred in this process.cburt also reset the pretrial conference fo
August 22, 2013 and a trial date of November 18320 he Company intends to defend this litigatiggovously. At this time, there can be no
assurance as to the ultimate outcome of this tibgaWe have not recorded any significant accré@sontingent liabilities associated with
this matter based on our belief that a liabilithile possible, is not probable. Further, any pdssitinge of loss cannot be estimated at this-

In the normal course of business, the Company gieadly enters into agreements that require the @ow to indemnify and defend its
customers for, among other things, claims alledfiragg the Company’s products infringe third-partyepds or other intellectual property rights.
The Companys maximum exposure under these indemnificationipi@mvs cannot be estimated but the Company doelsatiet/e that there a
any matters individually or collectively that wothdve a material adverse effect on its financialdition, results of operation or cash flows.

The Company has accrued $645,000 as of Decemb@032,related to our best estimate of potentidleseents on legal and
indemnification matters for which we have deemeatdhtcome to be probable.
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Credit Facility

The Company has a credit facility with a bank fowlmargin borrowings based on the Company’s inmesits in cash equivalents and
marketable securities held with the bank. Thislitads collateralized by the Company’s cash eqglénés and marketable securities held with
the bank. Borrowings under the facility incur atenest rate at the bank’s base rate plus 1%. Targimaccount facility provides the Company
with the flexibility to access cash for short pelsof time and avoids the need to sell marketadatarities for these short-term requirements. A
December 31, 2012, the Company had approximatelyl$aillion in cash equivalents and marketable gées held at this bank, and the
Company’s borrowing limit at December 31, 2012 urttie credit facility was $6.8 million. Any moniésrrowed and interest incurred are
payable on demand, and there is no express expirdéite to the credit facility. During three monémsied September 30, 2011, the Company
borrowed $12.0 million and repaid the entire amaluning the same period. During the three montliedrseptember 30, 2012, the Company
borrowed $5.0 million and repaid the entire amaluring the same period. During three months endezkBber 31, 2012, the Company
borrowed $9.0 million against the facility and rigptne entire amount during the same period. ABetember 31, 2012, the Company had no
outstanding borrowings under the credit facility.

12. Segment Information and Concentrations of Risk
Segment Information

The Company operates in the wireless broadbanaddadpy industry and senior management makes desisibout allocating resources
based on the following reportable segments:

Mobile Computing Products segment—includes our Nifeiducts, USB and PC-card modems and Embedded Idothat enable
data transmission and services via cellular wigetestworks. All products within the segment repnésesingle product family.

M2M Products and Solutions segment was establiahedresult of our acquisition of Enfora in 2020n¢ludes our intelligent
asset-management solutions utilizing cellular veissltechnology, and M2M communication devices,eanbdedded modules that
enable M2M data transmission and services vialegluireless networks.

Segment net revenues and segment operating indoss kepresent the primary financial measures bgestnior management to assess
performance and include the net revenues, costtafewenues, sales and other operating expensesicit management is held accountable.
Segment operating expenses include sales and nmarketsearch and development, general and adnaitigst, and amortization expenses that
are directly related to individual segments. Segmneamings (loss) also includes acquisition-relatests, purchase price amortization,
impairment charges, restructuring and integratinst<

The table below presents net revenues from exteustbmers, operating income (loss) and identiiassets for our reportable segment
(in thousands):

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010
Net revenues
Mobile Computing Product $312,50¢ $358, 10t $332,46:-
M2M Products and Solutior 31,78( 44,75¢ 6,47¢
Total $344,28 $402,86. $338,94.
Operating income (loss,
Mobile Computing Product $(22,929) $(13,769) $(23,02)
M2M Products and Solutior (65,819 (19,967) (1,97%)
Total $(88,74) $(33,72) $(25,000)
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Year Ended December 31

2012 2011
Identifiable assets
Mobile Computing Product $141,04! $181,18(
M2M Products and Solutior 20,48¢ 67,99¢
Total $161,53: $249,17¢

The Company has operations in the United Statesadzg Europe, Latin America and Asia. The followiabgle details the geographic
concentration of the Company’s assets in the UrBtaties, Canada, Europe, Latin America and Asith@nsands):

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011
United States $157,66: $243,03(
Canade 2,83¢ 4,764
Europe, Latin America and As 1,03¢ 1,38¢
$161,53: $249,17¢

The following table details the Company’s concetidraof net revenues by geographic region baseshgpping destination:

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010
United States and Canada 93.1% 93.5% 95.(%
Latin America 2.4 0.C 0.C
Europe, Middle East and Afric 4.1 4.C 4.7
Asia and Australi 0.4 2.5 0.3
100.(% 100.(% 100.(%

Concentrations of Risk

Substantially all of the Company’s net revenuesdaréved from sales of wireless access producty.significant decline in market
acceptance of the Company’s products or in then@iizd condition of the Company’s customers wouldéhan adverse effect on the Company’
results of operations and financial condition.

A significant portion of the Company’s net revengeme from a small number of customers. One custaeounted for 57.5% of 2012
net revenues. Two customers accounted for 50.8%43:id% of 2011 net revenues. Two customers accddotes5.7% and 21.8% of 2010 net
revenues. All significant customers are includethznCompany’s Mobile Computing Products segment.

A significant portion of the Company’s accountsaigables comes from a small number of customer®esember 31, 2012, the
Company had three customers who accounted for 2A8%% and 11.5% of total accounts receivableDéd¢ember 31, 2011, the Company
had two customers who accounted for 46.5% and 19f8#ial accounts receivable.

The Company outsources its manufacturing to seweiralparty manufacturers. If they were to expecie delays, disruptions, capacity
constraints or quality control problems in its miawturing operations, product shipments to the Camyfs customers could be delayed or its
customers could consequently elect to cancel thenlying order, which would negatively impact then@pany’s net revenues and results of
operations.
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13. Retirement Savings Plar

The Company has a defined contribution 401(K) eetient savings plan (the “Plan”). Substantiallyo&llhe Company’s U.S. employees
are eligible to participate in the Plan after magiiertain minimum age and service requirementgl&mwres may make discretionary
contributions to the Plan subject to Internal RexeB8ervice limitations. Employer matching contribog under the plan amounted to
approximately $1.2 million, $1.1 million and $1.0llion for the years ended December 31, 2012, 281d 2010, respectively. Employer
matching contributions vest over a two-year peridte Company has a registered retirement saviragsfpl its Canadian employees.
Substantially all of the Company’s Canadian empésyare eligible to participate in this plan. Emgles make discretionary contributions to
the plan subject to local limitations. Employer trdoutions to the Canadian plan amounted to appnaiely $232,000, $280,000 and $236,00C
for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 an@, 284pectively.

14. Quarterly Financial Information (Unaudited)

The following is a summary of unaudited quartedgults of operations for the years ended Decemhe2(®BL2 and 2011.

2012:

Net revenue

Gross profit

Net loss applicable to common stockholc
Basic and diluted net loss per common sl

2011:

Net revenue

Gross profit

Net loss applicable to common stockholc
Basic and diluted net loss per common sl
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Quarter
First Second Third Fourth
(in thousands, except per share amount:

$100,15( $102,44¢ $ 71,01 $ 70,67t

20,98¢ 23,25! 14,64¢ 13,55¢
(37,92) (4,500 (31,93) (14,919
(1.17) (0.19) (0.97) (0.49)

$ 61,78¢ $118,02: $113,26: $109,79:

5,99¢ 26,18: 26,69 25,72t
(22,08¢) (3,899 4,49¢ (3,409
(0.6 (0.12) 0.1¢ (0.11)
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SCHEDULE Il
NOVATEL WIRELESS, INC.

Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
For the Years Ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2Q{in thousands):

Balance Al Additions Deductions
Charged tc Balance
Beginning From At End
of Year Operations Reserves of Year

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts:
December 31, 201 $ 24t $ 43¢ $ 57 $ 627
December 31, 201 22¢ 41 24 24t
December 31, 201 741 141 654 22¢
Warranty:
December 31, 201 1,52¢ 6,261 5,457 2,32¢
December 31, 201 2,27¢ 2,64: 3,39¢ 1,52¢
December 31, 201 3,03¢ 1,35( 2,11( 2,27¢
Deferred Tax Asset Valuation Allowance:
December 31, 201 36,39 27,48¢ 0 63,88:
December 31, 201 21,78: 14,61: 0 36,39¢
December 31, 201 3,897 22,72¢ 4,83¢ 21,78:
Sales Returns Allowance
December 31, 201 54t 497 131 911
December 31, 201 34¢ 911 712 54t
December 31, 201 305 18¢ 14¢E 34¢

F-35



Table of Contents

EXHIBIT INDEX

The following Exhibits are filed as part of, or orporated by reference into, this Report on ForriK10

Exhibit

Number

2.1

3.1

3.2

3.3

3.4

3.5

3.6

4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

10.1*

10.2*

10.3*

Description

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of Noverap2010, by and between Novatel Wireless, Inc. |&mAcquisition
Corp. and Enfora, Inc. (incorporated by referemcExhibit 2.1 to the Company’s Current Report onnr&-K, filed on
November 10, 2010

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporatinoofporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the @any’s Annual Report
on Form 1K for the year ended December 31, 2000, filed M&th2001)

Certificate of Amendment to Amended and Restatatificate of Incorporation (incorporated by refecerto Exhibit 3.1 to the
Compan’s Quarterly Report on Form -Q for the period ended September 30, 2002, filedeNtber 14, 2002

Certificate of Amendment to Amended and Restatatificate of Incorporation (incorporated by refecerto Exhibit 3.2 to the
Compan’s Amendment No. 1 to Form -K on Form 1i-K/A for the year ended December 31, 2003, filed éhad1, 2004)

Amended and Restated Certificate of DesignatioBesfes A Convertible Preferred Stock (incorpordtgdeference to Exhibit
3.4 to the Company’s Amendment No. 1 to Form 10aKForm 10-K/A for the year ended December 31, 26082 March 31,
2004).

Certificate of Designation of Series B ConvertiBleeferred Stock (incorporated by reference to EkBib to the Company’s
Amendment No. 1 to Form -K on Form 1-K/A for the year ended December 31, 2003, filed dha31, 2004)

Bylaws (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2te Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for tlearyended
December 31, 2000, filed on March 27, 20(

Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreerdated as of June 15, 1999, by and among the Congrahcertain of its
stockholders (incorporated by reference to ExHiBi# to the Company’s Registration Statement omF8+1 (No. 333-42570),
filed July 28, 2000, as amende

Form of Securities Purchase Agreement enterednntonnection with the Company’s 2003 Series B @otible Preferred
Stock Financing (incorporated by reference to ExxHild to the Compar’'s Current Report on Forn-K, filed March 28, 2003

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of March20R3, entered into in connection with the Compa@a903 Series B
Convertible Preferred Stock Financing (incorpordigdeference to Exhibit 4.8 to the Company’s CuirfiReport on Form 8-K,
filed March 28, 2003)

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of Janlidy®004, entered into in connection with the ConyfgmJanuary 2004
Common Stock and Warrant Financing Transactioro(jparated by reference to Exhibit 10.21 to the Canys Annual Repo
on Form 1+K for the year ended December 31, 2003, filed Mdrgh2004)

Amended and Restated 1997 Employee Stock Option(P1897 Plan”) (incorporated by reference to Exhil).1 to the
Compan’s Registration Statement on For-1 (No. 33:-42570), filed July 28, 2000 as amend

Amended and Restated Novatel Wireless, Inc. 2006kSncentive Plan (“2000 Plan”) (incorporated kyerence to Exhibit
10.1 to the Compar's Quarterly Report on Form -Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2007, filed Augug007).

Form of Executive Officer Stock Option Agreementlanthe 2000 Plan (incorporated by reference takiixh0.3 to the
Compan’s Annual Report on Form -K for the year ended December 31, 2005, filed Mag¢h2006)
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Exhibit

Number

10.4*

10.5*

10.6*

10.7*

10.8*

10.9*

10.10*

10.11*

10.12*

10.13*

10.14*

10.15*

10.16*

10.17

10.18

21**
23.1*

Description

Form of Director Stock Option Agreement under tB@@Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 16.the Company’s
Annual Report on Form -K for the year ended December 31, 2005, filed Mdrgh2006)

Form of Amendment of Stock Option Agreements, ddtdg 20, 2006, by and between the Company anco@gsi with respect
to the 1997 Plan (incorporated by reference to l&hD.2 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on FAGA) for the period ende
September 30, 2006, filed November 9, 20

Form of Amendment of Stock Option Agreements, ddtdg 20, 2006, by and between the Company anco@gi with respect
to the 2000 Plan (incorporated by reference to l&hiD.3 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on FAGA) for the period ende
September 30, 2006, filed November 9, 20

Form of Amendment of Stock Option Agreements, ddtdg 20, 2006, by and between the Company anco@gsi with respect
to the 2000 Plan and grants made pursuant theretd04 and subsequently (incorporated by refereméshibit 10.4 to the
Compan’s Quarterly Report on Form -Q for the period ended September 30, 2006, filedeNder 9, 2006

Amended and Restated Novatel Wireless, Inc. 200pI&we Stock Purchase Plan (incorporated by referemAppendix A to
the Compan’s Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filed May 2 2C

Form of Restricted Share Award Agreement for retetd stock granted to non-employee directors (jm@@ted by reference to
Exhibit 10.10 to the Compa’s Quarterly Report on Form -Q for the period ended June 30, 2006, filed Au§u&006).

Form of Restricted Share Award Agreement for rettd stock granted to executive officers (incorpeateby reference to Exhil
10.11 to the Compar's Quarterly Report on Form -Q for the period ended June 30, 2006, filed Au§u&006).

Form of Indemnification Agreement by and betwean@ompany and each of its executive officers anectbrs (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s QerytReport on Form 10-Q for the period ended Septr 30, 2009, filed
November 2, 2009

Form of Change of Control Letter Agreement by astiMeen the Company and certain of its executiviear (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quayt®&port on Form 10-Q for the period ended Jun&804, filed August 16,
2004).

Employment Agreement, dated November 2, 2007, ybetween Peter V. Leparulo and the Company (irratpd by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s QuaytB&port on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended Septerd®d, 2007, filed
November 9, 2007

2009 Omnibus Incentive Compensation Plan (incomedray reference to Appendix B to the Company’sxi?f8tatement on
Schedule 14A, filed May 2, 2011

2010 Senior Management Incentive Plan (incorporbjedeference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s €ntReport on Form 8-
K, filed September 13, 201(

Form of Severance Agreement between Novatel Wieles. and each of Kenneth G. Leddon and Roberiadiley
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to tlerpanys Current Report on Forn-K, filed August 2, 201C

2011 Senior Management Incentive Plan (incorporbyeakference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s @aeréy Report on
Form 1(-Q for the period ended June 30, 2011, filed on At§u2011)

2012 Senior Management Incentive Plan (incorporbyedeference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s €ntReport on Form 8-
K, filed July 6, 2012)

Subsidiaries of Novatel Wireless, Ir
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accourking.
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Exhibit
Number Description

24 Power of Attorney (See signature pag

31.1** Certification of our Principal Executive Officer ggted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sark-Oxley Act of 2002

31.2** Certification of our Principal Financial Officer apted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sark-Oxley Act of 2002

32.1** Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursudo 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursoa®éttion 906 of the
Sarbane-Oxley Act of 2002

32.2** Certification of Principal Financial Officer purquao 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursoabécttion 906 of the
Sarbane-Oxley Act of 2002

101 The following financial statements and footnotesifrthe Novatel Wireless, Inc. Annual Report on FA0¥K for the year ended

December 31, 2012 formatted in eXtensible Busifegsorting Language (XBRL): (i) Consolidated BalaSteets;

(ii) Consolidated Statements of Operations; (i@nSolidated Statements of Comprehensive IncomesjL8) Consolidated
Statements of Stockholders’ Equity; (v) Consolida®atements of Cash Flows; and (vi) the NotesaiesGlidated Financial
Statements

* Management contract, compensatory plan, or arraage
**  Filed herewitr



List of Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries of
Novatel Wireless, Inc.

Novatel Wireless Technologies, L
Enfora, Inc.
Novatel Wireless Solutions, In

State or Other Jurisdiction of
Incorporation or Organization

Alberta, Canad
Delaware
Delaware

Exhibit 21

Name Under Which
Subsidiary Does Busines

Novatel Wireless Technologies, Lt
Enfora, Inc.
Novatel Wireless Solutions, In



Exhibit 23.1
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm

We consent to the incorporation by reference irféHewing Registration Statements:

1) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-1764@0aining to the Amended and Restated 2000 Erepl&tock Purchase
Plan;

2) Registration Statement (Forn-8 No. 33:-176489) pertaining to the 2009 Omnibus Incentiven@ensation Plar
3) Registration Statement (Forn-8 No. 33:-163033) pertaining to the 2009 Omnibus Incentiven@ensation Plar
4) Registration Statement (Forn-8 No. 33:-163032) pertaining to 2000 Employee Stock Purckéze;

5) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-1454&2)ining to 2000 Stock Incentive Plan and 200(pByee Stock
Purchase Plar

6) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-53@@2)aining to 2000 Stock Incentive Plan, 2000 EmpgéoStock Purchase
Plan and 1997 Stock Incentive Pl

7) Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 333-162@2@)related prospectus pertaining to the registraif $125,000,000 of
debt securities, common stock, preferred stocksaiiition rights, depositary shares, warrants, fpase contracts and uni

of our reports dated March 1, 2013, with respethéoconsolidated financial statements and schexful®vatel Wireless, Inc., and the
effectiveness of internal control over financigdoeting of Novatel Wireless, Inc. included in tlisnual Report (Form 1&) for the year ende
December 31, 2012.

/sl Ernst & Young LLI

San Diego, California
March 1, 2013



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) adopted pursuant to Seéoh 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, Peter Leparulo, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 16fKlovatel Wireless, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notador@ny untrue statement of a material fact or donfttate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amngtfe@ periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer andrke responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%(nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15
(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(&) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresiused such disclosure controls and procedures tesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, pattidy during the period in which this report isifge prepared

(b)  Designed such internal control over financial réipgr, or caused such internal control over finahi@gorting to be designe
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repodgiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in ataace with generally accepted accounting princiy

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registradisslosure controls and procedures and presentgilsi report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contintsprocedures, as of the end of the period cousyeldis report based on
such evaluation; an

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thegggnt’s internal control over financial reportititat occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regigts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an aimaport) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaft, the registra’s internal control over financial reporting; &

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer anddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiorernal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

€) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cbotrer financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectrdgistrant’s ability to record, process, summaaizd report financial
information; anc

(b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the
registran’s internal control over financial reportir

Date: March 1, 2013

/s/  PETERL EPARULO
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer




Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) adopted pursuant to Seéoh 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, Kenneth Leddon, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 16fKlovatel Wireless, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notador@ny untrue statement of a material fact or déonfttate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememid,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amngtfe@ periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer andrke responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}%(nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15
(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(&) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresiused such disclosure controls and procedures tesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, pattidy during the period in which this report isifge prepared

(b)  Designed such internal control over financial réipgr, or caused such internal control over finahi@gorting to be designe
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repodgiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in ataace with generally accepted accounting princiy

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registradisslosure controls and procedures and presentgilsi report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contintsprocedures, as of the end of the period cousyeldis report based on
such evaluation; an

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thegggnt’s internal control over financial reportititat occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regigts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an aimaport) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaft, the registra’s internal control over financial reporting; &

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer anddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiorernal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

€) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cbotrer financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectrdgistrant’s ability to record, process, summaaizd report financial
information; anc

(b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the
registran’s internal control over financial reportir

Date: March 1, 2013

/s/  KENNETHL EDDON
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officel




Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATIONS

In connection of this Annual report on Form 10-KNidvatel Wireless, Inc. (the “Company”) for the yeaded December 31, 2012, as
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissioithe date hereof (the “Report”), Peter Leparuleai@nan and Chief Executive Officer of
the Company, hereby certifies pursuant to the requént set forth in Rule 13a-14(b) of the Secwgii&change Act of 1934, as amended (the
“Exchange Act”), and Section 1350 of Chapter 63itie 18 of the United States Code (18 U.S.C. ®acti350) that, to the best of his
knowledge:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly mets, in all material respects, the financial cbodiand the results of operations of
the Company.

Date: March 1, 201

/s/ PETERL EPARULO

Peter Leparulo
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer




Exhibit 32.2
CERTIFICATIONS

In connection of this Annual report on Form 10-KNidvatel Wireless, Inc. (the “Company”) for the yeaded December 31, 2012, as
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissiothe date hereof (the “Report”), Kenneth Leddami6r Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer of the Company, hereby certifiggsuant to the requirement set forth in Rule 18@)Lof the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), and Sedtd&s® of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United Sta@esle (18 U.S.C. Section 1350) that, to
the best of his knowledge:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly mets, in all material respects, the financial cbodiand the results of operations of
the Company.

Date: March 1, 201

/'s/ KENNETHL EDDON
Kenneth Leddon
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officel




